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oF MeDIGene aG 

In € K 2013 2012 CHanGe 

inCOMe STATeMenT

revenue Veregen® 4,209 3,384 24%
thereof royalties 2,585 1,878 38% 
thereof revenue from supply chain 1,326 896 48% 
thereof milestone payments 298 610 -51% 

other operating income 3,383 2,900 17% 
Total revenue 7,592 6,284 21% 
Cost of sales -1,735 -1,250 39% 
Gross profit 5,857 5,034 16%
Selling, general and administrative expenses -8,273 -7,909 5%
research and development expenses -6,605 -7,399 -11%
other expenses 0 -6,166 –
operating result -9,021 -16,440 -45%
Income from revaluation of an investment 0 2,220 –
result from continued operations -10,282 -14,877 -31%
result from discontinued operations 0 5,018 –
net result for the year -10,282 -9,859 4%
net result for the year from continued operations -10,282 -14,877 -31%
eBItDa -8,270 -4,409 88%
eBiTdA from continued operations -8,270 -9,427 -12%

Basic and diluted earnings per share in €2) -1.07 -1,06 0%
personnel expenses -5,493 -5,818 -6%

CASH FLOW STATeMenT

Cash flow from operating activities -12,246 -6,507 88%
Cash flow from investing activities -142 -255 -44%
Cash flow from financing activities 2,378 14,094 -83% 

BALAnCe SHeeT STATeMenT

Cash and cash equivalents 10,166 20,113 -49% 
Balance sheet total 52,655 61,255 -14% 
Current liabilities 5,092 4,317 18% 
non-current liabilities 11,287 12,771 -12% 
Shareholders’ equity 36,276 44,167 -18% 
equity ratio in % 69 72 -4% 

employees as at 31 Dec 51 53 -4% 
Fte as at 31 Dec 48 49 -2% 

Medigene SHARe

total number of shares outstanding as at 31 Dec1) 9,872,139 9,270,690 6% 
Share price (closing price, Xetra) as at 31 Dec in €2) 3.50 4.00 -13% 
Dividend in € 0 0 –
1) Following capital reduction in 2013, the total number of shares outstanding in the previous year was retroactively reduced in the ratio of 4:1.
2) Following capital reduction in 2013, the earnings per share and the share price in the previous year were retroactively multiplied by 4.

KeY FigUReS



TRANSFORMATION The acquisition and integration of innovative minds and pioneering technolo-
gies are boosting Medigene. Substantial changes are taking place at Medigene which will affect 
the pipeline, the research focus, (human) resources, the structure and management. Medigene is 
expanding its expertise, strengthening the product pipeline and positioning itself for becoming 
a leader in cancer immunotherapy. In this way, the innovative strength of the company is making 
Medigene sustainable and viable for the future.
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4 IntervIew wIth the executIve Board

INTERvIEw wITH THE ExEcUTIvE BOARd

Dr. Frank Mathias, Chief Executive Officer of Medigene AG, Peter Llewellyn-Davies, Chief Financial Officer, and 
Prof. Dolores Schendel, incoming Chief Scientific Officer, discuss the future development of Medigene AG and 
provide an outlook on the further course the biotech company is pursuing.

The 2013 annual report is entitled »Transformation«.  
why did you choose this title?

DR. FRANk MAThIAS: Transformation for Medigene means the company’s 
further development with a new perspective and impetus – in  strategic, 
personnel and technological terms. The takeover of Trianta Immuno-
therapies Gmbh at the end of January 2014 has given us access to the 
promising field of immunotherapies. This acquisition has brought with 
it world-class science and three innovative immuno therapy platforms 
which strengthen our own advanced product pipeline. Together with 
the new research team led by Professor Schendel, who is intended to 
join the Executive Board as Chief Scientific Officer, it further increases 
our expertise in oncology and immunology. Essentially, we are estab-
lishing the basis for sustainable growth.

PETER LLEwELLyN-DAvIES: Medigene has consequently implemented its 
corporate strategy in recent years, one step at a time. After optimis-
ing the cost structure and improving the company’s financial strength 
by selling Eligard® and concluding important partnership agreements 
– for example with  SynCore for  EndoTAG®-1 –  Medigene found itself in 
a strong position to identify innovative projects and programmes that 
will bolster the pipeline. In Trianta, we identified a very promising com-
pany to acquire. The first programmes from its platforms are already 
being clinically evaluated. In many ways, this acquisition of Trianta has 
defined our future direction and is truly transformative for Medigene.

what is Medigene’s vision and what will the company be focusing on in 
the coming years?

DR. FRANk MAThIAS: Our vision remains the research and  development 
of innovative drugs to treat cancer and autoimmune diseases, 
because we want to provide better treatment methods for people 

with serious diseases. we will use the immunotherapy platforms 
to develop new treatments in a scientifically innovative field. Such 
therapies have the potential to treat cancer successfully and long-
term. Our DC  vaccines have already shown promising results in 
 compassionate use. That means the use of not yet approved drugs 
which are prescribed by physicians to patients for whom no alterna-
tive treatment options exist. Patients who were given a very poor 
survival prognosis are still alive thanks to these new and person-
alised approaches. In the coming years, we will be working very hard 
to ensure the targeted development of these three platforms. Our 
aim is to be a leader in immunotherapies. This kind of innovation and 
a focused use of our resources will create sustainable value, which 
will primarily benefit patients but also our shareholders. All of this 
 motivates us.

what did you achieve in 2013? 

PETER LLEwELLyN-DAvIES: In 2013, we consistently prepared and imple-
mented measures which has changed  Medigene for the better and 
has advanced our progress.  Medigene’s cost structure was further 
optimised. A key event in this respect was, without a doubt, the exclu-
sive global partnership for  EndoTAG®-1 with our Taiwanese partner 
 SynCore. This partnership has enabled the further development of 
the product candidate, taking it into phase III.  SynCore has agreed to 
bear all the costs arising in connection with the clinical development in 
return for the global rights to  EndoTAG®-1. By fully financing the trial, 
 SynCore has minimised our financing risk. As part of the agreement, 
Medigene received an upfront payment from  SynCore and is eligible 
to payments upon certain development and approval milestones. 
Revenue will also be generated from royalties after market approval 
of  EndoTAG®-1. SynCore’s strategic investment also means that we 
gained a core investor in 2013.
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DR. FRANk MAThIAS:  veregen®, our marketed drug, also developed posi-
tively last year. we signed new partnership agreements and  veregen® 
was approved by additional national authorities, for example in  Canada. 
The ointment was also introduced in some European markets and in  
Taiwan. The launch of veregen® in these countries impacted positively 
on our turnover for the financial year. 

PETER LLEwELLyN-DAvIES: Another important step was the reduction of 
Medigene’s share capital by consolidating our shares at a ratio of 4:1. 
This capital measure was resolved by a large majority of our share-
holders at the Annual General Meeting in 2013. It further strength-
ened the company’s ability to take strategic action. At the same time, 
it also raised our visibility in the capital markets. In addition, the reso-
lution regarding the reduced number of Supervisory Board members 
resulted in cost savings. 

DR. FRANk MAThIAS: Finally, we also prepared two major transactions in 
the course of 2013. One was the takeover of  Trianta Immunotherapies 
and the other was the partnership agreement for  RhuDex® concluded 
with Falk Pharma, which will facilitate the further development of this 
drug candidate in the field of autoimmune diseases. 

with Trianta, Medigene gained new technologies. what is the next step 
for this acquired company?

DR. FRANk MAThIAS: Together with Professor Schendel and her team of 
immunotherapy experts, we began very quickly with the company’s 
gradual integration. Not all of the Trianta team is transferring to 
Medigene immediately, the employees will join us in stages. The first 
employees started to work at Medigene in February 2014, their col-
leagues will be joining them over the coming months. The two ongoing 
clinical investigator initiated trials for the DC vaccines at the univer-
sity hospitals of Munich and Oslo will be continued. 

PROF. DOLORES J. SChENDEL: Compassionate use of the DC  vaccines will 
also continue in a clinical environment. we are observing very prom-
ising data in patients for whom no other treatment options remain. 
It is our aim to expand our clinical development programme for the 
DC vaccines as quickly as possible. we plan to start a further clinical 
trial as early as this year. we are also driving forward the preclinical 
development of our second platform, the T cell receptor-modified 

T cells , and are continuing the development of a GMP-compliant 
manufacturing process. Besides this, we are in contact with the regu-
latory authorities to ensure quick use of this therapeutic approach in 
patients. In addition, we are proceeding with the preclinical develop-
ment of our TABs platform. 

what will happen with the existing portfolio, i.e., veregen®,  
EndoTAG®-1, Rhudex® and AAvlP?

DR. FRANk MAThIAS: we will continue to advance our existing  portfolio 
together with the respective partners. For veregen®, we anticipate 
that the drug will be launched in further markets during 2014, espe-
cially in Europe. For a further seven to nine European countries within 
the mutual recognition procedure, we will start submitting the rel-
e vant applications for market approval this year. we also intend to 
expand our international sales network further, via partner compa-
nies.  SynCore plans to start the phase III trial of product candidate 
 EndoTAG®-1 in triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) end of 2014. The 
further  clinical development of RhuDex® for treating the autoimmune 
disease primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC) will be continued by our new 
partner Falk Pharma, a renowned specialist in the field. Preclinical 
studies are being carried out for AAvLP, and the technology is being 
developed for licensing and partnerships. 

Is Medigene financially equipped to take the company’s development in 
the direction of immunotherapies?

PETER LLEwELLyN-DAvIES: Conditions are good. we succeeded in estab-
lishing partnerships for our advanced product candidates, EndoTAG®-1 

» Medigene is on the right track,  financially 
and strategically. The acquisition of T rianta, 
a reasonable investment, ensures long-term 
prospects for Medigene.«
dr. Frank MathIas
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and RhuDex®. Both our partners, SynCore and Falk Pharma, agreed 
to bear all costs arising for the further clinical development of the 
two projects. we will benefit from the two externally financed IITs 
for DC vaccines in leukaemia and prostate cancer and plan to pursue 
clinical development of these vaccines ourselves. Our cash balance 
of €10 million provides a basis for conducting additional development 
steps for the TCRs and TABs. Our attractive pipeline offers us inter-
esting partnership and funding opportunities. 

In May 2014, Professor dolores Schendel, Managing director of Trianta, 
will join the Executive Board as cSO. Professor Schendel, what made 
you want to work with Medigene?

PROF. DOLORES J. SChENDEL: Medigene is an established biotech com-
pany with many years of experience in preclinical and clinical devel-
opment, manufacturing and contact with the authorities, as well as in 
patents and the commercialisation of product candidates. At Trianta, 
after many years of successful research within the helmholtz  Centre, 
we had reached a point where we were keen to see our research 
results move to the next stage, i.e., into clinical development. This is 
why we decided to embark on a partnership with a biotech company. 
with Medigene we felt that our expertise would make a contribution 
and we would be able to achieve a lot together. Equally, we will also 
benefit from the company’s know-how. At Medigene, we also have the 
great advantage of access to fully equipped, comprehensive labora-
tory facilities. So we avoid having to first set up the structural pre-
requisites for our day-to-day work. Finally, the geographical proximity 
of Medigene’s head office to the helmholtz Centre was another factor 
in our decision along with the human feel-good factor. 

How satisfied are you with the figures for the financial year 2013? 

PETER LLEwELLyN-DAvIES: The 2013 financial year reflects a  significant 
rise in revenue and better results. Our total revenue was up by 21% 
to €7.6 m. This is a significant increase even if we originally expected 
slightly more and a small share of the projected turnover from  veregen® 
and from cost reimbursements for EndoTAG®-1 were deferred to 2014. 
Nonetheless, in-market sales of veregen® rose by a remarkable 38%. 
Our EBITDA-based loss was reduced to €8.3 m compared to an EBITDA 
loss from continued operations totalling €9.4 in 2012. Net loss for 
the year from continued operations decreased by 31%. we intend to 
continue this positive trend in the coming years. 

DR. FRANk MAThIAS: Medigene is on the right track, financially and stra-
tegically. Step by step, we are achieving our goals. The acquisition of 
Trianta, a reasonable investment, ensures long-term prospects for 
Medigene. Trianta’s proprietary platforms have expanded  Medigene’s 
advanced drug pipeline to include the latest therapeutic approaches. 
This should also have an impact on our share performance. we look 
forward to the financial year ahead.

»   It is our aim to expand the clinical develop-
ment programme of our immunotherapies 
as quickly as possible and plan to start a 
further clinical trial as early as this year. «
ProF. dolores J. schendel

» we consistently implemented measures 
which have changed Medigene for the  
better and have advanced our progress.  
we are proud of our closed partnership 
agreements and the 2013 financial year 
reflects a significant rise in turnover and 
improved results.«
Peter llewellyn-davIes
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dr. Frank MathIas
Chief Executive Officer

Dr. Frank Mathias has been Chief Executive Officer 
of Medigene AG since May 2009. Since April 2008, 
he had been Chief Operating  Officer. Dr. Mathias, 
previously General Manager of Amgen Germany, 
possesses over twenty years of relevant experi-
ence in the pharmaceutical and biotech industries. 
Dr. Mathias holds a PhD in pharmacy and worked for 
hoechst and Albert-Roussel, among other compa-
nies, prior to assuming the head of Marketing posi-
tion at Servier Deutschland Gmbh in Munich where 
he took over as General Manager in 1996. In 2002, he 
joined Amgen Gmbh, Munich, as head of Marketing. 
he then served as the company’s General Manager 
from 2003 to 2008.

ProF. dolores J. schendel
Chief Scientific Officer (starting 1 May 2014)

Prof. Dolores J. Schendel, Managing Director of 
 Trianta Immunotherapies Gmbh, has been Director 
of the Institute of Molecular Immunology of German 
Research Center for Environmental health since 
1998 and holds a professorship in immunology at 
the Ludwig  Maximilians university of Munich. her 
research focuses on human immunology and immu-
notherapy. Prof. Schendel has served as a Member  
of the  German Cancer Aid Grants Review Panel 
and as Chair of a Life Science Study Panel of the 
 European Research Council.

Peter llewellyn-davIes
Chief Financial Officer  

Peter Llewellyn-Davies was appointed as Chief 
Financial Officer and Member of the Executive Board 
of Medigene AG with effect from 1 October 2012. 
he has over 25 years of experience in senior posi-
tions in medium-sized companies in the commercial 
as well as the financial sector, most recently from 
2006 to 2012 as Chief Financial  Officer and Member 
of the Executive Board of wILEX AG, Munich. Prior 
to this, he was Managing Director of Müller Dairy (uk) 
and Executive Finance Director at Süd-Chemie AG. 
Mr. Llewellyn-Davies read business management, 
banking, marketing and controlling in London, 
 St.  Gallen and Munich, and has a certificate in busi-
ness studies from the university of London.

ManageMant

MANAGEMENT
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T … AS IN TRANSAcTIONS

dEAlS clOSEd. Over the past few months, three events fundamentally changed Medigene.  
In May 2013, Medigene entered into a global partnership with SynCore for EndoTAG®-1. SynCore will bear 

the full clinical development costs for EndoTAG®-1 for the treatment of triple-negative breast cancer, 
which will secure the financing of the planned phase III clinical trial. A partnership agreement with  

Falk  Pharma for the clinical development of RhuDex® was concluded in 2014. And Medigene went one 
better: The acquisition of Trianta Immunotherapies substantially boosts Medigene’s drug pipeline. It will 

ensure the continuous supply of competitive innovations, and paves the way for  
a sustainable future.
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HIGH POTENTIAl dRUG PROjEcTS. Medigene has one drug on the market, veregen®, 
and several drug projects in different stages of development. The clinical drug candidates  EndoTAG®-1 

and RhuDex® are in development for the treatment of cancer and  autoimmune diseases. Three new 
immunotherapy platforms recently acquired, providing cutting-edge therapies with programs in clinical 

and preclinical development to treat various types of tumour, will complement Medigene’s advanced 
drug pipeline. By focusing on these approaches in immunotherapy, Medigene  creates positive long-term 
prospects. According to expert estimates, in ten years’ time more than 60% of all types of cancer will be 

treated on the basis of immunotherapy. The total market for these therapies may then amount 
to uS$ 35 billion – for drugs which facilitate improved treatment options 

for seriously ill patients. 

T … AS IN THERAPEUTIc APPROAcHES
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TEcHNOlOGIES FOR THE FUTURE.  T cells are white blood cells in the immune system which  
fight diseases. These »killer cells«, which are produced naturally in the body, have the task of identifying 

and combating pathogens. however, T cells often fail to recognise cancer cells. Medigene’s newly  
acquired immunotherapies activate, prepare and »train« the patient’s own T cells to target and destroy 

tumours. Conversely, any unwanted T cells, as in autoimmune diseases, can also be identified and  
removed. These T cell focused therapeutic approaches are at the forefront of immunotherapy, which is 
considered to be the future in the treatment of cancer and other diseases. Immunotherapy specifically 

strengthens the patient’s immune system, utilizing the body’s own defence mechanisms.  

T … AS IN T cEllS
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T … AS IN TEAMwORk

jOINING FORcES. The future of an innovative company is shaped by its employees. It is  
their expertise and skills when it comes to combining facts, developing ideas, and realizing concepts 
that create tomorrow’s solutions. Medigene is currently incorporating the Trianta Immunotherapies  
team of experts into its established operational structure of a biopharmaceutical company and has 

 gained internationally renowned immunologist Prof. Dolores J. Schendel as Chief Scientific Officer for the 
company’s Executive Board. Dedicated teamwork and the synergy of research expertise and  

development experience build Medigene’s power of innovation.
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FINANcIAl RESUlTS IMPROvEd. Over the years, Medigene has consistently implemented 
its strategy of expanding its pipeline, increasing its financial strength and improving the cost structure. 

In 2013, Medigene achieved a 21% increase in revenue and reduced its loss from continued 
operations by 31%. For 2014 we expect a further improvement on our financials, which will facilitate the 

development of our enhanced pipeline and will enable the company to focus on the next strategic steps. 

T … AS IN TRENd
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Pre-clInIcIndIcatIon clInIcal Phase IMarketed drugs

drug candIdates

chance oF reachIng  
the Market 1)

1) Industrial average,  
estimates of Medigene AG

< 10% < 15%

PIPElINE

veregen® genital warts

EndoTAG®-1
Pancreatic cancer

triple-negative breast cancer

RhuDex® autoimmune diseases

DC vaccines
Prostate cancer

TCR cancer

AAvLP vaccine candidates

TABS leukaemia and 
autoimmune diseases

aMl
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clInIcal Phase II clInIcal Phase III aPProval Market

< 30% < 70% < 90%
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Approval has been granted within the European union in the course 
of 2012 and 2013 for all countries under the Mutual Recognition pro-
cedure applied for at the end of 2011. 

Outside the European union, veregen® has received approval for 
Israel and for Canada in 2013. Additionally, market authorisation 
applications have been submitted by partner companies in Mexico 
and Turkey. These applications are currently being evaluated by the 
approval authorities.

Outlook

Medigene anticipates that veregen® will be launched in several more 
countries, especially in Europe in 2014, and that more partnerships will 
be formed for international marketing. There are plans for approval 
applications in 2014 for further seven to nine  European countries cov-
ered by the Mutual Recognition procedure. 

Products

veregen® for the treatment of genital warts

veregen® is an ointment for the treatment of external genital 
warts. veregen® is now on the market in ten countries; marketed 
by  Medigene’s partners in the uSA, Germany, Austria,  Switzerland, 
Spain, the Netherlands, Norway, Sweden, Serbia and Taiwan. 
 veregen® has been granted market approval for a number of addi-
tional countries (see page 34). Sales and marketing partnerships 
are also in place for this drug in a large number of other countries 
in Europe, Asia and America (see page 34). The sales generated by 
veregen® are continually rising, and make an important contribution  
to financing the Company.

The first-in-class topical drug for the treatment of genital warts, 
veregen® is based on a defined extract from green tea leaves pro-
duced in a highly complex and specifically developed process.

Medigene in-licensed the basic rights to the active ingredient of 
veregen® in 1999, and then completed the clinical development of 
veregen®. Subsequently, Medigene successfully obtained a market-
ing authorization by the approval process of the uS Food and Drug 
Administration (FDA). veregen® was the first, and is one of a very 
small number of innovative botanical drugs approved by the FDA. 
Furthermore, Medigene is the first German biotech company to have  
a drug on the uS market. 

veregen® is also listed in recognized treatment guidelines. The uS 
Center for Disease Control and Prevention recommends Sinecate-
chins 15% ointment (veregen®) in its current treatment guidelines for 
sexually transmitted diseases as a possible option for treating geni-
tal warts. In addition, the »2012 European Guideline for the Manage-
ment of Anogenital warts« includes Sinecatechins 10% and 15% oint-
ment (veregen®) for the treatment of genital warts.

vEREGEN®

cHANGES IN A wART INdUcEd By vEREGEN®

human papillomaviruses (hPv) infection of skin cells induces warts formation
veregen® penetrates the skin, acts directly on infected cells, and unfolds its 
presumed immune-modulatory and antiviral effect 
Messengers (cytokines, interferons) are released 
Cells of the immune system invade and destroy infected cells

1) 2)

PRODuCT INDICATION PRE-CLINIC CLINICAL 
PhASE I

CLINICAL 
PhASE II

CLINICAL 
PhASE III

APPROvAL MARkET

veregen® genital warts
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EndoTAG®-1 to inhibit tumour growth

The clinical drug candidate EndoTAG®-1 is an innovative composition 
of the established cytostatic drug paclitaxel combined with neutral 
and positive lipids. Due to the positively charged lipids, EndoTAG®-1 
interacts with newly developing, negatively charged endothelial 
cells, which are especially required for the growth of tumour blood 
vessels. The EndoTAG®-1 paclitaxel component attacks the activated 
endothelial cells as they divide, thus targeting the blood supply to 
tumours without affecting endothelial cells of healthy tissue. By 
doing this, EndoTAG®-1 is expected to prevent the formation of new 
tumour blood vessels and to inhibit tumour growth. Medigene pre-
sumes that the genetic stability of endothelial cells as compared to 
tumour cells will permit the use of EndoTAG®-1 in the targeted treat-
ment of those tumours that have already developed a resistance to 
conventional paclitaxel therapy.

Medigene has successfully demonstrated clinical efficacy of 
 EndoTAG®-1 in two clinical trials. A controlled phase II clinical trial 
in pancreatic cancer showed significantly increased survival rates 
for those patients treated with a combination of EndoTAG®-1 and 
gemcitabine. A phase II clinical trial in triple negative breast cancer 
(TNBC) also showed a positive efficacy trend for EndoTAG®-1 combi-
nation therapy. 

In 2012, the principal investigator of the TNBC trial, Prof. Dr. Ahmad 
Awada from the Institut Jules Bordet in Brussels, Belgium, success-
fully conducted an exploratory IIT (investigator initiated trial) in 
early stage hER2-negative breast cancer patients in a neoadjuvant 
setting, which is an additional potential indication for EndoTAG®-1. 
The best results were observed in the case of TNBC patients (six of 
15 patients). The results of the IIT trial support further development  
of EndoTAG®-1 in the indication breast cancer TNBC.

At the end of May 2013, Medigene announced the conclusion of 
a global development and marketing partnership agreement for 
 EndoTAG®-1 with its existing cooperation partner SynCore  
Biotechnology Co., Ltd. 

 ENdOTAG®-1

Outlook

SynCore is planning a pivotal international phase III trial of 
 EndoTAG®-1 with Medigene in TNBC, with the aim to achieve market 
approvals worldwide. As part of the global development and market-
ing partnership, SynCore has undertaken to finance the phase III trial 
in full. SynCore is planning to start this trial at the end of 2014.

PRODuCT INDICATION PRE-CLINIC CLINICAL 
PhASE I

CLINICAL 
PhASE II

CLINICAL 
PhASE III

APPROvAL MARkET

endotag®-1 Pancreatic cancer

tnBc 1)

1)  TNBC: triple-negative breast cancer

ENdOTAG®-1 ATTAckING TUMOUR-AcTIvATEd ENdOTHElIAl cEllS

Tumour cells 
Tumour releases signals inducing growth of new blood vessels 
Endothelial cells divide, the blood vessel grows towards tumour
EndoTAG® attacks the activated dividing endothelial cells, preventing formation of new 
blood vessels. In this way, blood supply to the tumour is interrupted

Blood Vessels Blood Vessels

Blood Vessels Blood Vessels
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Outlook 

After the signing of a licence agreement for RhuDex® in March 2014, 
Falk Pharma is preparing the clinical development of the drug candidate 
in the indication primary biliary cirrhosis. 

Rhudex® – oral agent for the treatment of autoimmune 
diseases

RhuDex® is being developed by Medigene as a first-in-class modify-
ing agent for the oral treatment of autoimmune diseases. 

Autoimmune diseases are characterized by the inappropriate activa-
tion of immune reactions against autologous tissue. Activation and 
proliferation of such auto-reactive T cells and the resultant release 
of inflammatory mediators plays a major role in the pathogenesis 
and course of auto-immune diseases. Pivotal in this process is the 
interaction of the CD28 protein receptor on the surface of T cells 
with the CD80 protein on the surface of other immune cells.  RhuDex® 
has the ability to bind to CD80, thus preventing interaction with 
CD28. By doing so, an important signalling pathway of T cell activa-
tion is blocked. 

The safety and tolerability of RhuDex® has been demonstrated in a 
number of phase I clinical trials. In the indication rheumatoid arthri-
tis Medigene successfully concluded a phase IIa pilot trial. In 2013 
Medigene prepared the clinical development of RhuDex® in the indica-
tion primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC). In March 2014, it signed a licence 
agreement with the pharmaceutical company Dr. Falk Pharma Gmbh, 
Freiburg, for the development and marketing rights to  RhuDex® in the 
indications hepatology and gastroenterology. Falk Pharma will assume 
responsibility and all costs relating to the clinical development and 
marketing of RhuDex® in these therapeutic areas. Medigene retains 
the rights for RhuDex® in rheumatoid arthritis,  psoriasis and other 
autoimmune diseases. 

RHUdEx®

PRODuCT INDIkATION PRE-CLINIC CLINICAL 
PhASE I

CLINICAL 
PhASE II

CLINICAL 
PhASE III

APPROvAL MARkET

rhudex® autoimmune diseases

1) 2)

RHUdEx® INHIBITS AUTOIMMUNE MEdIATEd INFlAMMATION PROcESSES

T cell activation by certain immune cells is an important process in the onset of tissue 
destruction in autoimmune diseases
1)  T cell activation requires interaction between the surface proteins CD80 and CD28 
2)  RhuDex®              prevents the interaction between CD80 and CD28, therefore acting as an 

anti-inflammatory agent

T-Zelle

Immunzelle

T-Zelle

Immunzelle
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AAvlP – prophylactic and therapeutic vaccines 

Adeno-associated virus-like particles (AAvLP) offer potential as 
prophylactic and therapeutic vaccines, for example, against cancer 
and infections. The idea of using adeno-associated viruses (AAv) as 
 vaccine carriers was developed in Medigene’s laboratories. The adeno-
associated virus is non-pathogenic, i.e., it does not cause any disease. 
The virus protein shell, the capsid, is suited for the production of so-
called virus-like particles (vLP), which can be used as a basis for novel 
 vaccines. By inserting short antigenic peptides (B-cell epitopes) into 
the AAv capsid, a highly specific antibody reaction against selected 
target molecules can be induced in the body. These antibodies can 
either have a prophylactic effect, protecting the body from disease,  
or act as a therapy against existing diseases.

Medigene is currently conducting pre-clinical research into the appli-
cation of the AAvLP technology for the treatment of cancer and infec-
tions by following two different approaches. The direct insertion of 
known epitopes into the capsid protein is one approach; the second 
approach is based on AAv libraries, which contain a random sequence 
instead of defined epitopes. Suitable screening procedures can be 
used to identify novel vaccine candidates. The key benefit of this tech-
nology is the possibility of transferring the mode of action of existing 
therapeutic antibodies directly into an active  vaccine for the first time.

AAvLP-based vaccine candidates show promising data in pre-clinical 
studies. This approach constitutes an interesting supplement to con-
ventional vaccines and may also significantly widen the range of appli-
cations for vaccines for the treatment of cancer and other diseases. 
In 2012, Medigene presented positive pre-clinical data generated dur-
ing a collaboration with renowned researchers of The Johns hopkins 
university School of Medicine, uSA. A pre-clinical long-term study is 
currently being conducted in cooperation with Dr. Neil Christensen of 
Pennsylvania State university, seeking to demonstrate long-term pro-
tection against infection by various types of hPv. Preliminary pre-clin-
ical results are already available and point to a successful protection 
against several important subtypes of hPv viruses.

AAvlP

Outlook

The pre-clinical long-term protection study in cooperation with the 
Pennsylvania State university aims to demonstrate long-term pro-
tection against infection with various hPv types. The AAvLP tech-
nology is available for partnerships and licensing. 

PRODuCT INDICATION PRE-CLINIC CLINICAL 
PhASE I

CLINICAL 
PhASE II

CLINICAL 
PhASE III

APPROvAL MARkET

aavlP vaccine candidates

B-cell B-cellB-cell B-cell

1) 2)

ANTIGENS ON THE SURFAcE OF THE AAvlP TRIGGER  
THE PROdUcTION OF SPEcIFIc ANTIBOdIES

  AAvLP
  Receptor

1)  The AAvLP is injected into the body. A specific antigen is presented on its surface. 
B-cell receptors recognize this antigen and activate the immune system 

2)  upon infection and availability of antigens in the body, B cells increasingly proliferate 
and higher amounts of specific antibodies against the antigens will be produced
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IMMUNOTHERAPIES

Immunotherapies – new options for the treatment of cancer 

In January 2014, Medigene acquired Trianta Immunotherapies Gmbh 
as a wholly owned subsidiary. Trianta has three highly innovative 
complementary immunotherapy platforms with programmes in clini-
cal development for treating various forms of cancer. 

Immunotherapy is considered to be a promising new option for the 
treatment of cancer. For decades the treatment of cancer was solely 
based on the operative removal of tumours, radiotherapy and chemo-
therapy. These conventional treatment methods generally lead to a 
considerable improvement in disease initially, but this improvement 
is often short-lived and such treatment is often unable to stop the 
progression of cancer. In addition, patients suffer serious and signif-
icant side effects when undergoing these treatments. In this age of 
modern medicine and biotechnology, hormone therapy and treatment 
through the inhibition of signal transmission pathways are more tar-
geted approaches with considerably improved success rates.

Cancer arises from genetic mutations that accumulate in cells which 
lead to uncontrolled cell growth and prevent or impede the ability of 
the immune system to recognize and combat this process. The tre-
mendous increase in knowledge over the last two decades on how 
the human immune system functions and new possibilities to directly 
influence responses in a specific way have resulted in innovative 
treatment strategies for cancer, which all come under the umbrella 
term of immunotherapy. These therapeutic approaches activate, stim-
ulate and optimize natural immune responses in order to allow the 
immune cells of the body to successfully combat cancer long term.

T cells play a major role in the immune response of humans. Some 
T cells in the immune system become effector cells which directly 
combat, kill and eliminate tumour cells. The specific activation, 
stimulation and improvement of T cell function is a modern therapy 
approach which allows for effective, long-lasting treatment of cancer.

Cancer immunotherapy was recently crowned by the scientific jour-
nal »Science« as the »Breakthrough of the year 2013«.

Through the acquisition of Trianta in January 2014, Medigene has 
gained excellent access to comprehensive knowledge on mechanisms 
relating to T cells in the human immune system and innovative plat-
forms in this pioneering field of immunotherapy. Trianta is currently 
working on three complementary personalized immunotherapy strate-
gies for the treatment of different types and stages of cancer.

Products



MedIgene ag ANNuAL REPORT 2013 25

dc vAccINES 

PRODuCT INDICATION PRE-CLINIC CLINICAL 
PhASE I

CLINICAL 
PhASE II

CLINICAL 
PhASE III

APPROvAL MARkET

dc-vaccines Prostate cancer

aMl1)

1)  Acute myeloid leukaemia

dc vaccines for the treatment of minimal residual disease

Dendritic cells (DC) play a central role in the immune system. They 
can take up antigens almost anywhere in the periphery, process 
them, and present them on their cell surface in a form that can induce 
a specific immune response. In cancer therapy, dendritic cells are 
used as personalised vaccines against tumours. with the benefit of 
the platform developed in-house by Trianta, Medigene has a process 
available for manufacturing vaccines of the next generation. This 
involves stimulating autologous dendritic cells ex vivo, bringing them 
to maturity, and processing them in such a way that they can activate 
T cells as well as natural killer (Nk) cells to attack the tumour.

The personalised vaccine is derived by an advanced methodology. 
 Leukapheresis, a process for separating white blood cells (leucocytes) 
from the patient’s blood, is used to extract numerous monocytes, a 
cell class of leucocytes. Monocytes are precursors of dendritic cells. 
Trianta’s special technology processes the resultant monocytes into 
mature dendritic cells within three days. In the laboratory the den-
dritic cells are provided with the tumour antigens that can stimulate 
the necessary immune response in the patient, to attack the tumour. 
using this process, Trianta can produce  DC  vaccines with different 
tumour antigens, to treat different types of tumour. Since the original 
cells are autologous cells, the body tolerates the vaccines very well.

The vaccines are produced in an efficient, GMP (Good  Manufacturing 
Practice) -compliant process approved by the regulatory authori-
ties, by the experienced team around Prof. Gunnar kvalheim at the 
Oslo university hospital. The DC vaccines are particularly suitable 
for treating minimal residual cancers, and for use in combination 
therapies. Because the tumour load is small, the vaccines have suf-
ficient time to elicit an effective T cell reaction in the patient to suc-
cessfully eliminate the tumour cells remaining in the body. Clinical 
results of Trianta’s DC vaccines to date from clinical compassionate 
use (medically prescribed use of unauthorised medicines in the case 
of patients with particularly severe cases of disease progression, 
where there are no therapeutic alternatives), have already provided 
encouraging data on the safety and clinical benefit in the case of var-
ious tumours.

Outlook
 
Trianta’s DC vaccines are currently being evaluated in two ongoing 
clinical investigator-initiated trials: a clinical phase I/II trial relating to 
treatment of acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) is being conducted at the 
Ludwig-Maximilian’s university hospital Großhadern, Munich in coop-
eration with Dr. Marion Subklewe and Prof. wolfgang hiddemann, and a 
clinical phase II trial for treating prostate cancer at the Oslo university 
hospital in cooperation with Prof. Gunnar kvalheim. Medigene plans to 
initiate a further clinical study in 2014.

mDC

dc vAccINES AcTIvATE T cEllS TO ATTAck cANcER cEllS 

human T cell
MhC (major histocompatibility complex) with RNA-encoding tumour antigens
Co-stimulatory molecules
Tumour cell
Mature DC

Products
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AdOPTIvE T cEll THERAPy 

PRODuCT INDICATION PRE-CLINIC CLINICAL 
PhASE I

CLINICAL 
PhASE II

CLINICAL 
PhASE III

APPROvAL MARkET

tcr cancer

T cell receptor- (TcR) modified T cells for the treatment of 
advanced cancer

Trianta’s second therapy approach likewise aims to utilise the body’s 
own immune response – the T cell – to target and combat cancer cells. 
The T cell receptor (TCR) based adoptive T cell therapy is a promising 
approach for treating advanced stages of cancer. Adoptive T cell ther-
apy transfers defined T cell populations to the patient. 

As in the case of the DC platform, autologous cells are removed from 
the cancer patient and further processed. This therapy approach uses 
autologous T cells that are endowed with new tumour-specific T cell 
receptors. These modified T cells of the immune system seek out can-
cer cells and effectively destroy them. From a large library of tumour-
specific receptors for various cancer indications, Trianta can select 
T cell receptors needed for the patient’s cancer, and apply them to 
the autologous T cells. In ten days this platform technology provides 
a whole »army« of personalised, tumour-specific T cells whose affinity 
to the tumour is several orders of magnitude greater than cytotoxic 
T cells initially derived from the patient, which generally do not recog-
nise the tumour as a harmful tissue.

The modified T cells are a suitable immunotherapy for treating patients 
with advanced tumours. In this case doctors rely on direct delivery of 
cytotoxic T cells for rapid attack of the tumour cells, whereas in the 
case of DC immunotherapy for minimal disease the body still has suffi-
cient time to form its own autologous tumour-specific T cells.

Outlook

At present a process for combining these receptors with autologous 
T cells in accordance with the regulatory GMP (good manufacturing 
practice) standards is being established. First discussions with the 
regulatory authorities in respect of the preparation of initial clinical 
trials with defined product candidates have already taken place. 

AdOPTIvE T cEll THERAPy FOR TREATING AdvANcEd  
STAGES OF cANcER 

Tumour-specific T cell
TCR-modified patient T cells with anti-tumour specificity
Tumour cell
viral-vector mediated TCR transfer

Products



MedIgene ag ANNuAL REPORT 2013 27

PRODuCT INDICATION PRE-CLINIC CLINICAL 
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APPROvAL MARkET

taBs leukaemia and autoimmune diseases

ANTI-TcR MONOclONAl ANTIBOdIES (TABS) 

Anti-TcR monoclonal antibodies (TABs) for therapy of  
T cell-mediated diseases

Trianta’s third product platform serves to generate monoclonal anti-
bodies that recognize different T cells based on their T cell receptors 
(TABs = T cell specific antibodies). These T cell specific antibodies 
are intended to remove unwanted T cells in the body in order to treat 
T cell-mediated diseases such as T cell leukaemia or auto-immune 
diseases.

This platform can produce and characterize monoclonal antibodies 
with the ability to distinguish different T cell receptors. Proof of  
technology has been established in pre-clinical trials. 

Outlook

Preclinical development of the anti-TCR monoclonal antibodies (TABs) 
continues with the aim of achieving proof of principle.

T cell
T cell specific antibody

T cEll SPEcIFIc ANTIBOdy TO REMOvE UNwANTEd T cEllS

Products



28 the share

THE SHARE
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TO 18 MARcH 2014

Share price

Medigene shares started trading at an opening price of €4.08* on 
2 January 2013. After a stable development in the initial months of the 
year with an average price level of around €4.00*, Medigene shares 
came under strong pressure in the months of March and April. Despite 
a regular news flow, especially relating to the marketed drug veregen®, 
with announcements relating to partnerships throughout the Asian 
region and further market approvals, Medigene shares reached their 
lowest point for the year on 29 April 2013 at a price of €3.04*.

In subsequent weeks, Medigene shares recovered significantly to €3.99* 
with the announcement of positive data from the phase II investigator 
initiated trial with EndoTAG®-1, and reached a new high of €4.32* at the 
end of May 2013 on the announcement of the exclusive global license 
and development agreement for EndoTAG®-1 with the Taiwanese part-
ner SynCore Biotechnology Co., Ltd. and its strategic investment in 
Medigene. In the summer months, the  Medigene share price lost ground 
despite the continuing regular news flow, especially relating to mar-
keting progress of veregen®, and was quoted at €3.17* shortly before 
publication of the 2013 half-year report. The reduction of share capi-
tal resolved by the Annual General meeting in July 2013 and imple-
mented at the beginning of September by consolidating shares at the 
ratio of 4:1 took the share price to back above the €4.00 mark. In the 
subsequent two months, Medigene shares moved sideways, in con-
trast to the strong upward trend in the TecDAX. In December 2013, 

the shares fell to an average level of €3.60*, closing on 30 Decem-
ber 2013 at a price of €3.50*, 12.5% below the opening price of the 
year. Driven by the announcement of the Trianta acquisition and the 
license agreement concluded for RhuDex®, the share price started 
to rise significantly in 2014. In mid-February the share price rose to 
around 4 euros, and has ranged above the 6 euros level in mid-March.

liquidity 

The average daily trading volume totalled approximately 14,155 shares* 
in the fiscal year. The highest daily volume of 188,624 shares* was 
reached in mid-May when the positive data from the phase II investi-
gator initiated trial with EndoTAG®-1 was published. The  second peak 
in trading volume was recorded shortly thereafter on 27 May 2013 
with a volume of 154,631 shares* when the development and market-
ing partnership with SynCore was announced. 
 
Analysts’ studies

Medigene is monitored by analysts of leading investment banks in 
Germany and abroad. They produced detailed reports analysing the 
company, its products and drug candidates. At the end of 2013, two 
of four analysts issued a buy recommendation for Medigene shares.

2 January 2013 18 March 2014
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* Adjusted figures for improved comparability after capital reduction at the ratio 4:1 shares



MedIgene ag ANNuAL REPORT 2013 29the share

Taiwan 6.1

Other 1.3

Germany 73.7

OwNERSHIP INFORMATION By cOUNTRy

IN %

As at 31 December 2013, figures rounded, based on Medigene AG assessment

0.4 uSA

6.8 united kingdom

1.8 Benelux

5.5 Switzerland

4.4 Austria

OwNERSHIP INFORMATION By TyPE OF INvESTOR

IN %

As at 31 December 2013, rounded, based on Medigene AG assessment

Private investors 58.9

0.4  Board of Directors &  
Supervisory Board 

Investor relations work

In 2013, Medigene conducted active investor relations activities in order 
to keep investors, financial analysts and financial press informed about 
the company’s development. In addition to press conferences and ana-
lysts’ conferences, Medigene gave interviews with key financial media, 
and conducted investor meetings at home and abroad. Corporate pre-
sentations at investor conferences underlined Medigene’s presence on 
the international capital market.

Ownership development 

At year-end 2013, approximately 59% of the shares in issue were 
owned by private investors (2012: 63%), around 41% of the shares 
were held by institutional investors (2012: 36%). The reduction of the 
number of Supervisory Board members in 2013 reduced the proportion 
of holdings by the Executive Management Board and the Supervisory 
Board to 0.4% compared to 1% in 2012. Most of the Medigene shares 
in issue (74%; 2012: 79%) were held by shareholders in Germany at the 
end of 2013. The proportion of shareholders in the united kingdom 
was unchanged at 7%. Austrian shareholders hold approximately 4% 
of the Medigene shares, Swiss shareholders approximately 5%. The 
Taiwanese company SynCore Biotechnology has a holding of 6% of the 
Medigene shares.

ANAlySTS’ REcOMMENdATIONS FOR MEdIGENE SHARES 

Buy 2
Neutral 2
Reduce 0
 
As at December 2013, base: 4 analysts’ studies

THE FOllOwING INvESTMENT BANkS HAvE REPORTEd 
ON MEdIGENE IN 2013

Close Brothers Seydler Research AG Igor kim
DZ Bank AG Dr. heinz Müller
Edison Investment Research Limited Christian Glennie
Nomura Code Securities Ltd.* Samir Devani
*  Nomura Code Securities Ltd. was dissolved in August 2013.

MEdIGENE GAvE PRESENTATIONS AT THE FOllOwING 
INvESTOR cONFERENcES IN 2013:

JP Morgan healthcare Conference San Francisco
Cowen & Co 33rd Annual health Care 
Conference Boston
kempen & Co 6th healthcare/ 
Life Sciences Conference Amsterdam
Jefferies 2013 Global healthcare 
Conference New york
Sachs Annual Biotech in Europe  
Investor Forum Zurich
Deutsches Eigenkapitalforum Frankfurt/Main
Jefferies Global healthcare Conference London
Münchner kapitalmarkt konferenz Munich

40.7  Institutional  
investors
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SHARE dATA

Stock ID code MDG1

Securities identification number A1X 3w0

ISIN – International Securities 
Identification Code DE000A1X3w00

Common Code 1107 3026

CuSIP 993 906 Fv5

Reuters symbol MDG1k.DE

Bloomberg symbol MDG1

Market segment Prime Standard

Indices Prime All Share, DAXSubsector 
Biotechnology

Trading floors XETRA, Berlin, Bremen, Dusseldorf, 
Frankfurt, hamburg, hanover, Munich, 
Stuttgart

Designated sponsors DZ Bank AG, Close Brothers Seydler 
Research AG

kEy FIGURES OF THE MEdIGENE SHARES

In € 2013 20123)

52-week high 4.40 6.28

52-week low 3.04 3.80

Opening price 4.08 3.80

year-end closing price 3.50 4.00

Average price 3.77 4.72

weighted average number of shares 
(undiluted, in shares) 9,631,559 9,270,690

Average daily trading volume (in shares) 14,155 15,319

Average market capitalisation (in € m) 37 44

Total number of shares outstanding (31 Dec.) 9,872,139 9,270,690

Earnings per share1) (undiluted and diluted) -1.07 -1.06

Dividend per share1) 3.67 4.76

Cash flow per share from operating activities1) -1.24 -0.72

Free float2) (in %) 84 94
 
1) Reference amount: Total number of outstanding shares
2) Source: Medigene AG
3)  Adjusted figures for improved comparability after capital reduction  

at the ratio 4:1 shares

the share
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GROUP MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
OF MEDIGENE AG, PLANEGG/MARTINSRIED, AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2013 

KEY EVENTS IN 2013 

≥ In-market sales from Veregen increased by 40%; further market launches, approvals and partnerships 
 
≥ Global partnership agreement for EndoTAG-1 concluded; phase III clinical trial funding secured 
 
≥ Progress achieved in development projects 
 
≥ SynCore gained as strategic core investor 
 
≥ Share capital reduction successfully completed 
 
≥ Acquisition of Trianta Immunotherapies GmbH successfully prepared 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS IN 2013  

≥ Total revenue increased by 21% to €7.6 m (2012: €6.3 m) 
 
≥ Revenue from Veregen royalties increased by 38% to €2.6 m (2012: €1.9 m) 
 
≥ EBITDA loss from continued operations reduced by 12% to €-8.3 m (2012: €-9.4 m) 
 
≥ Improvement in net result from continued operations of 31% to €-10.3 m (2012: €-14.9 m) 
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COMPANY OVERVIEW  

Medigene AG, Planegg/Martinsried, Germany, is a biopharmaceutical company that specialises in the research and 
development of innovative drugs to treat cancer and autoimmune diseases. Medigene has one drug on the market.  
 
Organisational and legal structure of the Group 
Medigene AG was founded in 1994 in Planegg/Martinsried near Munich, Germany. In 1996, the Company was convert-
ed into a joint stock corporation. The Company's headquarters are located at Lochhamer Straße 11, 82152 
Planegg/Martinsried, Germany. The Company is registered in the Commercial Register of the Munich Local Court 
under HRB 115761. Medigene AG has been listed since June 2000 (Deutsche Börse: Regulated Market, Prime Stand-
ard; SIN A1X3W0; code MDG1).  
 
In addition to the parent company, Medigene AG in Planegg/Martinsried, the Medigene Group (hereinafter referred to 
as »Medigene«) includes the wholly owned subsidiary Medigene, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA, which was acquired in 2001, 
and, since its acquisition in January 2014, the wholly owned subsidiary Trianta Immunotherapies GmbH, Munich (here-
inafter referred to as »Trianta«) ≥ see Major events since the end of the period on page 57. The group is managed by 
the Executive Board of the parent company, Medigene AG. The subsidiary's management reports directly to the 
Group's Executive Board.  
 
Segments  
Medigene’s business activities are comprised of the two market segments »Marketed Products« and »Drug Candi-
dates«. The regional segmentation differentiates between the United Kingdom, the USA and other countries. 
 
Management structure 
The Executive Board of Medigene AG consists of the Chief Executive Officer, Dr. Frank Mathias, and the Chief Finan-
cial Officer, Peter Llewellyn-Davies. It is intended to appoint Professor Dr. Dolores J. Schendel to the Executive Board 
as Chief Scientific Officer with effect from 1 May 2014.  
 
Products and commercialisation  
Medigene has one approved proprietary drug on the market: Veregen for the treatment of genital warts. Veregen is 
marketed by several partners.  
 
Medigene has ongoing research and development projects in the fields of oncology and immunology. The drug candi-
date EndoTAG-1 has successfully undergone two phase II clinical trials for the indication pancreatic cancer and tri-
ple-negative breast cancer (TNBC). For RhuDex, which is used to treat autoimmune diseases, Medigene has complet-
ed a clinical phase IIa trial with patients suffering from rheumatism and has licensed out the rights to the product 
candidate for the indication area hepatology and gastroenterology to Falk Pharma GmbH. Through the takeover in 
January 2014 of Trianta Immunotherapies GmbH, Medigene has three complementary immunotherapy platforms with 
programmes in clinical development for the treatment of various types of cancer. Moreover, Medigene’s AAVLP tech-
nology for the identification and development of potential vaccine candidates is in the research stage.  
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Status of the product portfolio and research and development activities 
Veregen 

Veregen is an innovative drug formulation based on a defined extract from green tea leaves, which is obtained in a 
complex and specifically developed production process. In several clinical studies1, Veregen showed complete clear-
ance of genital warts in more than 60% of the patients, and was very well tolerated. In its current treatment guidelines 
for sexually transmitted diseases, the US Center for Disease Control and Prevention recommends Sinecatechins 15% 
ointment (Veregen) as a possible option for treating genital warts. In addition Sinecatechins 10% and 15% ointment 
(Veregen) was included in the current »2012 European Guideline for the Management of Anogenital Warts« as a 
recommended treatment option for genital warts. 
 
Medigene acquired the licence for the basic rights to the active ingredient from Epitome Pharmaceuticals Ltd., Cana-
da, in 1999 and conducted preclinical and clinical development of Veregen for the treatment of genital warts. Vere-
gen is currently available in Austria, Germany, Spain, Switzerland and the USA as well as Serbia (since April 2013), 
the Netherlands (since July 2013), Taiwan (since October 2013), Norway (since December 2013) and Sweden (since 
January 2014). Within the EU, Veregen was approved during the course of 2012 and 2013 in all the countries for 
which Medigene applied for approval at the end of 2011 under the process of mutual recognition. Outside the EU, 
Veregen has been approved in Israel and it also received approval in Canada in 2013. Additionally, market authorisa-
tion applications have been submitted by partner companies in Mexico and Turkey. These are currently being evaluat-
ed by the regulatory authorities. 
 
Medigene has signed agreements with various global partners worldwide for its marketing of Veregen. For Europe: 
Taurus Pharma GmbH (Germany), Abbott Arzneimittel GmbH (Austria, Switzerland), Bial Industrial Farmaceutica, S.A. 
(Spain, Portugal), Pharmanova d.o.o. (Serbia, Bosnia & Herzegovina, Montenegro, Macedonia, Croatia, Slovenia and 
Albania), L.F. Will-Pharma & Cie. (Netherland, Belgium and Luxemburg), Azanta A/S (Norway, Sweden, Denmark, Fin-
land and Iceland), Meditrina Pharmaceuticals, Ltd. (Greece, Cyprus, Romania and Bulgaria), Laboratoires Expanscience 
(France), Nordic Pharma (Eastern Europe, Russia and other CIS countries), EIP Eczacibasi Ilac Pazarlama A.S. (Turkey) 
and Difa Cooper SPA (Italy). For America: Fougera Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (USA), Paladin Labs Inc., formerly Triton 
Pharma Inc. (Canada), Pierre Fabre Medicament SAS (Mexico, Central America, Venezuela and Columbia). For Asia: 
Teva Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd. (Israel), GC-RISE Pharmaceutical Ltd. (China), Kolon Pharmaceuticals Inc. (South 
Korea), SynCore Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Bhutan, Brunei, Burma, Cambodia, India, Indonesia, 
Iran, Iraq, Japan, Laos, Malaysia, the Maldives, Mongolia, Nepal, Pakistan, Philippines, Singapore, Sri Lanka, Taiwan, 
Thailand, Vietnam, along with Australia and New Zealand).  
 
Medigene receives successive one-time payments from these partners, depending on the achievement of specific 
milestones, and also has a share in Veregen sales (royalties). Medigene earns further revenue from selling the active 
pharmaceutical ingredient and finished product to the marketing partners (revenue from supply chain). Medigene 
incurs costs for purchasing the Veregen active ingredient and for royalties tied to sales to licensor Epitome Pharma-
ceuticals Ltd., Canada. 
 
EndoTAG-1 

The clinical drug candidate EndoTAG-1 is an innovative composition of the established cytostatic drug paclitaxel 
combined with neutral and positive lipids. Due to the positively charged lipids, EndoTAG-1 interacts with newly de-
veloped, negatively charged endothelial cells, which are specifically required for the growth of tumour blood vessels. 
The EndoTAG-1 paclitaxel component attacks the activated endothelial cells as they divide, thereby targeting the 
blood supply to tumours without affecting endothelial cells of healthy tissues. In this way, EndoTAG-1 is expected to 
prevent the formation of new tumour blood vessels and inhibit tumour growth.  
 

                                                        
1Tatti S et al. B J Dermatol 2010; 162 (1): 176-184 
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Medigene has successfully completed two clinical phase II trials of EndoTAG-1 in the indications of pancreatic can-
cer and triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC).  
 
In May 2013, Medigene published results from the Investigator Initiated Trial (IIT) with EndoTAG-1 for the Annual 
Meeting of the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO). The aim of the exploratory open-label phase II IIT head-
ed by Professor Ahmad Awada, Institut Jules Bordet in Brussels, was to evaluate the efficacy and safety of En-
doTAG-1 in combination with conventional paclitaxel in a neoadjuvant setting in patients with HER2-negative high-
risk breast cancer. The primary end point of this efficacy trial was met. The magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scans 
following the EndoTAG-1/paclitaxel therapy showed a reduction of 80% or more in the tumour volume in 11 of the 
15 patients treated. The median of the percentage reduction in the tumour volume was 90% in 14 patients with sub-
sequent surgery. The best results were observed in TNBC patients (6 of 15 patients). The results of the IIT support the 
further development of EndoTAG-1 in the breast cancer indication TNBC. 
 
At the end of May 2013, Medigene announced the conclusion of a global development and marketing partnership 
agreement for EndoTAG-1 with its existing cooperation partner SynCore. As part of the licence agreement, SynCore 
has undertaken to finance the planned phase III clinical trial with EndoTAG-1 in the indication of TNBC in full, and will 
in turn receive the global marketing rights for EndoTAG-1. Medigene received an upfront payment from SynCore and 
is entitled to payments upon certain development and approval milestones as well as royalties after market approval 
of EndoTAG-1.  
 
The use of EndoTAG-1 in combination with conventional taxanes to treat TNBC is protected by a US patent until 
2029. In May 2013, the European Patent Office granted a further patent to protect the drug candidate. The term of 
the patent EP 2108362 entitled »A cationic liposomal preparation comprising a taxane« ends in 2023. 
 
RhuDex 

RhuDex is being developed by Medigene as an innovative oral, disease-modifying agent to treat autoimmune diseas-
es. It is a CD80 antagonist that blocks undesired T cell activation and production and therefore has an immunomodu-
lating and anti-inflammatory effect.  
 
The safety and tolerability of RhuDex have already been demonstrated in a number of phase I clinical trials. Medi-
gene has successfully completed a pilot phase IIa trial in the indication rheumatoid arthritis. In 2013, Medigene out-
lined preparations for a further clinical development of RhuDex in the indication of primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC). In 
March 2014, it signed a licence agreement with the pharmaceutical company Dr. Falk Pharma GmbH, Freiburg, for the 
development and marketing rights to RhuDex in the indications hepatology and gastroenterology ≥ see Major events 
since the end of the reporting period on page 57).  
 
In December 2013, the European Patent Office granted Medigene an additional patent to protect the drug candidate. 
Patent EP 1991548 was granted for the choline salt in RhuDex and expires in 2027, with a potential extension of up 
to five years. 
 
AAVLP technology 

Within the AAVLP (adeno-associated virus-like particles) programme, Medigene is developing an innovative technolo-
gy platform for prophylactic and therapeutic vaccines. For this purpose, non-infectious virus-like particles derived 
from adeno-associated viruses (AAV) are used as epitope carriers. Epitopes presented to the immune system in this 
way are to be used for the production of antibodies and to fight and/or protect against the relevant disease. 
 
At present, a preclinical cross-protection long-term study is being conducted in cooperation with Pennsylvania State 
University with the aim of demonstrating long-term protection against various human papilloma virus (HPV) infec-
tions. Preliminary preclinical results are already available and point to a successful protection against several im-
portant subtypes of HPV viruses.   
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Immunotherapy 

Through the acquisition of Trianta Immunotherapies GmbH in January 2014 as a wholly owned subsidiary, Medigene 
has acquired three innovative and complementary platforms in the field of immunotherapy.  
 
DC vaccines 
The most advanced platform develops next generation antigen-tailored dendritic cell (DC) vaccines. Dendritic cells 
can take up antigens efficiently, process them and present them on their surface in a form that can induce T cells to 
divide and mature. Dendritic cells can also induce natural killer cells (NK cells) to become active and attack tumour 
cells. Trianta has developed new, fast and efficient methods for preparing autologous (patient-specific) mature den-
dritic cells which have relevant characteristics to activate both T cells and NK cells. The dendritic cells are developed 
to carry various tumour antigens to treat different types of cancer. 
 
The DC vaccines are being evaluated in two ongoing, externally funded investigator initiated trials: a clinical phase I/II 
trial in acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) at the Ludwig-Maximilian University Hospital Großhadern, Munich, in coopera-
tion with Dr. Marion Subklewe and Prof. Wolfgang Hiddemann, and a clinical phase II trial in prostate cancer at the 
Oslo University Hospital in cooperation with Prof. Gunnar Kvalheim. Previous clinical compassionate-use (prescription 
of as-yet unapproved drugs in especially severe cases where there are no treatment alternatives) studies with Tri-
anta's DC vaccines have already yielded encouraging data on safety and clinical benefits in several tumour types. 
 
T cell receptor (TCR)-based adoptive T cell therapy 
The second platform in the field of immunotherapy aims to arm the patient's own T cells with tumour-specific T cell 
receptors. The receptor-modified T cells are then able to detect and efficiently kill tumour cells. This form of immuno-
therapy aims to overcome the patient's tolerance to cancer cells, and the tumour-induced immunosuppression in the 
patient, by activating and modifying the patient's T cells outside the body (ex vivo). A large army of specific T cells to 
fight the tumour is made available to patients within just 10 days.  
 
Trianta is currently establishing a comprehensive library of recombinant T cell receptors and a good manufacturing 
practice (GMP)-compliant process for their combination with patient-derived T cells as in the context of this platform. 
The company is in discussions with the regulatory authorities for the preparation of first clinical trials with defined 
product candidates.  
 
Anti-TCR monoclonal antibodies (TABs) 
The third product platform serves to generate monoclonal antibodies which recognise different T cells based on their 
T cell receptors (TABs = T cell-specific antibodies). These TABs are intended to remove unwanted cells from the body 
in order to treat T cell-induced diseases such as T cell leukaemia or various autoimmune diseases. 
 
This platform has helped to produce and characterise monoclonal antibodies which are able to distinguish between 
different T cell receptors. Proof of technology was established in preclinical trials.  
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GENERAL CONDITIONS  

Procurement 
As part of its business activities, Medigene AG is responsible for the procurement of supplies for the marketed drug 
Veregen and for drug candidates for clinical and preclinical test purposes, services, chemicals and laboratory sup-
plies for research and development. Medigene is intensively involved in the development and optimisation of produc-
tion processes for future drugs in order to efficiently organise the procurement of required ingredients at a later 
stage.  
 
Procurement of drugs  

Medigene has a contract with Mitsui Norin Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan, (hereinafter referred to as »Mitsui Norin«), for the 
production and supply of the active pharmaceutical ingredient for Veregen. The formulation of the ointment is car-
ried out by a contract manufacturer in Germany by order of Fougera for the US market and on behalf of Medigene for 
other markets. The raw material, which consists of green tea leaves, is obtained from Chinese tea farms. Mitsui Norin 
is responsible for monitoring the Chinese raw material suppliers.  
 
Procurement management for research and development supplies 

Medigene is not dependent on any single raw material supplier for research and development. Rather, the Company 
solicits various bids as a matter of principle and places its orders with the most advantageous supplier, taking into 
account quality considerations. Procurement is organised in such a way that Medigene is able to ensure that the sup-
ply is sufficiently stable and resilient in the face of possible bottlenecks or quality problems while at the same time 
optimising its purchase prices. Given a price trend within the usual range, procurement costs are of secondary im-
portance in Medigene's cost structure. 
 
Complex demands on service providers  

Medigene avails itself of extensive services, primarily for the large-scale production and formulation of therapeutic 
active ingredients as well as when conducting pharmacological, toxicological and clinical trials. Outsourcing these 
activities ensures that Medigene is able to respond quickly to changes in its development portfolio with the required 
flexibility. The demands on services of this kind are highly complex, calling for extensive expertise and experience on 
the part of the purchaser. Criteria for selecting partners for such projects – apart from quality and efficiency – include 
adherence to delivery dates, reliability and flexibility. 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  

Financial performance indicators 
Medigene's management uses revenue, EBITDA, gross margin, liquidity coverage ratio and the equity ratio as perfor-
mance indicators for the commercial success of the Group's activities. Medigene's EBITDA is derived from the net 
profit/loss for the year; it does not include any taxes, financial result, foreign exchange gains, share of result of asso-
ciates, amortisation or depreciation, and, in 2012, it did not include any income from the revaluation of investment or 
other expenses ≥ see Other expenses and EBITDA on page 40 et seq.  
 
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
  2013 

 
2012 

Gross margin of total revenue in % 
Gross profit x 100 

77  80 
Total revenue 

EBITDA from continued operations in € k  -8,270  -9,427  
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ASSET AND FINANCE INDICATORS 
IN %  2013 

 
2012 

Liquidity cover ratio 
Cash x 100 

19  33 
Balance sheet total 

Equity ratio 
Equity x 100 

69 72 
Balance sheet total 

 
The company's gross margin fell by 3% to 77% in 2013 (2012: 80%) because of lower milestone payments. In view of 
the cash outflow from operating activities which was not covered by the cash inflow from financing activities, and the 
net loss for 2013, the liquidity cover ratio decreased to 19% (2012: 33%) and the equity ratio to 69% (2012: 72%). 
The management expects to raise additional funds from external sources, e.g. further partnership agreements with 
pharmaceutical companies or capital measures in time ≥ see also Financing risks in Risk report on page 45. 
 
A report on the performance of cash and cash equivalents can be found in the Group management discussion and anal-
ysis under ≥ Change in cash reserves on page 42 and in Opportunities and outlook on page 58 et seq. For details of the 
aims and methods of the financial risk management ≥ see Notes to the consolidated financial statements E) note (53). 
 
Non-financial performance indicators 
Medigene's commercial success will essentially depend on the extent to which patent protection is obtained and 
maintained for its products and technologies in the respective regional target markets. Medigene's patent situation is 
therefore the Company's most critical non-financial performance indicator along with progress in research and devel-
opment.  
 
Patent position 

Medigene AG currently holds rights to a large number of patents and patent applications in the capacity as either 
owner or licensee, and further strengthened its portfolio's patent situation in 2013.  
 
PATENTS GRANTED AND SCHEDULED TO BE GRANTED 
 MARKETED 

PRODUCTS 
DRUG 

CANDIDATES 

Europe/Germany 3 18 
USA 5 28 

 
PENDING PATENT APPLICATIONS 
 MARKETED 

PRODUCTS 
DRUG 

CANDIDATES 

Europe/Germany 3 18 
USA 2 13 
International (PCT) 2 23 

 
Consistent patent strategy provides the basis for commercial success 

The Company aims to obtain patent protection for its proprietary products, processes and technologies. In line with 
the strategy of obtaining patents for technologies and products in development, Medigene has submitted numerous 
applications for various results of its work on proprietary technologies and products, or has exclusively licensed pa-
tents for the relevant segments. 
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INCOME POSITION 

Product sales and other income 
In 2013, Medigene increased the total revenue generated from the drug Veregen by 24% to €4,209 k (2012:  
€3,384 k). This includes a 38% increase in royalties from Veregen to €2,585 k (2012: €1,878 k). In addition, Medi-
gene received Veregen milestone payments from partners totalling €298 k (2012: €610 k). Revenue from supplying 
Veregen to sales partners rose 48% to €1,326 k (2012: €896 k).  
 
In addition, Medigene's other operating income rose 17% to €3,383 k (2012: €2,900 k). This consists firstly of regular, 
non-cash income of €208 k per month from the transfer of rights to Medigene's former drug Eligard agreed in 2012 
with US financial investor Cowen Healthcare Royalty Partners ≥ see Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
B) note (4). Within the scope of the global partnership agreement concluded with SynCore Biotechnology in May 2013, 
Medigene also receives cost reimbursements and milestone payments for the development of drug candidate En-
doTAG-1. As part of the alliance, Medigene received cost reimbursements of €833 k during the reporting period and 
realised deferred milestones of €13 k.  
 
In the previous year, other operating income consisted mainly of €613 k from Eligard revenue in the first quarter of 
2012 and, since April 2012, of a monthly, non-cash amount of €208 k for the agreed transfer of rights in Eligard. In 
addition, Medigene received a one-time compensation payment from a service provider for costs incurred amounting 
to €390 k. 
 
Total revenue increased by 21% to €7,592 k in 2013 (2012: €6,284 k). Disregarding the above-mentioned one-time 
effect relating to other operating income, total revenue rose 29% from €5,894 k (2012) to €7,592 k (2013).  
 
Revenue distribution is presented in the ≥ Notes to the consolidated financial statements D) note (27) on page 88. 
 
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT (ABBREVIATED) 
IN € K 2013 2012 CHANGE 

Revenue Veregen 4,209 3,384 24% 

thereof royalties 2,585 1,878 38% 

thereof revenue from supply chain 1,326 896 48% 

thereof milestone payments 298 610 -51% 

Other operating income 3,383 2,900 17% 
Total revenue 7,592 6,284 21% 

Cost of sales -1,735 -1,250 39% 
Gross profit 5,857 5,034 16% 

Selling, general and administrative expenses -8,273 -7,909 5% 
Research and development expenses -6,605 -7,399 -11% 
Other expenses (deconsolidation) 0 -6,166 ‒ 
Operating result -9,021 -16,440 -45% 

Income from revaluation of investment 0 2,220 ‒ 
Result from discontinued operations 0 5,018 ‒ 

Net result for the year -10,282 -9,859 4% 

Net result for the year from continued operations -10,282 -14,877 -31% 
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Cost of sales 
The cost of sales increased to €1,735 k in 2013 (2012: €1,250 k) as a result of higher supply chain revenue and royal-
ties for Veregen.  
 
Gross profit 
Gross profit increased by 16% to €5,857 k in 2013 (2012: €5,034 k). The gross profit amount is determined by the 
ratio of supply chain revenue to royalties and milestone payments. The gross profit generated from the drug Veregen 
is dependent on the euro to the US dollar exchange rate.  
 
Selling, general and administrative expenses  
Selling, general and administrative expenses rose from €7,909 k (2012) to €8,273 (2013). Selling expenses were up 
by 37% to €3,121 k (2012: €2,271 k) due to higher expenses for the commercialisation of Veregen. These expenses 
include a one-time payment of €740 k for the termination of the marketing contract for Veregen in Germany with 
Abbott Arzneimittel GmbH. In exchange, Medigene will get a one-time payment of €650 k at the beginning of 2014 
from the new marketing partner, Taurus Pharma GmhH, which will be recognised in 2014. General and administrative 
expenses were reduced by 9% to €5,152 k in 2013 (2012: €5,638 k). This mainly reflects higher one-time expenses in 
connection with the Eligard transaction in the previous year. The composition of selling, general and administrative 
expenses can be found in the ≥ Notes to the consolidated financial statements D) note (29) and (30) on page 89.  
 
Research and development expenses  
Total expenses for research and development (R&D) fell 11% to €6,605 k (2012: €7,399 k) as expected in view of 
lower expenses for preclinical and clinical trials. A large part of the R&D spending consisted of expenses for clinical 
and preclinical development, manufacture and consultancy fees. At the same time, personnel expenses were down. 
R&D expenses incurred for EndoTAG-1 are reimbursed by partner SynCore and posted in other operating income as 
R&D funding from partners. The composition of R&D expenses can be found in the ≥ Notes to the consolidated finan-
cial statements D) note (31) on page 89 et seq.  
 
Other expenses 
Other expenses of €6,166 k were incurred in the previous year reporting period in connection with the deconsolida-
tion of Medigene Ltd. As part of this, other reserves for currency transactions included under shareholders' equity 
were largely reversed and included in the consolidated profit and loss account. Although this posting with no effect on 
shareholders' equity was reported in the profit and loss account, it was a non-cash item and had no impact on EBITDA 
(as defined by Medigene ≥ see below and on page 37).  
 
EBITDA 
Medigene's EBITDA is derived from net profit/loss for the year; it does not include any taxes, financial result, foreign 
exchange gains, share of result of associates, amortisation or depreciation, and in 2012, it does not include any in-
come from the revaluation of investment or other expenses. EBITDA amounted to €-8,270 k in 2013, which represents 
an improvement of 12% against the EBITDA from continued operations in the previous year (2012: €-9,427 k).  
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EBITDA 
IN € K 2013 2012 CHANGE 

Net result for the year from continued operations -10,282 -14,877 -31% 
Taxes 18 82 -78% 
Financial result 1,553 1,205 29% 
Foreign exchange gains -412 -689 -40% 
Share of result of associates 102 59 73% 
Income from revaluation of investment 0 -2,220 ‒ 
Depreciation and amortisation 751 847 -11% 
Other expenses (deconsolidation) 0 6.166 ‒ 
Total from continued operations -8,270 -9,427 -12% 

 
Financial result  
The financial result amounted to €-1,553 k during the reporting period (2012: €-1,205 k), consisting mainly of non-
cash interest expenses of €1,566 k (2012: €1,244 k), which resulted from the revaluation of the financial liability to 
Cowen.  
 
Share of result of associates 
The result from investments in associates amounted to €-102 k in 2013 (2012: €-59 k) and is related to the associate 
Catherex, Inc. As at 31 December 2013, the Group held 40.40% of the shares in Catherex, Inc.  
 
Income from revaluation of investments 
As a consequence of the reduction of the share in Immunocore Ltd. to below 20% at the beginning of 2012, this in-
vestment was reclassified in the balance sheet pursuant to IAS 28.22 and, accordingly, there was a revaluation at fair 
value pursuant to IAS 39. The increased valuation associated with it resulted in non-cash income of €2,220 k in 2012 
≥ see Notes to the consolidated financial statements E) note (40) on page 94. 
 
Taxes  
In the reporting period, a tax expense of €18 k was posted in the profit and loss account (2012: €82 k). It essentially 
resulted from foreign withholding tax on licence fees and milestone payments. 
 
Net results for the year 
In the reporting period, the net loss for the year amounted to €10,282 k, a 31% improvement against a previous year 
loss from continued operations of €14,877 k.  
 
Earnings per share 
In 2013, the loss per share amounted to €1.07 (basic and diluted weighted average number of shares: 9,631,559) 
compared with a loss of €1.06 per share in the previous year (weighted average number of basic shares: 9,270,690, 
diluted: 9,343,163). In 2013, the basic and diluted number of shares is identical at 9,631,559. Diluted earnings per 
share from continued operations in the financial years 2013 and 2012 was the same as basic earnings because factor-
ing in the weighted average number of shares to be issued when exercising options would have had an opposite dilu-
tion effect. To achieve better comparability, last year's figures were adjusted after the 2013 share capital reduction. 
As a result of the share capital reduction, the previous year number of shares was adjusted retroactively in a ratio 4:1 
and earnings per share were multiplied by four. 
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Segments 
Medigene AG’s activities are broken down into the segments »Marketed Products« and »Drug Candidates« ≥ see 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements H) »Segment reporting« on page 110 et seq. The segment »Marketed 
Products« consists of the drug Veregen and, in 2012, also the drug Eligard. Medigene’s activities relating to product 
candidates EndoTAG-1, RhuDex and AAVLP are reported in the »Drug Candidates« segment.  

FINANCIAL POSITION 

CHANGE IN CASH RESERVES 
IN € K 2013 2012 CHANGE 

Net cash    

 used by operating activities  -12,246 -6,507 88% 
 used by investing activities -142 -255 -44% 
 from financing activities 2,378 14,094 -83% 

In-/Decrease in cash and cash equivalents -10,010 7,332 ‒ 
Cash and cash equivalents  
at the beginning of the period 20,113 12,811 57% 
Foreign exchange differences 63 -30 ‒ 
Cash and cash equivalents 
at the end of the period 10,166 20,113 -49% 

 
Cash used by operating activities  
Net cash used by operating activities amounted to €12,246 k in the reporting period (2012: €6,507 k). In 2012, this 
comprised a non-recurring payment of €5 m from discontinued operations. Net of this non-recurring item, net cash 
used by operating activities amounted to €11,507 k in the previous year. This gives average monthly cash burn for 
operating activities of €1,021 k in 2013 (2012: €542 k). Net of the non-recurring item mentioned, the monthly cash 
burn in 2012 was an average of €959 k. The major portion of the cash outflow resulted not only from expenses for 
research and development, marketing and administration but also from changes in working capital. The net cash burn 
from operating activities is significantly influenced by one-time and non-recurring payments received under partner-
ship agreements and by research and development expenses, the amount of which depends on the project status.  
 
Cash flow from financing activities 
The cash inflow from financing activities amounted to €2,378 k in the reporting period (2012: €14,094 k). In the previ-
ous year, Medigene had received a payment of €14,094 k from US financial investor Cowen relating to the transfer of 
Eligard rights. In the reporting period, Medigene recorded an amount of €2,406 k under a strategic partnership as a 
result of a capital increase by SynCore. This was offset by costs relating to the transaction. 
 
Change in cash reserves 
In total, cash and cash equivalents decreased by €10,010 k in the 2013 reporting year (2012: increase by €7,332 k). 
The closing balance of cash and cash equivalents in the year under review was €10,166 k (2012: €20,113 k). The li-
quidity coverage ratio, calculated as the proportion of cash and cash equivalents to total assets/liabilities, was 19% 
as at the reporting date (2012: 33%). The difference in relation to the previous year mainly reflects a milestone pay-
ment for Eligard in 2012 as well as the payment from the Cowen deal. There were no open credit lines. For comments 
on the financing risks and the Company's cash reach ≥ see Risk report on page 45 et seq. and Opportunities and out-
look on page 58 et seq. 
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ASSET POSITION 

DEVELOPMENT OF ASSETS AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE  
IN € K 31 DEC 2013 31 DEC 2012 CHANGE 

Assets    
Property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets 27,363 27,973 -2% 
Goodwill 2,212 2,212 0% 
Financial and other non-current assets 4,304 4,270 1% 
Investment in an associate 2,513 2,727 -8% 
Cash and cash equivalents 10,166 20,113 -49% 
Inventories and receivables 4,409 3,344 32% 
Other current assets 1,688 616 174% 
Total assets 52,655 61,255 -14% 

    
Liabilities and shareholders‘ equity    
Shareholders‘ equity 36,276 44,167 -18% 
Non-current liabilities 11,287 12,771 -12% 
Current liabilities 5,092 4,317 18% 
Total liabilities and shareholders‘ equity 52,655 61,255 -14% 

    
Liquidity cover ratio in % 19 33  

Equity ratio in % 69 72  

 
Assets 
Compared with the previous year, total assets fell by 14% to €52,655 k (2012: €61,255 k). This decrease was mainly 
due to a decline in cash and cash equivalents.  
 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets decreased to €27,363 k in the reporting period (2012:  
€27,973 k). Property, plant and equipment accounted for €405 k (2012: €604 k). Intangible assets, which mainly con-
sist of RhuDex and EndoTAG-1, decreased from €27,369 k to €26,958 k as a result of scheduled amortisation. 
Goodwill remained unchanged on the previous year's figure and amounted to €2,212 k. 
 
Financial and other non-current assets amounted to €4,304 k as at the reporting date (2012: €4,270 k). In the report-
ing period, the carrying amount of investment in associate Catherex, Inc. fell from €2,727 k (2012) to €2,513 k (2013).  
The carrying amount of the investment in Immunocore Ltd. continued to be €3,533 k (2012: €3,533 k). Medigene’s 
shares in Immunocore Ltd. amount to 3,373,318 A Ordinary Shares. In certain cases, these A Ordinary shares are 
equivalent to a voting right of 17.45% of all shares. As already communicated, according to the Articles of Incorpora-
tion the value of these shares may amount to a maximum of approximately £2.8 m in case of a future divestment. This 
also applies if Immunocore Ltd. is sold to a third party. In case of an IPO of Immunocore Ltd. or in case of an optional 
share restructuring, Medigene’s shares will be converted to Ordinary Shares at a total value of approximately £2.8 m. 
Thus the number of Ordinary Shares is determined by the enterprise value of Immunocore Ltd. at the date of a trans-
action. Ordinary shares participate directly in the development of the enterprise value. 
 
Accounts receivable as at the end of the reporting period amounted to €1,363 k (2012: €1,139 k). This amount essen-
tially represents receivables from Fougera. Inventories in respect of Veregen totalled €3,046 k as at the reporting 
date (2012: €2,205 k).  
 
Other current assets amounted to €1,688 k (2012: €616 k), of which €574 k (2012: €592 k) were expenses incurred 
for future periods and €878 k (2012: €0) were accrued receivables from licence partners. The remaining amount in-
cludes other current assets ≥ see Notes to the consolidated financial statements E) note (43). 
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Liabilities and shareholders' equity 
In the reporting period, shareholders’ equity decreased to a total of €36,276 k (31 December 2012: €44,167 k). The 
reduction was mainly due to the net loss for 2013 and, as an opposite effect, to the €2,406 k capital increase carried 
out in May 2013 as part of SynCore's strategic shareholding. The equity ratio amounted to 69% at year-end 2013  
(31 December 2012: 72%). For further details of the capital structure and to the objectives and methods of the finan-
cial risk management ≥ see Notes to the consolidated financial statements E) notes (45) and (53). 
 
Current and non-current liabilities totalled €16,379 k as at the reporting date (2012: €17,088 k). This constitutes 
31% of total assets. Current liabilities include trade payables amounting to €1,419 k (2012: €719 k), other financial 
liabilities totalling €3,651 k (2012: €2,888 k), which comprise the short-term share of the liabilities in connection with 
the transfer of future cash flows from the 2% Eligard sales share to Cowen totalling €1,044 k (2012: €927 k) as well 
as deferred income of €22 k (2012: €68 k). In the previous year, the current liabilities also included tax liabilities of 
€642 k. The liabilities arise from outstanding invoices and services utilised by Medigene. Non-current liabilities com-
prise the long-term share of the above-mentioned royalty share transferred to Cowen of €10,356 k (2012: €11,906 k), 
other financial liabilities totalling €291 k (2012: €258 k), pension obligations amounting to €304 k (2012: €303 k) and 
deferred income of €336 k (2012: €304 k). 
 
Working capital, the difference between current assets and current liabilities was down from €19,756 k (2012) to 
€11,171 k (2013), primarily as a result of a decline in cash and cash equivalents ≥ see Notes to the consolidated fi-
nancial statements E) note (44). 
 
Overall statement 
In the 2013 financial year, Medigene achieved an increase in revenue of 21% to €7.6 m and the EBITDA loss from 
continued operations fell by 12% to €8.3 m. Through the signing of a global partnership for EndoTAG-1 in 2013, 
Medigene has secured financing for the planned clinical phase III trial of this cancer drug candidate. The same applies 
for the funding of the clinical development of RhuDex in the autoimmune disease PBC through a licence agreement 
signed with Falk Pharma in March 2014. Through the acquisition of Trianta Immunotherapies GmbH at the beginning 
of 2014, Medigene has strengthened its pipeline for the future. Future success and achieving profitability will depend 
on operating progress, strategic decisions by the company and on attracting external funding, e.g. through partner-
ships or capital measures, and is not yet secured ≥ see Financing risks in Risk report on page 45. 

EMPLOYEES 

Number of employees in the Group  
As at the end of 2013, the number of employees was 51 (2012: 53). The number of full-time equivalent employees 
(FTEs) as at 31 December 2013 was down to 48 at the end of 2013 (2012: 49). Personnel expenses fell by 6% in the 
reporting period to €5,493 k (2012: €5,818 k).  
 
EMPLOYEES BY REGION  
 31 DEC 2013 31 DEC 2012 CHANGE 

Medigene AG, Planegg/Martinsried 48 50 -4% 
Medigene, Inc., San Diego 3 3 0% 
Total 51 53 -4% 
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REMUNERATION OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD AND SUPERVISORY BOARD 

Executive Board remuneration 
Remuneration of members of the Executive Board in the past financial year totalled €1,030 k (2012: €1,035 k) includ-
ing pension expenses of €48 k (2012: €52 k) and vehicle leasing costs for company cars of €29 k (2012: €31 k). In 
addition, stock options with a total fair value of €31 k (2012: €34 k) were issued to the Executive Board. Total remu-
neration of the Executive Board members comprises fixed and variable components as well as other remuneration. 
The fixed component includes remuneration which is not performance-related and is paid in monthly instalments. 
Variable remuneration includes an annual performance-based payment and stock options. The amount and composi-
tion of the remuneration paid to the individual members of the Executive Board is reported in the ≥ Notes to the con-
solidated financial statements I) note (59) on page 113 et seq., including a detailed remuneration report.  
 
Supervisory Board remuneration 
Supervisory Board remuneration amounted to €224 k in 2013 (2012: €255 k). The total remuneration paid to the 
members of the Supervisory Board comprises a fixed portion as well as meeting attendance fees. In addition, expens-
es are reimbursed. The greater scope of activities of the Supervisory Board Chairman and his Deputy are taken into 
account and reflected accordingly by higher remuneration. The amount of remuneration paid to individual members of 
the Supervisory Board and disclosures regarding subscription rights of the members of the Supervisory and Executive 
Boards are provided in the ≥ Notes to the consolidated financial statements I) notes (60) and (61) on page 118 et seq. 
Medigene AG's Supervisory Board was reduced from six to three members through a resolution taken by the AGM in 
July 2013.  

RISK REPORT 

Financial risks faced by Medigene 
Financing risks  

Since Medigene AG was founded in 1994, the Company has reported operating losses in almost every financial year, 
as expenses for research and development in the relevant years exceeded the corresponding revenue or gross profit. 
The future achievement of profitability depends on progress in terms of operations as well as Medigene’s strategic 
decisions and is not yet secured. 
 
Medigene’s present cash position and operating cash flow may possibly be insufficient to cover the expected invest-
ment expenses and working capital that will be required in the foreseeable future, covering approximately 18 months, 
which implies that the going concern of the Company and the Group is endangered. The ability to raise additional funds 
depends on financial, economic and other factors which, in the majority of cases, cannot be influenced by the Compa-
ny’s management. These factors also include the results achieved as part of Medigene’s research and development 
activities. Medigene may not always have sufficient funds under acceptable terms and conditions at its disposal when 
required. Should this be the case, Medigene may need to reduce its spending on research and development, production 
or marketing.  On the basis of current liquidity planning, the Executive Board assumes that it will be financed at least 
until the second quarter of 2015. Financing beyond this period will require further external financial resources. At this 
time the Executive Board considers it to be most likely that these funds will be raised early enough. Possible sources 
may be additional partnerships with pharmaceutical companies or capital measures. Regarding the planned develop-
ment in the coming financial years, we refer to the ≥ Financial forecast in Opportunities and Outlook on page 58 et 
seq. 
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Planning risks 

At least once a year, Medigene’s management prepares a detailed business plan incorporating the results of portfolio 
management and evaluation. This plan contains numerous assumptions relating to issues such as project progress, the 
outcome of clinical trials, the conclusion of new licensing agreements and development partnerships, the trend in 
product revenues and general conditions within the relevant pharmaceutical market segments. These assumptions 
may deviate substantially from actual future developments. Important prerequisites for achieving financial targets 
include the success of research and development activities as well as progress with the commercialisation of drugs 
and drug candidates. There is no guarantee that Medigene will achieve the product revenues, additional market ap-
provals and product launches as well as newly concluded development and marketing partnerships required to meet 
its financial targets. Medigene’s plans are based on assumptions regarding future research and development results 
and on estimates of the market and competitive environment. These assumptions may prove to be inaccurate. 
 

Risks inherent in the drug development and approval process 
Industry and market risks 

Medigene is subject to the typical industry and market risks inherent in the development of pharmaceutical products 
using innovative technologies. Experience shows that the development of a drug takes 10 to 15 years. In principle, 
there is a risk that some or all of Medigene’s products may not be developed or marketed successfully. There is also 
the possibility that some product candidates may fail to obtain the regulatory approval required for marketing or 
further development, that one or all of the product candidates turn out to be hazardous or ineffective, that not all the 
financing required to develop product candidates can be raised, that the products cannot be manufactured in large 
quantities or marketed profitably, or that they are not sufficiently competitive. Furthermore, proprietary rights held 
by third parties may pose an obstacle to marketing a product, or other companies may launch drugs that are superior 
in terms of quality or market price.  
 
Risks of unsuccessful drug development 

Prior to commercial use, Medigene’s drug candidates have to pass through the preclinical development stages, fol-
lowed by the individual phases of clinical trials with patients. In these trials, the effectiveness of the drugs and side 
effects are investigated. Once the preclinical and clinical trials have been concluded positively, the application for 
marketing approval can be submitted to the appropriate authorities. Once the application and data presented have 
been evaluated, the authorities decide whether or not to grant approval for marketing the particular product. There is 
a possibility that approval will be denied on the basis of the data submitted, or granted only on certain conditions, or 
that additional data will be required for a final decision on the product’s approval. Delays in a clinical trial or in patient 
recruitment may result in higher costs and delay the market launch. It is not possible to predict the results of preclini-
cal and clinical trials. Equally, the results of previous trials do not facilitate an accurate forecast of the outcome of 
future trials.  
 
Many pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, including Medigene, have experienced setbacks in clinical trials 
despite achieving promising results in earlier phases. Medigene works closely together with the regulatory authorities 
and performs an annual risk assessment for each project in discussion with in-house and external experts. The Com-
pany achieves risk diversification with a product portfolio which is based on different technological and scientific 
approaches that are independent of each other.  
 
The Company commissions specialised service providers to conduct the required clinical trials. Some of these con-
tracts include a right of cancellation for the respective service provider. Cancellation of a contract by a service pro-
vider might cause a serious delay in the execution of clinical trials and thereby prolong product development signifi-
cantly. Medigene places a great deal of importance on consulting only experienced and well-known service providers 
to undertake clinical trials. Nevertheless, it is possible that a service provider may fail to conduct a trial properly in all 
respects, which could also cause delays in development.  
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Approval risks 

For the reasons mentioned, there is a risk of Medigene not being granted market approval for its drug candidates. 
However, even if market approval is granted, such approval may be contingent on the fulfilment of certain obligations 
which may be detrimental to the marketability of the product or products. Obligations may consist of additional clini-
cal trials or restrictions on the application of a product. Approval may, for instance, be granted only for a sub-group of 
patients. In addition, the holder of the approval must fulfil a multitude of regulatory duties, such as monitoring the 
approved drug’s safety. Even without additional requirements, approval obliges Medigene to set up and run an organi-
sation within the Company to fulfil these legal requirements.  
 
Approval of a drug for one particular regional market does not automatically mean that it will be approved for other 
markets. The individual regional and national markets are subject to different legal requirements that can vary signifi-
cantly in some cases. This also applies to the approval of a drug for treating different diseases. Adherence to approval 
requirements may delay and/or increase the cost of product commercialisation. 
 
Finally, there is the possibility of losing previously granted market approval for drugs in whole or in part if serious 
quality shortcomings or safety risks are subsequently ascertained. The risks mentioned may have a negative impact 
on the assets, financial and income position of the Company.  
 
Employees  

Medigene AG relies on its highly qualified research and development staff. There is intense competition among com-
panies to recruit employees with industry-specific expertise. Medigene’s commercial success will continue to depend 
on recruiting and retaining appropriately skilled employees for these areas. The possibility of a lack of qualified em-
ployees becoming an obstacle to Medigene’s growth cannot be ruled out, a fact that may adversely affect the Compa-
ny’s assets, financial and income position. 
 
Drug commercialisation risks 
Procurement risks  

A contract is in place with Japanese company Mitsui Norin for the production and supply of the active pharmaceutical 
ingredient for Veregen. The raw material, which consists of green tea leaves, is obtained from Chinese tea farms and 
is subject to the usual risks inherent in agricultural products, such as crop failures caused by environmental factors or 
the chemical and biological contamination of harvested crops.  
  
Supply bottlenecks may adversely affect Medigene’s business activities and consequently its assets, financial and 
income position. 
 
Reimbursement risks 

The commercial success of a drug's distribution also depends on whether and to what extent the costs for the ap-
proved drug are covered by public or private health insurance providers in individual countries. In the EU and many 
other countries, there are price controls and/or other limitations on the reimbursement of drug costs. Companies may 
even be forced to reduce the price of a drug in order to be included in such a reimbursement system. This risk affects 
Medigene indirectly, since the drug Veregen is marketed by sales partners, and Medigene receives royalties on the 
drug sales. 
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Competitive risks and risks of low drug sales 

The development and marketing of drugs are subject to fierce competition. This applies especially to the therapeutic 
areas of autoimmune diseases and oncology, which are the focus of Medigene’s activities. Given their commercial 
potential, these market segments are the focal point of the activities of numerous major pharmaceutical and special-
ised biotechnology companies as well as universities and other research facilities. The drugs developed by Medigene 
target serious diseases and/or unmet medical needs. A successful drug would have significant market potential for 
any of these indications. If a competitor were the first to launch a product successfully, the drug developed by Medi-
gene could become less competitive or even be placed in an inferior position, depending on the competing product’s 
profile and commercial success. Medigene’s portfolio strategy is designed to minimise such sales risks, although they 
cannot be ruled out completely. 
 
Medigene's drug Veregen is currently marketed and sold by partner companies. There are also plans to market fur-
ther drug candidates through existing or future partners. There is no guarantee that these partners are able to market 
and sell the drugs to the extent that Medigene expects. The Company has only limited influence on the partner com-
panies’ marketing activities. This limited influence could result in adverse effects on Medigene’s business activities 
and consequently its assets, financial and income position. 
 
The ability of Medigene or Medigene’s marketing partners to sell proprietary drugs on the market may also be ad-
versely affected by competing generic drugs. Generics are drugs launched on the market under the international non-
proprietary name or a new trade name after the patent for the original drug has expired. The marketing of generic 
drugs may also adversely affect the marketing of Medigene’s drugs.  
 
Risks of dependence on future cooperation agreements 

The Company uses the services of cooperation partners for marketing its products. These partners maintain their own 
sales and marketing organisations. Medigene also pursues cooperation with partner companies for developing drug 
candidates. If the Company fails to enter into cooperation agreements of this kind under favourable conditions, this 
may delay or hinder the Company’s ability to develop and market its products or make such activities unreasonably 
expensive. This may adversely affect the Company’s assets, financial and income position 
 
Development liability risks and product liability 

Medigene is exposed to the risk of substantial compensation claims in the event that a patient suffers adverse ef-
fects from participating in a clinical trial or taking a drug developed by Medigene. In particular, such compensation 
claims could exceed Medigene’s insurance coverage and consequently have a negative impact on the Company’s finan-
cial and income position, as well as its net cash. Although the procedures used in clinical trials are devised in such a 
way that potential adverse effects are identified and assessed, the possibility can never be ruled out that a drug may 
cause unexpected adverse side effects even after it has been approved. Such adverse effects may be detrimental to 
the drug’s safety profile and could be so severe that the drug has to be withdrawn from the market. 
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Legal risks and patent risks 
Patent risks 

Medigene’s success also depends on its ability to acquire comprehensive patents for its technologies and products, to 
protect its trade secrets, to defend infringements effectively and assert its own rights without infringing the rights of 
third parties. To protect its legally patented technologies and products, Medigene also has confidentiality agree-
ments and contractual licence restrictions in place with its partners, employees, consultants and other contractual 
parties. 
 
There is no guarantee that patents will not be challenged, declared invalid or circumvented, or that they will be of 
commercial benefit to the Company. The Company intends to take appropriate action against any infringements and 
to continue expanding its technology and product portfolio. However, in the areas concerned, third parties may assert 
legally protected interests based on industrial property rights or cooperation, research and licence agreements. 
 
In June 2010, a third party opposed the granting of European Patent No. EP 1530465 to Medigene AG. The patent 
relates to the manufacturing process for EndoTAG-1 and to compositions that can be manufactured using this pro-
cess. In December 2011, the European Patent Office decided in a first-instance ruling to uphold the patent to an ex-
tent which continues to protect the product EndoTAG-1. In the course of opposition proceedings, Medigene AG had 
restricted its patent claims to the features that are relevant to EndoTAG-1. The opponent filed a notice of appeal 
against the decision of the European Patent Office. A decision in this appeal procedure is not expected until 2015. 
Medigene continues to assume that the patent will be upheld with a scope which continues to protect the EndoTAG-1 
product. 
 
The European Patent EP2108362 was granted in May 2013 from a divisional application of the above-mentioned 
patent. The patent refers to specific liposomal compositions comprising taxanes with a specific stability. In February 
2014, an opposition against this patent was filed as well. The first decision in this opposition proceedings is not ex-
pected until mid-2015. The risk situation for the in intellectual property rights position for EndoTAG-1 remains basi-
cally unchanged compared to the preceding year, by the opposition to the newly issued patend EP2108362 filed. 
 
Legal risks 

In the past 12 months, no judicial disputes that could have a major influence on the Company's financial situation or 
that of its subsidiary were pending, nor is there currently a threat of any such dispute. 
 
Further judicial disputes cannot be rules out in future. 

OTHER INFORMATION 

Environmental and health protection 
Safety and environmental protection at a high level 

Medigene is committed to safety and environmental protection. The Company meets stringent statutory require-
ments and also strives to keep its laboratory facilities and equipment state-of-the-art. In order to monitor compliance 
with regulatory requirements, Medigene has appointed an in-house officer for biological safety, a project manager in 
accordance with the provisions of the German Genetic Engineering Act (Gentechnikgesetz) as well as officers for 
infection prevention, safety and waste management, all of whom are experienced employees specifically trained for 
their specialist tasks. Medigene also employs a working safety specialist who has been trained in accordance with the 
guidelines of the statutory employers’ liability insurance scheme for the chemical industry. 
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Medigene’s laboratory systems are serviced on an ongoing basis and are continuously maintained and expanded. Me-
digene enlists the help of external service providers to ensure that all accumulated waste materials are properly sort-
ed and disposed of professionally or recycled in accordance with requirements. In order to guarantee safety at work 
for each laboratory employee, the safety engineer performs hazard analyses and conducts training sessions. In addi-
tion, preventive medical check-ups are carried out at regular intervals. Medigene complies with all key requirements in 
respect of environmental protection and health and safety. The Company holds the requisite authorisations and per-
mits. The Company has passed all random inspections and tests carried out by the various authorities to date without 
any relevant objections.  
 
Notes on risk management pursuant to Section 315 (II) (2) and (5) of the German Commercial Code 
(Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB) 
Key features of the internal control and risk management system 

Medigene, the parent company, is a publicly traded stock corporation as defined in Section 264(d) of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB). A description of the key features of its internal control and risk management system in re-
spect of the accounting processes for both the associated companies and the Group is therefore required pursuant to 
Section 315 (II) (5) of the HGB. 
 
There is no statutory definition of the internal control and risk management system for the accounting processes 
relating to the individual companies and the Group. Medigene considers its internal control and risk management 
system to be comprehensive and bases its approach on the definitions of internal accounting control systems and risk 
management systems provided by the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany, Düsseldorf. This approach defines an 
internal control system as consisting of the principles, procedures and measures introduced in the Company by the 
management with the purpose of implementing management decisions in the organisation. These decisions pursue the 
following goals:  
 
≥ To deliver effective and efficient business activities (this also encompasses asset protection, including pre-

vention and detection of losses); 
≥ To ensure proper and reliable internal and external accounting; 
≥ To comply with the legal provisions applicable to the Company. 
 
The risk management system is the totality of all organisational regulations and measures introduced to identify and 
deal with the risks of entrepreneurial activity. 
 
The Executive Board bears overall responsibility for the internal control and risk management system in respect of 
the accounting processes of the associated companies and the Group accounting processes. All companies, divisions 
and departments included in the consolidated financial statements are covered by a defined leadership and reporting 
organisation. 
 
Medigene has defined the following principles and implemented the following processes: 
 
Principles, administration and controlling 

Entrepreneurial success involves taking risks and acting with the appropriate degree of responsibility. With this in 
mind, Medigene’s management utilises a risk management system that can be flexibly adapted to new situations and 
is subject to continuous review. Organisational safeguards have been established by separation of duties. Activities 
or business transactions involving amounts of over €25,000 which are risky are never carried out by one employee 
alone – in all such cases, several persons are generally responsible for the decision-making process and the decision 
itself. Operating instructions and workflows are standardised to ensure the consistent execution of each individual 
operation. IT risks are minimised by means of access restrictions and regulations for systems development and 
maintenance. Forms, worksheets and laboratory journals are used to fully record and document all data. Medigene’s 
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controlling department is responsible for target-orientated coordination of planning, information supply, and man-
agement and monitoring. In order to identify any deviations, projects undergo a monthly target-performance compari-
son, the results of which are regularly discussed with project managers and the Executive Board.  
 
Portfolio strategy to reduce overall risk  

Medigene’s overall risk with regard to its success and existence as a going concern is essentially determined by the 
individual risks arising in clinical development and product marketing, as well as entering into successful strategic 
partnerships with the pharmaceutical industry and corporate financing. The commercial success and future existence 
of the Company therefore depend primarily on successful drug development and product commercialisation, as well 
as prevailing conditions on the capital market. Medigene counters the intrinsically high risk that individual projects 
might fail by maintaining a product portfolio based on different technological and scientific approaches that are inde-
pendent of each other.  
 
Portfolio management and evaluation 

Medigene’s project portfolio is managed proactively and assessed at regular intervals. The management process in-
cludes drawing up development plans for each individual project. These are then adopted by a development commit-
tee and compliance with the plan is monitored by the Executive Board. The regular assessment of the individual pro-
jects is based on the analysis and evaluation of their opportunities and risks. This analysis and evaluation cover the 
technical risk as well as intellectual property and scientific hypotheses of potential competitors. Other areas covered 
by the assessment are clinical development considerations, market approval conditions, process development and 
portfolio strategy. Another significant element is the analysis of the current and future development of the segment 
of the drug market under consideration.  
 
Results are summarised in a scenario analysis that includes a profitability assessment based on discounted cash 
flows. This feasibility study then provides the basis for any decision relating to Medigene’s overall portfolio and fu-
ture strategic orientation of the company. Medigene is supported by internationally renowned scientists and pharma-
ceutical experts in its research and development activities. Such consultations are based on the most up-to-date 
findings from research and clinical application.  
 
Particular attention is devoted to patent-related work. Medigene’s paramount goal is to ensure comprehensive patent 
protection for technology and products in order to protect the Company from potential competitors. Medigene does 
not depend on any one technology or any one product, but it possesses a diversified portfolio which is safeguarded by 
means of far-reaching international patents that are either pending or have been granted. In addition, cooperation 
with external scientific institutes, universities and other companies provides access to state-of-the-art develop-
ments and technologies. 
 
Business planning and forecasting 

Medigene’s management regularly prepares a detailed business plan, at least once a year, incorporating the results of 
portfolio management and evaluation. This plan contains numerous assumptions relating to issues such as project 
progress, the outcome of clinical trials, the conclusion of new licencing agreements, the trend in product revenue and 
general conditions within the relevant pharmaceutical market segments. These assumptions may deviate substantial-
ly from actual future developments. In order to be able to manage the Company in spite of the resulting uncertainties, 
a variety of scenarios are developed regarding key assumptions with the aim of securing the Company’s financing over 
a period of at least 18 months from balance sheet date ≥ see Financial risks on page 45.  
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Adherence to the business plan is subject to continuous monitoring. The Company is managed on the basis of monthly 
target-performance comparisons. Furthermore, the business plan is adjusted as soon as there are any changes in the 
assumptions that have been made. A monthly liquidity and shareholders’ equity plan is also drawn up.  
 
Quality assurance 

Medigene’s quality assurance system complies with the requirements of the German Pharmaceuticals Act (Arzneimit-
telgesetz), the Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) guidelines as well as the guidelines on Good Clinical Practice 
(GCP) and Good Pharmacovigilance Practices (GVP). GMP contains quality assurance guidelines for all processes 
regarding the manufacture of medicinal products and active pharmaceutical ingredients. GCP encompasses require-
ments for quality assurance during clinical trials to protect trial participants and the quality of the trial results. GVP is 
centred on detecting, assessing, understanding and preventing side effects and other medicine-related issues. In 
addition, Medigene commissions preclinical trials of regulatory relevance to guarantee the quality and reliability of 
the data collected in line with good laboratory practice (GLP). Following these guidelines ensures compliance with 
defined standards in the development, production, testing, and monitoring of pharmaceutical products. Medigene has 
a large number of standardised workflows in the field of quality assurance at its disposal. 
 
Accounting control system 

Medigene considers those features of the internal control and risk management system that can significantly influ-
ence Group reporting and the overall statement in the consolidated financial statements, including the Group man-
agement discussion and analysis to be key with regard to the accounting processes of the consolidated companies and 
the Group accounting processes. They include, in particular, the following elements: 
 
≥ Identification of key risk zones and controlling areas relevant to the Group-wide accounting process; 
≥ Checks to monitor the Group-wide reporting system and its findings at the divisional and departmental levels 

and at the companies included in the consolidated financial statements; 
≥ Control measures for the finances and accounting of the Group and of those companies, units and divisions 

included in the consolidated financial statements that generate information which is fundamental to the prepa-
ration of the consolidated financial statements, including the Group management discussion and analysis. The-
se control measures include the separation of duties and pre-defined approval processes in the relevant divi-
sions; 

≥ Internal checks of the consolidated internal accounting control and risk management system by Management; 
 
Moreover, the Group has implemented a risk management system for Group-wide accounting that includes measures 
to identify and assess major risks, as well as measures designed to limit such risks in order to ensure that the consoli-
dated financial statements are properly prepared. 
 
Statements in accordance with Sections 289 (IV) and 315 (IV) of the German Commercial Code (HGB) 
and explanatory report 
No. 1: Composition of subscribed capital 

The Company's share capital as at 31 December 2013 amounts to €9,872,139.00 and is divided into 9,872,139 regis-
tered no-par shares representing a proportional share of the capital of €1.00 per share. Shareholders have no claim to 
certification of their shares, unless certification is required under the rules of a particular stock exchange on which 
the Company’s shares are listed for trading. In accordance with Section 67 (2) of the German Stock Corporation Act 
(AktG), only persons who have already been entered in the shareholders’ register are deemed to be shareholders in 
relation to the Company. All shares grant the same rights. Each share provides one vote at the Annual General Meeting 
and the same profit share. The detailed rights and obligations of shareholders result from the provisions of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act (AktG), in particular Sections 12, 53(a) et seq., 118 et seq. and 186 et seq. of the AktG. 
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No. 2: Restrictions on voting rights or the transfer of shares 

In the cases specified in Section 136 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the voting rights arising in connec-
tion with the relevant shares are excluded by law. We are not aware of any other restrictions relating to the exercise 
of voting rights or the transfer of shares. 
 
No. 3: Investments in capital exceeding 10% of the voting rights 

In accordance with the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG), every investor who achieves, exceeds or falls below a 
certain threshold for voting rights on the basis of buying or selling shares or by any other means must advise the Com-
pany and the German Financial Services Authority (BaFin) accordingly. The lowest limit in respect of this duty of noti-
fication is 3%. Medigene AG has not been notified of any direct or indirect investments in the share capital of Medi-
gene AG which amount to or exceed 10% of the voting rights, nor is the Company aware of such investments. 
 
No. 4: Shares that grant special control privileges 

The Company has not issued shares that grant special control privileges.  
 
No. 5: Nature of voting control if employees have a share in the capital and do not directly exercise their right of 
control 

Employees who hold Medigene AG shares exercise their control rights directly like any other shareholder in accord-
ance with the law and the Articles of Association. In the event that employees hold a share in the capital and do not 
directly exercise their right of control, voting control does not exist.  
 
No. 6: Statutory provisions and stipulations in the Articles of Association on the appointment and dismissal of 
members of the Executive Board and amendments to the Articles of Association 

The Executive Board of the Company, in accordance with Section 7 (I) of the Articles of Association, consists of one or 
more persons and is appointed, in accordance with Section 84 (I) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), by the 
Supervisory Board for a period of no more than five years. Reappointments or term extensions are permissible, in 
each case for a maximum period of five years. The Supervisory Board appoints one of the members of the Executive 
Board as Chief Executive Officer. In accordance with Section 84 (III) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the 
Supervisory Board may also revoke the appointment of a member of the Executive Board and the appointment of the 
Chief Executive Officer on important grounds. Such grounds include gross breach of duty, inability to duly manage the 
Company and vote of no confidence by the Annual General Meeting – unless the vote of no confidence was evidently 
based on unrelated reasons. If a required member of the Executive Board is missing, the relevant member is appointed 
by the courts upon request by one of the parties concerned in urgent cases, in accordance with Section 85 of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act (AktG). 
 
Provisions regarding amendments to the Articles of Association are contained in Sections 179 and 133 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act (AktG). Under these provisions, any amendment to the Articles of Association requires a reso-
lution of the Annual General Meeting for which a simple majority is needed and which at least three quarters of the 
capital represented at the time of the resolution must approve, unless the Articles of Association specify a different 
capital majority. Section 18 (I) of the Company’s Articles of Association stipulates that shareholders’ resolutions must 
be adopted by a simple majority of the votes cast, unless a larger majority is compulsory by law. This would be the 
case when, for example, setting up authorised capital (Section 202 (I) (2) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG)) 
or conditional capital (Section 193 (I) (1) of the Act) and issuing non-voting preferred shares (Section 182 (I) (1) and 
(2) of the Act), each of which requires a three-quarters majority of the capital represented at the vote on the resolu-
tion. The Supervisory Board has the right to make amendments to the Articles of Association, provided they affect 
only the wording.  
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No. 7: Powers of the Executive Board, especially with regard to issuing and repurchasing shares  

In accordance with Section 76 (I) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the Executive Board shall manage the 
Company on its own authority and in accordance with Section 78 (I) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), it 
represents the Company in and out of court and, with regard to issuing and repurchasing shares, it is authorised as 
follows:  
 
a) Authorised capital 
By a shareholders' resolution dated 10 July 2012 entered into the Company Register on 9 August 2012, Medigene's 
Annual General Meeting created authorised capital of €18,541,379.00 and adjusted Section 5 (IV) of the Articles of 
Association accordingly. Through the resolution, the Executive Board of Medigene is authorised – with the approval of 
the Supervisory Board – to increase the share capital of Medigene by a total of up to €18,541,379.00 until 9 July 2017 
on one or more occasions against payment in cash or in kind (»authorised capital I«, described in the Medigene's Com-
pany Register as authorised capital 2012/I). The Executive Board of Medigene is authorised – with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board – to exclude the subscription right of shareholders one or several times, for example when new 
shares are issued against payment in kind. The authorised capital still amounted to €16,135,579.00 as at 31 Decem-
ber 2013 after partial use of the authorisation. However, the Executive Board of Medigene undertook at the Annual 
General Meeting of 16 July 2013, only to use the authorised capital in line with the restrictions as set out in Item 8 (3) 
of the invitation to this Annual General Meeting. In light of this, Medigene still had authorised capital of 
€4,033,894.00 at its disposal as at 31 December 2013. After the acquisition of Trianta Immunotherapies GmbH in 
January 2014, Medigene partly used its authorised capital (authorised capital 2012/I) to issue 1,017,811 new shares. 
Considering the above-mentioned shareholders‘ resolution dated 16 July 2013, authorised capital (authorised capital 
2012/I) totalling €3,016,083.00 is available.  
 
b) Conditional capital 
The Company's share capital was increased conditionally through a number of conditional capital items on 31 Decem-
ber 2013 by up to €16,318,510.00 overall, divided into up to 16,318,510 ordinary shares (approx. 44% of the share 
capital).  
 
The individual conditional capital items were as follows: conditional capital I of up to €136,897.00 (1997), conditional 
capital II of up to €106,429.00 (1998), conditional capital III of up to €125.00 (2000), conditional capital IV of up to 
€13,770.00 (2000), conditional capital V of up to €652,329.00 (2000 and 2001), conditional capital VI of up to 
€3,000.00 (2000), conditional capital VIII of up to €3,000.00 (2001), conditional capital X of up to €3,000.00 (2002), 
conditional capital XI of up to €1,400.00 (2003), conditional capital XII of up to €498,560.00 (2003), conditional capi-
tal XVI of up to €300,000.00.00 (2006), conditional capital XVIII of up to €1,200,000.00 (2007), conditional capital 
XXII of up to €11,000,000.00 (2012) and conditional capital XXIII of up to €2,400,000.00 (2012).  
 
However, at the Annual General Meeting on 16 July 2013, the Executive Board of Medigene undertook only to utilise 
these individual conditional capital items in line with the restrictions on utilisation as indicated in Item 8 (3) of the 
invitation to the Annual General Meeting. 
 
The conditional capital items are divided into the same number of ordinary shares (no-par shares) in each case. 
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The purpose of the conditional capital items is: 
a) In the case of conditional capital I, II, V, XII, XVI, XVIII and XXIII, exclusively to issue new shares to holders of option 
or conversion rights which were issued within the scope of employee and management stock option programmes by 
the Company to members of the Executive Board, members of the management of affiliated companies in Germany 
and abroad, employees of the Company and employees of affiliated companies in Germany and abroad;  
 
b) In the case of conditional capital III, exclusively to service option rights arising from profit sharing bonds issued to 
Deutsche Ausgleichsbank Technologie-Beteiligungs-Gesellschaft mbH; 
 
c) In the case of conditional capital IV, exclusively to service option rights arising from contracts with IKB Na-
chrangkapital GmbH and Deutsche Ausgleichsbank Technologie-Beteiligungs-Gesellschaft mbH; 
 
d) In the case of conditional capital VI, VIII, X and XI, exclusively to issue shares to the holders of option rights which 
were granted to members of the Supervisory Board in accordance with the provisions of the shareholders’ resolutions 
of 15 May 2000, 23 May 2001, 22 May 2002 and 4 June 2003; 
 
e) In the case of conditional capital XXII, exclusively to issue new shares to the holders of conversion and option rights 
to be granted in accordance with the provisions of the shareholders’ resolution of 10 July 2012. 
 
Notes on authorised and conditional capital: 
The authorisations of the Executive Board to issue new shares from authorised capital described above and the condi-
tional capital items in connection with the associated resolutions for issuing convertible or warrant-linked bonds as 
outlined above are intended to enable the Executive Board to cover any need for capital that may arise and to take 
advantage of attractive financing options depending on the state of the market. The ability to pay for the acquisition 
of holdings in enterprises or the acquisition of enterprises or enterprise parts in individual cases by issuing shares of 
the Company to the seller allows the Company to expand without burdening its cash position. The issue of stock op-
tions secured by conditional capital is a component of the remuneration of employees and Executive Board members 
in German stock corporations. 
 
The Executive Board of Medigene undertook at the Annual General Meeting on 16 July 2013 only to utilise the author-
ised capital in accordance with the restrictions on utilisation as set out in Item 8 (3) of the invitation to the Annual 
General Meeting.  
 
c) Buyback of shares 
The Executive Board may acquire shares in the Company in the cases mentioned in Section 71 (I) of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG). The Executive Board is not currently authorised to repurchase the Company’s shares pursuant 
to Section 71 (I) (8) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). The Company does not hold any treasury shares at 
the moment. 
 
No. 8: Significant Company agreements that are conditional on a change in control as a result of a takeover bid 

No such arrangement exists. 
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No. 9: Compensation agreement with members of the Executive Board or employees in the event of a takeover bid 

The contract of employment for Dr. Frank Mathias, who has been an Executive Board member since 1 April 2008 and 
Chief Executive Officer since 29 April 2009, and the contract of employment for Peter Llewellyn-Davies, who has 
been an Executive Board member since 1 October 2012, include special termination rights for both the Company and 
the respective Executive Board members, applicable in the event of a change in control. For more detailed information 
≥ see Notes to the consolidated financial statements I) note (59) on page 113 et seq. 
 
Statement on corporate governance pursuant to Section 289a of the German Commercial Code (HGB) 
The corporate governance report and statement on corporate governance pursuant to section 289a HGB of the Ger-
many Commercial Code (HGB) along with a description of the procedures followed by the Executive Board and the 
Supervisory Board are publicly available on the Company's website at http://www.medigene.com/media-
investors/corporate-governance. 
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MAJOR EVENTS SINCE THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD 

The following major events in terms of corporate development have occurred in 2014 to date: 
 
Acquisition of Trianta Immunotherapies GmbH and appointment of new Chief Scientific Officer 
Medigene announced the acquisition of the Munich-based company Trianta Immunotherapies GmbH on 27 January 
2014. Trianta, which was spun off from the Helmholtz Centre in Munich, has three highly innovative, complementary 
immunotherapy platforms with programs in clinical development for the treatment of various types of cancer. Tri-
anta's proprietary platforms will strengthen Medigene's advanced drug pipeline through cutting-edge therapy ap-
proaches. Professor Dolores J. Schendel, Managing Director of Trianta and Head of the Institute for Molecular Immu-
nology at the Helmholtz Centre in Munich, is intended to join the Executive Board of Medigene as Chief Scientific 
Officer on 1 May 2014 and will be accompanied by her team of 15 immunotherapy specialists from the Helmholtz 
Centre in Munich. 
 
As part of the acquisition, Medigene acquired 100% of Trianta's shares. Trianta's previous shareholders received 
1,017,811 new Medigene shares worth around €4 m and will receive potential incremental payments in Medigene 
shares or in cash up to a maximum total of €5,875 m upon achievement of future milestones. Through the partial use 
of its authorised capital, Medigene has issued 1,017,811 new shares with a lock-up period of 12 months. This capital 
measure of €9,872,139.00 has led to an increase in Medigene's share capital of €1,017,811.00 to €10,889,950.00 m.  
 
Licence agreement with Falk Pharma for RhuDex in hepatology and gastroenterology 
On 18 March 2014, Medigene has signed an exclusive global licence agreement with pharmaceutical company, Dr. Falk 
Pharma GmbH for the development and commercialisation of its drug candidate RhuDex for indications in hepatolo-
gy and gastroenterology. Falk Pharma will assume responsibility and all costs relating to the clinical development and 
marketing of RhuDex in these therapeutic areas. Medigene will receive an upfront payment and future milestone 
payments from Falk Pharma, plus double-digit royalties on sales of RhuDex. Falk Pharma will initially concentrate on 
development in primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC). Medigene retains the rights for RhuDex in rheumatoid arthritis, psori-
asis and other autoimmune diseases. 
  

http://www.medigene.de/
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OPPORTUNITIES AND OUTLOOK 

Products on the market 
The following objectives are planned for the Marketed Products segment. 
 
Veregen  

Medigene expects the market launch of Veregen in 2014 in numerous other countries, especially in Europe. The 
Company is planning to file for approval in a further seven to nine European countries under the mutual recognition 
procedure in the second half of 2014. Medigene is planning to conclude further partnerships for the international 
commercialisation of Veregen. Medigene expect a double-digit percentage increase in Veregen sales in 2014.  
 
Development projects 
The following developments are planned for the Drug Candidates segment:  
 
EndoTAG-1  

SynCore is planning a pivotal international phase III trial of EndoTAG-1 with Medigene in the indication triple-
negative breast cancer (TNBC). SynCore bears the costs of the trial and is planning to start the study end of 2014.  
 
RhuDex  

After the signing of a licence agreement for RhuDex in March 2014, Falk Pharma is preparing the clinical develop-
ment of the drug candidate in the indication primary biliary cirrhosis. Under the terms of the licence agreement, Falk 
Pharma gets the rights to RhuDex in hepatology and gastroenterology and will bear all development and marketing 
costs for RhuDex in these therapeutic areas.  
 
DC vaccines 

The current investigator initiated trials (IITs) being conducted at the University Hospital in Oslo (phase II trial in pros-
tate cancer) and at the University Hospital in Munich (phase I/II trial in AML) will continue. Medigene plans to initiate a 
further clinical study in AML(acute myeloid leukaemia) in 2014.  
 
TCR-modified T cells  

The development of a GMP-compliant manufacturing process for the adoptive T cell therapy using TCR-modified  
T cells will be continued. Clinical development of the first product candidates is in preparation and first preparatory 
talks with the authorities have already taken place and are ongoing.  
 
TABs 

Preclinical development of the anti-TCR monoclonal antibodies (TABs) continues with the aim of achieving proof of 
principle. 
 
AAVLP technology  

The current preclinical development in cooperation with Pennsylvania State University aims to demonstrate long-
term protection against infection from various types of HPV. AAVLP technology is available for partnerships and for 
out licensing. 
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OBJECTIVES ACHIEVED IN 2013 
 OBJECTIVES 

 
STATUS AT THE END OF 2013 

Marketed products 
Veregen® 
 

Market launch in additional countries achieved 
Market approval in additional countries achieved 
Conclusion of additional marketing partnerships achieved 

Drug candidates 
EndoTAG®-1 Conclusion of one or more development and marketing partnerships achieved 
RhuDex® Preparation of phase II trial achieved 
AAVLP technology Further validation through preclinical trials achieved 

 
FORECAST 
 OBJECTIVES 

 
SCHEDULED DATE 

Marketed products  
Veregen® 
 

Market launch in additional countries 2014 
Conclusion of additional marketing partnerships 2014 

Drug candidates 
EndoTAG®-1 Preparation of phase III trial 2014 

Start of phase III trial End of 2014 
RhuDex® Conclusion of a development and marketing partnerships achieved 
AAVLP technology Further validation through preclinical trials  2014 
DC vaccines IITs in prostate cancer (phase II) and AML (phase I/II) 2014 
 Start of a further clinical trial 2014 
TCR Further development of a GMP-compliant manufacturing process 2014 

Further preparatory talks with authorities for preparation of clinical development  2014 
TABs Continuation of preclinical development 2014 

 
Financial forecast for 2014  
Medigene expects a double-digit percentage increase in total revenue in 2014 (2013: €7.6m). Revenue from Veregen 
is likely to amount to €5 - 6 m (2013: €4.2m). In addition, Medigene expects to generate other revenue consisting 
mainly of reimbursements of development costs for EndoTAG-1 by SynCore and of non-cash payments from Cowen. 
The EBITDA loss in 2014 is likely to be reduced to €4 - 6 m (2013: €8.3 m).   
 
Based on the current business planning and resulting scenarios, Management expects that Medigene will be financed 
at least until the second quarter of 2015. Financing beyond this period will require further external financial resources 
and the Executive Board assumes that these funds will be obtained. Possible sources may be additional partnerships 
with pharmaceutical companies or capital measures.  
 
Future sourcing 
Medigene will continue to source the drug Veregen through contract manufacturers in Japan and Germany in 2014.  
 
Dividends  
In view of the current earnings situation, Medigene will not distribute a dividend. In the medium-term, Medigene will 
invest available funds for the development of drugs. Dividend payouts are therefore not likely for the time being. 
  



60 GROUP MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

THE EXECUTIVE BOARD 

 
Planegg/Martinsried, 18 March 2014 
Medigene AG 
 
 
Dr. Frank Mathias 
Chief Executive Office 
 
 
 
Peter Llewellyn-Davies 
Chief Financial Officer 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
OF MEDIGENE AG FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2013 AND 2012 

 
IN € K NOTE 2013 2012 

Product sales  4,209 3,384 
Other operating income  3,383 2,900 
Total revenue (27) 7,592 6,284 

Cost of sales (28) -1,735 -1,250 
Gross profit  5,857 5,034 

Selling expenses (29) -3,121 -2,271 
General and administrative expenses (30) -5,152 -5,638 
Research and development expenses (31) -6,605 -7,399 
Other expenses (32) 0 -6,166 
Operating result  -9,021 -16,440 

Interest income (33) 24 55 
Interest expense (33) -1,577 -1,260 
Foreign exchange gains  412 689 
Share of result of an associate (41) -102 -59 
Income from revaluation of an investment  0 2,220 
Result from continued operations before tax  -10,264 -14,795 

Taxes (47) -18 -82 
Result from continued operations   -10,282 -14,877 

Revenue from discontinued operations  0 5,032 
Selling expenses from discontinued operations   0 -14 
Result from discontinued operations  0 5,018 

Net result for the year  -10,282 -9,859 

    
Basic and diluted earnings per share from continued operations in €1) (34) -1.07 -1.60 
Basic and diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations in €1) (34) 0 0,54 
Basic and diluted gain/loss per share in €1) (34) -1.07 -1.06 
1) Following capital reduction in 2013, the earnings per share in the previous year was retroactively multiplied by 4.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE  
INCOME 
OF MEDIGENE AG FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2013 AND 2012 

 
IN € K NOTE 2013 2012 

Net result for the year  -10,282 -9,859 
Other comprehensive income    
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss  
in subsequent periods:    

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations1)  -54 -111 
Derecognition of deconsolidation1) (32) 0 6,166 
Available-for-sale financial assets1)  8 -3 
Subtotal  -46 6,052 
Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit or loss  
in subsequent periods:    

Revaluation of defined benefit plans1)  -1 0 
Subtotal  -1 0 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -47 6,052 

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -10,329 -3,807 
1) No income tax effects were incurred.  
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
OF MEDIGENE AG AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2013 UND 2012 

ASSETS 
IN € K NOTE 31 DEC 2013 31 DEC 2012 

A.  Non-current assets    
I. Property, plant and equipment (38) 405 604 

II. Intangible assets (39) 26,958 27,369 
III. Goodwill (37) 2,212 2,212 
IV. Financial assets (40) 3,929 3,895 
V. Investment in an associate (41) 2,513 2,727 

VI. Other assets (43) 375 375 
Total non-current assets  36,392 37,182 
    
B.  Current assets    

I. Inventories (42) 3,046 2,205 
II. Trade accounts receivable (43) 1,363 1,139 

III. Cash and cash equivalents (44) 10,166 20,113 
IV. Other current assets (43) 1,688 616 

Total current assets  16,263 24,073 
    
Total assets  52,655 61,255 
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LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
IN € K NOTE 31 DEC 2013 31 DEC 2012 

A.  Shareholder’s equity    
I. Subscribed capital (45) 9,872 37,082 

II. Capital reserve  373,586 343,938 
III. Accumulated deficit  -347,007 -336,724 
IV. Other reserves  -175 -129 

Total shareholder’s equity  36,276 44,167 

    
B.  Non-current liabilities    

I. Financial liabilities (4) 10,356 11,906 
II. Pension obligations (46) 304 303 

III. Other financial liabilities  291 258 
IV. Deferred income (49) 336 304 

Total non-current liabilities  11,287 12,771 

    
C.  Current liabilities    

I. Trade accounts payable (48) 1,419 719 
II. Other current liabilities (48) 3,651 2,888 

III. Deferred income (49) 22 68 
IV. Tax liabilities (47) 0 642 

Total current liabilities  5,092 4,317 

Total liabilities  16,379 17,088 

Total liabilities and shareholder’s equity  52,655 61,255 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
OF MEDIGENE AG FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2013 AND 2012 

 
IN € K  2013 2012 

Cash flows from operating activities    
Net result for the year (before tax)  -10,264 -9,777 
Non-cash adjustments to reconcile net result before tax to net cash flows:    

Share-based compensation  60 90 
Effect from foreign currency translation  0 6,166 
Other non-cash income  -2,493 -1,870 
Depreciation and amortisation  751 847 
Gain/losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment  2 -12 
Interest income  -24 -55 
Interest expense  1,577 1,260 

Changes in:    
Inventories  -842 -2 
Other assets and accounts receivable  -1,317 -1,372 
Trade accounts payable  700 -1,054 
Other liabilities and deferred income  151 -756 

Income tax expense  -661 -69 
Share of result of an associate  102 59 
Subtotal  -12,258 -6,545 

Interest received  12 45 
Interest paid  0 -7 
Net cash used by operating activities  -12,246 -6,507 

Cash flows from investing activities    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  -142 -270 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  0 15 

Net cash used by investing activities  -142 -255 

Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from capital increase  2,406 0 
Expenses on capital increase and capital reduction  -28 0 
Proceeds from financial liabilities  0 14,094 

Net cash from financing activities  2,378 14,094 

Increase/Decrease in cash and cash equivalents  -10,010 7,332 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  20,113 12,811 
Foreign exchange differences  63 -30 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  10,166 20,113 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES  
IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
OF MEDIGENE AG FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2013 AND 2012 

 
IN € K NUMBER OF 

SHARES 
SUBSCRIBED 

CAPITAL 
CAPITAL 

RESERVE 
ACCUMULATED 

DEFICIT 
CURRENCY 

TRANSLATION 
FINANCIAL 

ASSETS 
TOTAL SHARE-

HOLDERS’ 
EQUITY 

 
Balance at 1 Jan 2012 
as reported 37,082,758 37,082 343,848 -326,817 -6,178 -3 47,932 
First-time application of  
IAS 19 R    -48   -48 
Balance at 1 Jan 2012  
adjusted 37,082,758 37,082 343,848 -326,865 -6,178 -3 47,884 
Net result for the year    -9,859   -9,859 
Other comprehensive income     6,055 -3 6,052 
Comprehensive income       -3,807 
Share-based compensation   90    90 
Balance at 31 Dec 2012 37,082,758 37,082 343,938 -336,724 -123 -6 44,167 
        
Balance at1 Jan 2013 37,082,758 37,082 343,938 -336,724 -123 -6 44,167 
Net result for the year    -10,282   -10,282 
Other comprehensive income    -1 -54 8 -47 
Comprehensive income       -10,329 
Shares issued 2,405,800 2,406     2,406 
Expenses on shares issued   -14    -14 
Capital reduction -29,616,419 -29,616 29,616    0 
Expenses on capital reduction   -14    -14 
Share-based compensation   60    60 
Balance at 31 Dec 2013 9,872,139 9,872 373,586 -347,007 -177 2 36,276 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATE-
MENTS 
OF MEDIGENE AG, PLANEGG/MARTINSRIED, GERMANY, FOR THE FINANCIAL  YEAR 2013 

A) DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS ACTIVITY, INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY 

Medigene AG, Planegg/Martinsried, Germany, is a biopharmaceutical company that specialises in the research and 
development of innovative drugs to treat cancer and autoimmune diseases and has one drug on the market. 
 
The Group’s main activities are described in ≥ note H) »Segment reporting«. 
 
Medigene AG was founded in 1994 in Planegg/Martinsried near Munich, Germany, with share capital of €26 k. In 1996, 
the Company was converted into a stock corporation. Its headquarters are located at Lochhamer Strasse 11, 82152 
Planegg/Martinsried, Germany. The Company is registered in the Commercial Register of the Munich Local Court 
under HRB 115761. Medigene AG has been listed since June 2000 (German Stock Exchange, Regulated Market, Prime 
Standard; SIN A1X 3W0; code MDG1).  
 
In addition to the parent company, Medigene AG in Planegg/Martinsried, the Medigene Group (hereinafter referred to 
as »Medigene«) includes the wholly owned subsidiary Medigene, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA, which was acquired in 2001, 
and, since its acquisition in January 2014, the wholly owned subsidiary Trianta Immunotherapies GmbH, Munich (here-
inafter referred to as »Trianta«) ≥ note (55). Medigene is managed by the Executive Board of the parent company, 
Medigene AG. The subsidiary's management reports directly to the Group's Executive Board. 
 
Financing risks  

Since Medigene AG was founded in 1994, the Company has reported operating losses in almost every financial year, 
as expenses for research and development in the relevant years exceeded the corresponding revenues or gross profit. 
The future achievement of profitability depends on progress in terms of operations as well as Medigene’s strategic 
decisions and is not yet secured. 
 
Medigene’s present cash position and operating cash flow may possibly be insufficient to cover the expected invest-
ment expenses and working capital that will be required in the foreseeable future, covering approximately 18 months, 
which implies that the going concern of the Company and the Group is endangered. The ability to raise additional funds 
depends on financial, economic and other factors which, in the majority of cases, cannot be influenced by the Compa-
ny’s management. These factors also include the results achieved as part of Medigene’s research and development 
activities. Medigene may not always have sufficient funds under acceptable terms and conditions at its disposal when 
required. Should this be the case, Medigene may need to reduce its spending on research and development, production 
or marketing. On the basis of current liquidity planning, the Executive Board assumes that it will be fully financed at 
least until the second quarter of 2015. Financing beyond this period will require further external financial resources. 
At this time the Executive Board considers it to be most likely that these funds will be raised early enough. Possible 
sources of capital may be additional partnerships with pharmaceutical companies or capital measures.  
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B) ACCOUNTING AND VALUATION PRINCIPLES 

(1) Basic principles for preparing the consolidated financial statement 

The consolidated financial statements are basically prepared using the historical cost principle. Exceptions to this 
rule are available-for-sale financial assets, derivative financial instruments and assets acquired in the course of busi-
ness combinations. The consolidated annual financial statements are prepared in German and in euro. All figures are 
rounded to the nearest thousand euro (€ k), unless otherwise stated.  
 

(2) Statement of compliance with IFRS and the requirements of Section 315a of the German Commer-
cial Code (HGB) 

As a parent company geared to the capital markets within the meaning of Article 4 of Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002, 
the Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as applicable in the EU. 
 
The Company’s Executive Board is of the opinion that these consolidated financial statements reflect all business 
transactions required to present the assets, financial and income position for the periods which ended on 31 Decem-
ber 2012 and 2013 respectively. Additionally, these consolidated financial statements meet the requirements of 
section 315a of the German Commercial Code (HGB). 
 
These consolidated financial statements of Medigene AG for the financial  year ending on 31 December 2013 were 
prepared and approved for publication by the Executive Board on 18 March 2014. 

(3) Changes in accounting, valuation, and reporting principles 

In the reporting period, the Company reclassified existing rent deposit guarantees vis-à-vis lessors totalling €374 k to 
other non-current assets to reflect the term of the lease agreement. The comparative balance sheet as at 31 Decem-
ber 2012 was adjusted accordingly.   
 
Medigene has made no other changes to accounting and valuation methods beyond the application of the new and 
amended accounting standards and new interpretations of standards described below. 
 
1) First-time application of new and revised accounting rules 

Medigene applied certain standards and amendments for the first time which required an adjustment of the previous 
year’s financial statements. They included IAS 19 »Employee Benefits« (revised in 2011) and the amendments to  
IAS 1 »Presentation of the Financial Statements«. In addition, the application of IFRS 13 »Fair Value Measurement« 
resulted in expanded disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. Some other amendments were 
applicable for the first time in 2013: changes to IFRS 7 »Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities« as well 
as the annual improvements to IFRS Cycle 2009-2011 (Fourth Omnibus Edition). However, they have no impact on the 
consolidated financial statements.  
 
Amendments to IAS 1 
In June 2011, the IASB published amendments to IAS 1 »Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income«. The 
current change concerns the grouping of items of other income. Subtotals are required for items which may be posted 
via the income statement through profit or loss in future (known as recycling), (including gains and losses from availa-
ble-for-sale financial assets and exchange differences on translation of foreign business operations) and those which 
will not be reclassified (including translation adjustments from the revaluation of defined benefit plans). In addition,  
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the relevant tax effects must be presented separately for these two new categories under other comprehensive in-
come. The amendments only affect the presentation and have no impact on the assets, financial and income position 
of the Group. 
 
Amendments to IAS 19 (IAS 19 R, revised in 2011) 
In June 2011, the IASB published amendments to IAS 19. The amendments essentially relate to the removal of the 
existing option regarding actuarial gains and losses in favour of direct recognition in other income under shareholders’ 
equity. The amounts accumulated under shareholders’ equity remain there and are not assigned to the income state-
ment in subsequent reporting periods. Consequently, the income statement will permanently remain free of the ef-
fects of actuarial gains and losses in future. Another amendment consists in the same interest rate being applied in 
future when determining the expected return on plan assets as is used for discounting pension obligations. In addition, 
any past unrecognised service costs will also be recognised in full through profit or loss in the period during which 
changes to the plan occurred. Furthermore, additional disclosures are required about the features of pension plans 
and the associated risks to the Company. Application of the amendments is mandatory for financial years starting on 
or after 1 January 2013. In accordance with the transitional provisions, Medigene applied IAS 19 (revised in 2011) 
with retroactive effect in the current reporting period. The opening balance sheet for the earliest comparative period 
presented (1 January 2012) and the comparative figures were adjusted accordingly. The impact of the amended 
standard is explained in ≥ note (46).   
 
IFRS 13 
In May 2011, the IASB published IFRS 13 »Fair Value Measurement«. This standard stipulates uniform requirements 
for determining the fair value. It defines the term fair value and standardises the disclosure requirements for meas-
urements at fair value of both financial and non-financial items. The new announcement came into force for financial 
years starting on or after 1 January 2013. Application of the standard had no significant impact on the measurement 
of the fair value in the Group. Detailed information and the hierarchy of fair values are provided in ≥ note (54). 
 
2) Future changes in accounting and valuation methods 

Application of the following accounting standards and amendments published by the IASB will only be mandatory for 
reporting periods starting on or after 1 January 2014. Medigene waives the early application of these standards. 
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STANDARDS/INTERPRETATIONS/AMENDMENTS 
 

DATE OF COMING INTO EFFECT 
(IASB) 

 

IFRS 10  
Consolidated Financial Statements  1 January 2014 
IFRS 11  
Joint Arrangements  1 January 2014 
IFRS 12  
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities  1 January 2014 
IFRS 10, IFRS 11 und IFRS 12  
Investment Companies: Transition Guidance  1 January 2014 
Amendments to IAS 27 (revised 2011) 
Separate Financial Statements   1 January 2014 
Amendments to IAS 28 (revised 2011) 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures  1 January 2014 
Amendments to IAS 32 
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities  1 January 2014 
Amendments to FRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27  
Investment Entities  1 January 2014 
Amendments to IAS 36 
Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets  1 January 2014 
Amendments to IAS 39 
Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting  1 January 2014 
Amendments to IAS 19 
Employee Benefits  1 July 2014 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 
2010-2012 Cycle (Fifth Omnibus Edition)  1 July 2014 
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 
2011-2013 Cycle (Sixth Omnibus Edition)  1 July 2014 
Amendments to IFRS 9 
Financial Instruments: Recognition, Classification and Measurement  1 January 2017 
 
The standards and interpretations indicated are not likely to result in any significant changes to the current account-
ing and valuation methods of the Company upon first-time application, with the following exceptions:  
 
To present a comprehensive picture of the potential impact of IFRS 9, the Company will only quantify the impact in 
conjunction with the other phases as soon as they have been published. 
  
The Company is currently analysing the potential impact of the first-time application of the new accounting standards 
IFRS 10 and IFRS 11 with regard to its existing cooperation, licensing and development agreements.  
 
As a new and comprehensive rule, IFRS 12 regulates the disclosure requirements for all types of interests in other 
entities, including joint agreements, associated companies, structured companies and off-balance sheet entities, and 
will entail far more extensive information in the consolidated financial statements.  
 

(4) Significant accounting judgments, estimates, and assumptions 

Preparing the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the generally recognised accounting principles 
requires that the Executive Board make judgments and estimates which influence the income, expenses, assets, liabil-
ities and contingent liabilities listed in the financial statements as per the balance sheet date. These estimates and 
assumptions are, of course, subject to considerable uncertainty which may result in significant adjustments to the 
carrying amounts of the relevant assets and liabilities in future reporting periods. 
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Discretionary judgments 

The company’s management made the following discretionary judgments which significantly impact the figures in the 
financial statements when applying the accounting and valuation methods.  
 
Recording specific sales transactions 
The management exercises its discretion when determining whether specific sales transactions essentially represent 
financing agreements, which means that no revenues are achieved on the basis of these transactions. With effect from 
1 April 2012, Medigene assigned future cash flows in connection with the 2% share in revenues from European Eli-
gard net sales from Astellas to Cowen Healthcare Partners II, L.P., USA (hereinafter referred to as »Cowen«) in return 
for a payment of $17.7 m (equivalent to €14.1 m at the time of cash inflow). The cash inflow from this transaction was 
treated as a financial liability and classified as financial liability valued at amortised cost. The assigned licence fee 
claims are realised pro rata (€208 k monthly) as other operating income over the Eligard patent term of approx. ten 
years with impact on income, and the financial liability associated with the assignment will be amortised, taking into 
account the interest. Financial liabilities include the long-term portion of the liability (2013: €10,356 k; 2012: 
€11,906 k). The short-term portion of the liability is reported under other financial liabilities (2013: €1,044 k; 2012: 
€927 k). For further details ≥ see notes (27), (33) and (54). 
 
Recording of one-time payments  
The recording of one-time payments requires an assessment of whether the agreed payment will be made for services 
rendered or for those still to be rendered. If, in the view of the management, all contractually agreed services have 
been performed and the remaining requirements for the realisation of revenues are met, the one-time payments are 
recognised immediately as income.  
 
Deferred tax assets from loss carryforwards 
The recognition of deferred tax assets requires certain assumptions to be made within the management’s discretion. 
They mainly concern the assessment of the circumstances and the period in which tax assets can be realised by the 
use of existing loss carryforwards. The management has decided not to recognise tax assets in the extent to which 
they exceed the tax liabilities, since the generation of taxable income in the future is connected with too much uncer-
tainty.  
 
Capitalisation of development expenses  
Development expenses must be capitalised if the requirements for this in accordance with IAS 38 are met. This re-
quires the management to make a number of estimates and assumptions. In the period ending on 31 December 2013, 
no development expenses were capitalised due to the fact that the management did not believe all the necessary 
requirements in accordance with IAS 38 had been met. This was due to the usual uncertainties in drug development 
and the unpredictability of regulatory provisions. 
 
Estimates and assumptions 

The most important assumptions regarding the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty as at the bal-
ance sheet date which entail an appreciable risk that it might become necessary to adjust the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial  year are explained below:  
 
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 
The Group examines at least once per year whether goodwill is impaired. This requires, among other things, estimating 
the value in use of the underlying research and development projects which are allocated to both the goodwill and the 
cash-generating units. As the projects are not yet available for use, they are tested for impairment once a year. In 
order to estimate the value in use, the management must assess the expected future cash flows of the individual pro-
jects and the chances of the underlying projects showing successful development and select an appropriate discount 
rate. Given the length of the planning periods (up to 21 years), the assumptions and forecasts associated with this are 
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subject to a significant degree of uncertainty. Please refer to ≥ note (37) for the methodology of the impairment test 
and its results and presentation. 
 
Fair Value   
Fair values are generally determined on the basis of market prices. The fair values of financial assets and liabilities for 
which no market prices can be determined are ascertained using valuation methods which include the discounted cash 
flow method. The input parameters incorporated in the model are based, wherever possible, on observable market 
data. If this is not possible, fair values are determined to a certain extent on the basis of discretionary judgments. 
These discretionary judgments concern input parameters such as liquidity risk, credit risk, and volatility. Changes in 
the assumptions relating to these factors could affect the fair values reported for the financial instruments. Medi-
gene has some measured financial assets and liabilities at fair value ≥ note (54). 
 

(5) Consolidation of subsidiaries 

Consolidation principles 

The consolidated financial statements are comprised of the individual financial statements of Medigene AG and its 
subsidiaries as per 31 December of any given financial  year. The financial statements of the companies within the 
reporting entity are prepared according to uniform accounting and valuation methods.  
 
All intragroup balances, transactions, income, expenses, and profits and losses arising from intragroup transactions 
included in the carrying amount of assets have been eliminated in full.  
 
Reporting entity 

There were no changes in the reporting entity compared with the previous year. The acquisition of Trianta ≥ note (55) 
which was completed after the reporting date is not consolidated. 
 
Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are all companies for which the Group has the capacity to determine financial and commercial policy.  
This regularly entails a share of over 50% in the voting rights. When it is being assessed whether there is a controlling 
interest, the existence and effect of potential voting rights that can be exercised or converted at that time are taken 
into consideration. Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements (full consolidation) starting at 
the point in time when the Group acquired a controlling interest. The consolidation is concluded as soon as the parent 
company no longer has control.  
 
SUBSIDIARY  
CONSOLIDATED COMPANY  
AS AT 31 DEC 2013 

   MEDIGENE, INC. 

Registered office   SAN DIEGO,USA 
Percentage of share in %   100 
Shareholders‘ equity in € k   1,457 
Net result for the year in € k     -195 
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(6) Investment in associates   

The Group’s investments in associates are reported at equity in accordance with IAS 28. An associate is an entity 
which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture, but over which the Group has control. 
 
Using the equity method, investments in associates are recognised in the balance sheet at acquisition cost plus the 
changes in the Group’s share of the associate’s net assets occurring after the acquisition. Goodwill relating to the  
associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither subject to scheduled amortisation nor a 
separate impairment test. 
 
The income statement reflects the Group’s share of the associate’s profit. The Group recognises its share of any 
changes reported directly in the shareholders’ equity of the associate and discloses this, if applicable, in the state-
ment of changes in shareholders’ equity. Unrealised gains and losses from transactions between the Group and the 
associate are eliminated in line with the interest in the associate. 
 
Using the equity method the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairing loss for its shares in 
an associate. At each balance sheet date, the Group determines whether there are any objective indications of im-
pairment of a share in an associate. If so, the impairment amount is determined as the difference between the recov-
erable amount of the share in an associate and the carrying amount, and the loss is recognised through profit and loss 
as »share of result of associates«. 
 
Associates 
Catherex, Inc. 
Medigene, Inc. holds 40.40% of the shares in Catherex, Inc. at the end of the reporting period and thus is the compa-
ny’s biggest shareholder. As part of the establishment of Catherex, Inc., Medigene, Inc. assigned the program to devel-
op cancer-killing oncolytic herpes simplex viruses (oHSV) to Catherex, Inc. In addition, Medigene is supporting the 
further development of the oHSV technology by appointing two members to the Board of Directors of Catherex, Inc. 
≥ note (41). 
 
ASSOCIATE 

 

ASSOCIATE  
AS AT 31 DEC 2013 

   CATHEREX, INC. 

Registered office   PHILADELPHIA, USA 
Percentage of share in %   40.40 
Shareholders‘ equity in € k1)   1,966 
Net result for the year in € k1)     -243 
1) 100% 
 

(7) Discontinued operations 

Discontinued operations are stated separately in accordance with IFRS 5 as soon as a division with business activities 
and cash flows that can be clearly delimited operationally from the remainder of the company for accounting purposes 
is classified as available for sale or has already been disposed of, and the division constitutes a separate and material 
line of business or regional business area, forms part of a coordinated overall plan to dispose of a specific and materi-
al line of business or regional business area, or is a subsidiary that was acquired solely with the intention of disposing 
of it.  
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In the income statement for the previous year’s reporting period, income and expenses from the discontinued opera-
tion that result from the disposal of European rights to the drug Eligard are shown separately from income and ex-
penses from continuing business operations and are stated separately in the consolidated statement of comprehen-
sive income as income and expenses of the discontinued operation ≥ see C) »Discontinued operations«.  
 

(8) Functional currency/foreign currency translation 

Foreign currency transactions and foreign business operations are reported in the consolidated annual financial 
statements of Medigene AG in accordance with IAS 21 »The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates«. 
 
Functional currency and reporting currency 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro, the functional currency of the parent company and re-
porting currency of the Group. Each company within the Group determines its own functional currency. The items 
included in the annual financial statements of the relevant company are measured on the basis of this functional cur-
rency. The functional currency of Medigene, Inc. is the US dollar ($). 
 
Transactions and balances 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates that applied on 
the date of the transaction. Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the transla-
tion of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency as per the exchange rate on the balance sheet 
date are recorded in the income statement. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rate that was in effect as per the time when the fair value was determined. The transla-
tion of receivables and payables not carried in the functional currency is carried out as per the daily exchange rate on 
the balance sheet date. Purchases and sales in foreign currencies are translated using the daily exchange rate as per 
the time of the transaction. Any resulting currency differences are included in the income statement.  
 
Group companies 

When foreign subsidiaries are consolidated, in principle, the balance sheet items are translated as per the exchange 
rates on the balance sheet date. The translation of income and expenses for the purposes of consolidation is carried 
out at the relevant transaction exchange rate on the date of the transaction. The resulting differences arising from 
currency translation are recognised directly in other comprehensive income. The amount included in other compre-
hensive income is reclassified in the income statement upon the disposal or deconsolidation of foreign subsidiaries  
≥ note (32). 
 
The following exchange rates were used in 2013 and as per the balance sheet date 31 December 2013: 
 
EXCHANGE RATES

  RATE AS AT CLOSING DATE  AVERAGE RATE FOR THE YEAR  

 31 DEC 2013 31 DEC 2012 2013 2012 

1 € in $ 1.37380 1.31560 1.32508 1.28263 
Source: Commerzbank AG, Reference Exchange Rates 
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(9) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are valued at acquisition cost in accordance with IAS 16 »Property, Plant and Equip-
ment« and are subject to regular depreciation and impairment using the straight-line method. Property, plant and 
equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their expected useful life or, in the case of leasehold im-
provements, over the contract lease period which may be shorter.  
 

Technical equipment and laboratory facilities 3 - 13 years 
Leasehold improvements 5 - 8 years 

 
Subsequent acquisition expenses are only included as part of the acquisition expenses of the asset or, if appropriate, 
as a separate asset if it is likely that future economic benefits resulting from these will flow to the Group and that the 
cost of the asset can be determined in a reliable manner. All other repairs and maintenance are charged as expenses 
to the income statement in the financial  year in which they are incurred. Upon the sale of property, plant and equip-
ment, the acquisition costs and the accumulated depreciation associated with these are removed from the accounts in 
the year of the disposal. Gains and losses on disposal are posted in other income and expenses and recognised in net 
profit or loss. The purchase and sale of property, plant and equipment within the Group is eliminated during the pro-
cess of consolidation. The useful life, the depreciation method, and the residual carrying amount are examined on each 
balance sheet date. 
 
Details on the development of property, plant and equipment can be found in the statement of fixed assets ≥ page 
124 et seq. 
 

(10) Intangible assets 

Accounting policies for intangible assets  

The accounting principles used for the Group’s intangible assets are summarised as follows: 
  

 TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS, PATENTS,  
LICENCES AND SOFTWARE 
 

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT  
PROJECTS ACQUIRED THROUGH  
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 
 

GOODWILL 

Useful life Limited to term of patent or 
contract 

Limited to term of patent  Indefinite 

Amortisation method 
Straight-line amortisation over 
patent or contract life; amortisa-
tion period up to 16 years 

Impairment test at least once a year, 
straight-line amortisation subsequent 
to market approval 

Impairment test at least once a 
year 

Internally developed or acquired Acquired Acquired Acquired 

 
Details on the development of intangible fixed assets can be found in the statement of fixed assets ≥ page 124 et 
seq. 
 
Technology rights, patents, licences and software 

Individually acquired intangible assets with a finite useful life are valued at acquisition cost. Any acquired technology 
rights, patents, licences and software, as well as research and development projects for which the licences have been 
acquired are capitalised as intangible assets if all three of the following criteria are met: 
 
→ The intangible asset can be identified. 
→ The Company is likely to derive future commercial benefits from the asset.  
→ The costs of the asset can be measured reliably. 
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The acquisition cost of an intangible asset acquired in the scope of a business combination equals the fair value as per 
the date of the company acquisition. Following their initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at acquisition or 
production cost less any amortisation and impairments accumulated. The useful life of intangible assets is basically 
defined as either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortised over their useful econom-
ic life and always assessed immediately if there are any triggering events. For intangible assets with a finite useful 
life, the amortisation period and amortisation method are examined at least at the end of every financial  year. 
 
Gains or losses arising from write-off of intangible assets are measured as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the income statement in the same period the 
asset is derecognised. 
 
Medigene has recognised patents and licences for patents at acquisition cost. The licences are amortised over the 
term of the patent. The capitalised patents and licences concern the product candidate EndoTAG-1. 
 
Research and development projects arising from business combinations 

The capitalised research and development projects acquired through business combinations relate to drug candidate 
RhuDex. They are capitalised at acquisition cost, which equals the fair value as per the date of the company acquisi-
tion. Following their initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at acquisition less any amortisation and impair-
ments accumulated. Regular amortisation of an intangible asset takes place as from the date at which the respective 
drug candidate has obtained market approval. Until that date, an annual impairment test is carried out. In addition, a 
further impairment test is carried out immediately if there are any indications of impairment. 
 
Goodwill 

The goodwill that usually arises from the acquisition of other companies is valued at acquisition cost upon initial 
recognition, which is measured in terms of the surplus of the total consideration assigned and the amount of the share 
without controlling interest over the acquired assets and liabilities identified of the group. After initial recognition, 
the goodwill is valued at acquisition cost less accumulated impairment expenses. Goodwill is examined for impairment 
at least once a year. An impairment test is also carried out if any events or circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may be impaired.  
 
The carrying amounts of goodwill are assigned to the cash generating unit RhuDex ≥ note (37). 
 

(11) Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Group establishes on each balance sheet date whether there are any indications of an impairment of non-financial 
assets. If there are such indications or an annual review of the value of an asset is required, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the relevant asset. The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of the fair value less 
selling expenses of an asset or cash-generating unit (CGU) less selling expenses and the value in use. The recoverable 
amount must be determined for each asset, unless an asset produces no cash inflows which are largely independent of 
those of other assets or other groups of assets. If the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds the recoverable 
amount in each case, the asset is impaired and written down to the recoverable amount. 
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To carry out an impairment test, the goodwill acquired as part of a business combination is allocated, starting on the 
date of acquisition, to the CGUs (cash-generating units) that benefit from the synergy effects. A CGU to which good-
will is allocated, 
 
→ represents the lowest level within the company in which the goodwill is monitored for the internal company man-

agement, and 
→ is no larger than a segment based on the primary or secondary reporting format of the Group as defined in IFRS 8 

»Segment reporting«. 
 
If the carrying amount of the CGU exceeds the recoverable amount, first the allocated goodwill and then the intangi-
ble assets allocated to this CGU are written down to this amount.  
 
The value in use calculation is based on cash flow forecasts adopted by the management and a discount rate before 
tax which reflects current market anticipations regarding impact on interest and the specific risks inherent in the 
asset or the CGU. The planning period under review encompasses development and approval, as well as the period of 
time commencing with market launch, for which patent terms of slightly over ten years are generally assumed. To 
determine the fair value less costs to sell, any recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transac-
tions have been identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. 
 
Impairment expenses relating to continued operations, including the impairment of inventories, are recognised 
through profit or loss in the expense categories which correspond to the function of the impaired asset in the  
Company.  
 
On each balance sheet date, a review is carried out for assets, with the exception of goodwill, in case there are indica-
tions that a previously stated impairment expense no longer exists or has decreased. If there are such indications, the 
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset or CGU. A previously recognised impairment expense is only 
reversed if a change in the assumptions on the basis of which the recoverable amount was determined has occurred 
since the last reported impairment expense. The increase in value is limited to the extent that the carrying amount of 
an asset must neither exceed its recoverable amount nor the carrying amount which would have resulted after taking 
into account scheduled amortisation if no impairment expense had been recognised for the asset in previous years. 
Any increase in value is recognised through profit or loss.  
 

(12) Financial assets 

Initial recognition  

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial assets which are held at fair value and recog-
nised as income, or as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity financial investments, or available-for-sale financial 
assets. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets upon initial recognition. 
 

Financial assets are initially entered at fair value. The fair value of financial investments traded on organised markets 
is determined by the market price (bid price) listed as per the balance sheet date. The fair value of financial invest-
ments for which there is no active market is determined using valuation methods. These include the use of the most 
recent business transactions between expert and independent business partners willing to enter into a contract, the 
comparison with the current fair value of another largely identical financial instrument, the analysis of the discounted 
cash flow, and the use of other valuation models.  
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Financial assets not included in the category of »assets at fair value through profit and loss« are initially recognised at 
fair value plus transaction costs. They are removed from the balance sheet if the rights to payments from the invest-
ment have expired and the Group has, for the most part, assigned all risks and rewards associated with ownership. 
 

All purchases and sales of financial assets requiring delivery of the assets within a period determined by regulations 
or conventions of the respective market (regular way purchases) are recognised on the trading date, i.e. the date on 
which the Group committed itself to purchasing or selling the asset.  
 
Subsequent measurement 

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows: 
 
a) Assets measured at fair value through profit and loss  
encompass (1) financial assets held for trading and (2) financial assets which are allocated to this category upon their 
initial recognition. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or 
buying back in the near future. They are reported on the balance sheet at fair value, with changes in the fair value 
shown net in the income statement under financial expenses or financial income. The Group includes cash and cash 
equivalents in financial assets held for trading. In the reporting periods, the Group had no investments that were clas-
sified at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition.  
 
b) Held-to-maturity investments  
are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed terms which the management  
intends and is able to hold until they fall due. In the reporting periods, the Group did not have investments in this cate-
gory. 
 
c) Loans and receivables  
are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not listed on an active market. These 
arise when the Group makes money, goods, or services directly available to a debtor with no intention of trading these 
receivables. They are included among current assets provided that their maturity does not exceed twelve months 
following the balance sheet date. Otherwise, they are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are 
included in the balance sheet under accounts receivable and in other assets.  
 
d) Available-for-sale financial assets  
are non-derivative financial assets either designated as available for sale or not classified in any of the categories 
already described. They are classified as non-current assets if the management has no intention of selling them within 
twelve months after the balance sheet date. Following initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are held 
at fair value with unrealised gains and losses being recognised directly in shareholders’ equity in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. If financial investments are disposed of and/or impaired, the cumulative gain or 
loss previously recorded in shareholders’ equity is assigned to the income statement. Within the framework of pen-
sion commitments, for example, capitalised financial assets which are not qualified as plan assets or the investment in 
Immunocore Ltd. are allocated to this category.  
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Impairment 

As per every balance sheet date, an examination is carried out as to whether there are any objective indications of a 
financial asset or a group of financial assets being impaired. In the event of shareholders’ equity instruments classi-
fied as available for sale, a significant or lasting decline in the fair value of these instruments below their acquisition 
cost is considered when determining to what extent the shareholders’ equity instruments are impaired.  
 

With regard to outstanding amounts from customer receivables valued at amortised acquisition cost, the company 
initially determines whether there is any objective indication of significant financial assets being individually impaired 
or of insignificant financial assets being individually or jointly impaired. If the group determines that there is no objec-
tive indication of impairment for an individually tested financial asset – significant or not – it incorporates the asset 
into a group of financial assets with comparable credit risk profiles and tests them jointly for impairment. Assets 
tested individually for impairment and for which a new or recurrent impairment is recorded are not included in a joint 
impairment assessment. Any determined impairment loss is recognised through profit and loss. 
 
Derecognition 

A financial asset (or, if applicable, part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecog-
nised if one of the following requirements is met: 
 

→ The contractual rights to receive cash flows from a financial asset have expired.  
→ The Group has assigned its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset to a third party or has 

assumed a contractual obligation to immediately pay the cash flow to a third party as part of an agreement that 
meets the condition in IAS 39 (pass-through agreement) and has thereby either (a) assigned all the significant 
risks and rewards associated with owning the financial asset or (b) neither assigned nor retained all the signifi-
cant risks and rewards associated with owning the financial asset but instead assigned control of the  
asset. 
 

(13) Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of purchase cost and net realisable value in accordance with IAS 2 »Inventories«. In 
the process, the acquisition costs are fundamentally determined on the basis of direct costs including incidental ac-
quisition costs.  
 

(14) Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand as well as bank credit balances with banks and bank deposits with an 
original maturity of up to three months. They are classified as financial assets held for trading and reported in the 
balance sheet at their present value. If a financial investment is to be classified as a cash equivalent, it must be possi-
ble to easily convert it into a particular cash amount. In addition, it must only be subject to insignificant value fluctua-
tions.  
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(15) Shareholders’ equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as shareholders’ equity. Costs that are directly attributable to the issue of new shares 
are included in shareholders’ equity net of tax as a deduction from the issue proceeds. 
 

(16) Share-based compensation: stock options  

As an incentive to share in the Group’s long-term success, its employees and the members of its Executive Board re-
ceive share-based compensation in the form of equity instruments. For this purpose, the Group has set up a share-
based compensation plan that is fulfilled by issuing new shares. These equity capital instruments, such as options, are 
stated in accordance with IFRS 2. The costs arising from granting these instruments are measured at fair value at the 
time they are granted. The fair value of stock options which Medigene grants as compensation for work performed by 
employees is recorded as an expense. The instruments are valued with the help of the binomial model. The binomial 
model takes into consideration freeze periods, exercise thresholds, the volatility of the underlying instrument, and 
interest rates among other things. The entire expense to be reported over the vesting period of the options is com-
prised of the fair value of the options at the time they were granted. The expenses resulting from the granting of 
shareholders’ equity instruments and the corresponding rise in shareholders’ equity are recognised over the period in 
which the exercise and performance conditions must be met (vesting period). This period ends on the first possible 
exercise date, i.e. the date on which the relevant employee is irrevocably entitled to subscribe. In individual cases, the 
benefit conditions have already been fulfilled upon issue of the stock options. In those cases, the expense is recorded 
upon granting of the options. No expenses are recognised for forfeited compensation rights.  
 

The estimated number of options expected to be exercised is examined on each balance sheet date. The effects of any 
possible changes to the original estimates are included in the income statement and accounted for by carrying out the 
respective adjustment to shareholders’ equity over the remaining vesting period. 
 

When stock options are exercised, € 1 per option is reported in the share capital with the remaining amount shown in 
the capital reserve.  
 

The dilution effect of the outstanding stock options is considered in the calculation of earnings per share as additional 
dilution.  
 

(17) Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition 

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 
or as loans. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities upon initial recognition and assesses 
them at fair value, net of directly attributable transaction costs in the case of loans. Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss comprise financial liabilities held for trading as well as other financial liabilities which are classi-
fied at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. The Group has no financial liabilities which have been 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
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Subsequent measurement 

Financial liabilities classified as loans are valued in subsequent periods at amortised acquisition cost. Every differ-
ence between the net loan proceeds (after deducting transaction costs) and the amount repayable is recognised in the 
income statement over the term of the loan using the effective interest rate method.  
 
Derecognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.  
 

(18) Accruals 

Accruals are formed in accordance with IAS 37 »Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets« provided 
that there is a current obligation to third parties arising from a past event that will probably lead to the outflow of 
resources in the future and that this amount can be estimated in a reliable manner. The cost of forming the accrual is 
reported in the income statement. Accruals for obligations that are not likely to impact assets in the subsequent year 
are formed in the amount of the present value of the expected outflow of assets. The valuation of accruals is exam-
ined on every closing date.  
 

(19) Pension obligations 

Pension obligations are accounted for in accordance with IAS 19 »Employee Benefits« (revised 2011). There are vari-
ous pension plans within the Group. These include both defined benefit and defined contribution plans.  
 

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan which defines the pension benefits that an employee will receive upon retiring. 
The amount normally depends on one or more factors such as age, length of service, and salary. The obligations recog-
nised in the balance sheet for defined benefit plans equals the present value of the defined benefit obligations (DBO) 
as per the balance sheet date less the fair value of the plan assets that arise from liability insurance, adjusted for 
cumulative unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and past unrecognised service costs. The DBO is calculated annu-
ally by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit method. The 2005 G guideline tables by Prof. Dr. Klaus 
Heubeck were used as the biometric calculation basis. The pension obligations have a duration of 15 years. The pre-
sent value of the DBO is calculated by discounting the expected future cash payments using the interest rate of the 
highest-quality corporate bonds. These must be denominated in the currency in which the benefits are also paid and 
their terms to maturity must equal those of the pension obligations. Actuarial gains and losses based on empirically 
established adjustments and changes to actuarial assumptions are recognised in other income in their full amount. 
 

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions to an independent entity 
(fund). With these plans, the Group has no legal or factual obligations to make additional contributions if the fund 
holds insufficient assets to pay all employees the pension claims for their service in current and previous financial  
years. The contributions are recognised in personnel expenses upon maturity. Prepaid contributions are recognised as 
assets to the extent that there is a right to a refund or a reduction in future payments. 
  



MEDIGENE AG ANNUAL REPORT 2013 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 83 

(20) Taxes 

Actual taxes 

Actual tax assets and liabilities are measured using the amount expected to be repaid by or paid to tax authorities. 
The amount is calculated on the basis of the tax rates and laws applicable as per the balance sheet date.  
 
Actual taxes pertaining to items recognised directly in shareholders’ equity are not posted in the income statement, 
but rather in shareholders’ equity. 
 
The result from continued and discontinued operations is charged with the standard effective tax rate as the tax bur-
den resulting thereof is mainly arising from the taxable income of Medigene AG. 
 
Deferred taxes 

Deferred tax is recognised in accordance with IAS 12 »Income Taxes« using the liability method for all temporary 
differences between the tax base of assets/liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements accord-
ing to IFRS. Deferred tax is valued using the tax rates (and regulations) applicable on the balance sheet date or those 
that are widely legally adopted. In addition, tax rates and regulations are expected to be legally applicable at the time 
when the deferred tax receivable is recognised or the deferred tax liability is settled.  
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 
 
→ where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a trans-

action that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit 
nor taxable profit of loss; and 

→ with the deferred tax liability arising from taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidi-
aries, associates, and interests in joint ventures where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, as yet unused tax loss carryforwards, 
and unused tax credits to the extent that deferred tax liabilities exist, or that taxable income is likely to be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences and the as yet unused tax loss carryforwards and tax credits can 
be used. Exceptions are: 
 

→ deferred tax assets from deductible temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or debt 
from a business transaction that is not a business combination and which, at the time of the transaction, impacts 
neither the net income for the period using German commercial law nor the taxable income, and 

→ deferred tax assets from deductible temporary differences in connection with investments in subsidiaries, asso-
ciated companies, and shares in joint ventures provided that the temporary differences are not likely to reverse 
in the foreseeable future or it is probable that insufficient taxable income will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be used. 
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is examined on every balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer likely that sufficient taxable income will be available against which the deferred tax asset can be used, at 
least in part.  
 
Deferred taxes which relate to items reported in other comprehensive income or directly in shareholders’ equity are 
also stated in other comprehensive income or shareholders’ equity.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using tax rates expected to be valid for the period in which an asset is 
realised or a debt is settled. This is based particularly on country-specific tax rates and laws applicable as per the 
balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset against one another if the tax assets and income 
taxes pertain to the same taxable entity, have matching maturities, and are levied by the same tax authority.  
 

(21) Leasing 

Lease agreements in which the Group is the lessee and a significant share of the risks and rewards associated with 
owning the leasing object remain with the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made in connection with 
operating leases are recognised in the income statement over the period of the lease using the straight-line method. 
 

There are no leases for property, plant or equipment in which the Group is the lessee and bears the significant risks.  
 

(22) Revenues recognition 

Revenues are recognised when the economic benefit is likely to flow to the Group and the amount of the income can be 
determined reliably. In the reporting period, Medigene posted revenues from product sales, milestone and licence fee 
from partners, research grants and other revenue.  
 
Revenues from product sales and recurring licence fee from partners 

Revenues from product sales are realised as soon as the risks and rewards associated with ownership have been as-
signed and the product or active ingredient has been dispatched to the customer. Moreover, Medigene receives li-
cence fee from partners for the product sales generated by the licensee in the market. These are invoiced on a quar-
terly basis.  
 
Revenues from upfront, milestone, and non-recurring licence fee from partners  

Upfront (one-time) payments which Medigene receives from pharmaceutical partners upon concluding a new contract 
are accrued on the liabilities side in accordance with IAS 18 »Revenues« over the relevant contractual or patent term 
and stated on a straight-line basis or collected in instalments once certain milestones are achieved. The reversal is 
posted in the income statement in product sales under milestones from product revenues. Provided that all criteria of 
IAS 18.14 are fulfilled, sales are immediately realised in full. Non-recurring licence fee from partners which entail all 
risks and rewards being assigned to the licensee are immediately recognised as revenue. 
 

Medigene receives milestone payments for the official acceptance of applications submitted to authorities, the mar-
ket approval of products by the authorities, the market launch of new products by partners, the achievement of cer-
tain contractually agreed annual revenue targets, and the achievement of research and development milestones de-
fined in cooperation agreements. No accrual is needed in these cases. Accordingly, these payments are recognised 
immediately as income provided that no additional payments have been agreed.  
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R&D payments received from partners and other income 

Income from research cooperation is collected as income in accordance with IAS 18 if the contractually agreed tar-
gets are reached and/or the relevant research and development services have been supplied. Contractually agreed 
payments and scheduled payments not linked to a future performance are collected as income on the condition that 
the cooperation partner confirms that the contractual agreements have been met.  
 
Interest result 

Other interest and similar income is recognised when interest becomes payable.  
 

(23) Research and development expenses 

Research and development expenses are recognised as expenses in the period in which they arise. These expenses 
include personnel expenses, third party expenses, laboratory material costs, patent and licence fees, consultancy fees 
and other costs such as rent and electricity, as well as depreciation.  
 

(24) Earnings per share 

The net result per share is determined in accordance with IAS 33 »Earnings per Share«. This result is also subdivided 
into continued and discontinued operations in accordance with IFRS 5. 
 
Basic earnings per share  

The basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the overall result for the period, the result for the period of 
continued operations, and the result for the period of discontinued operations to which the equity providers are enti-
tled (the numerator), by the weighted average number of shares issued (the denominator) that are in circulation during 
the financial  year.  
 
Diluted earnings per share  

The diluted earnings per share are calculated by increasing the weighted average number of shares in circulation by all 
of the option rights (denominator). The total comprehensive income for the period and result from discontinued and 
discontinued operations are adjusted for all changes in income or expense that would result from the conversion of 
the potential ordinary shares with dilution effects. For the stock options, it is calculated how many shares could be 
acquired at fair value (determined by the average stock market value of the Company’s shares over the course of the 
year). The number of shares thereby calculated is compared with the number that would have resulted had the stock 
options been exercised. The conversion of potential ordinary shares is deemed to be completed on commencement of 
the period, or on the day, when the potential ordinary shares were issued. 
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(25) Statement of cash flows 

The statement of cash flows was prepared in accordance with IAS 7 »Cash Flow Statements«. The Company applied 
the indirect method when determining the net cash used by operating activities and classified these into operating, 
investing, and financing activities.  
 

(26) Segment reporting/operating segments 

Segment reporting in accordance with IFRS 8 »Operating Segments« uses »Management Approach« to determine 
individual segments data. The individual segments data are provided by internal reporting, so that the determination 
of individual information represents the Company’s reporting concept.  
 

An »Operating Segment« is a company division in which business activities are performed which generate income, in 
which costs are incurred, the income situation of which is periodically reviewed by the company’s key decision makers, 
and for which the relevant financial information is available. 
 

For corporate management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on products and services and 
has two operating segments subject to reporting requirements: »Marketed Products« and »Drug Candidates«. Finan-
cial information that cannot be assigned to either of the operating segments is reported under »Reconciliation«.  
 

In addition, the Group reports revenues with external customers and non-current assets including property, plant, 
equipment, intangible assets, and goodwill, classified by the country in which the Company has generated revenues 
and/or holds assets. 
 

The figures for the individual operating segments are presented in the ≥ note H) »Segment reporting«. 
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C) DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

In accordance with IFRS 5, the item »discontinued operations« provides disclosures on discontinued operations that 
are either classified as available for sale or have already been sold. This segment comprises the assignment of Eli-
gard rights to Astellas in the preceding year’s reporting period. All of the revenues and costs attributable to Eligard 
are allocated to this segment, for example the last milestone payment amounting to €5 m for the assignment of rights 
in countries outside the EU which took place in May 2012.  
 
The key figures for continued and discontinued operations are shown below: 
 
KEY FIGURES FROM CONTINUED AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

 IN € K 2013 2012 

 CONTINUED DISCONTINUED TOTAL CONTINUED DISCONTINUED TOTAL 

Product sales 4,209 0 4,209 3,384 5,000 8,384 
Other operating income 3,383 0 3,383 2,900 32 2,932 
Revenues 7,592 0 7,592 6,284 5,032 11,316 
Cost of sales -1,735 0 -1,735 -1,250 0 -1,250 
Gross profit 5,857 0 5,857 5,034 5,032 10,066 
Selling expenses -3,121 0 -3,121 -2,271 -14 -2,285 
Other expenses  -11,757 0 -11,757 -19,203 0 -19,203 
Operating result -9,021 0 -9,021 -16,440 5,018 -11,422 
Result from continued operations before tax -10,264  -10,264 -14,795  -9,777 
Result from continued operations -10,282  -10,282 -14,877   
Result from discontinued operations  0   5,018  
Net result for the year   -10,282   -9,859 
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D) NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT 

The income statement was prepared in accordance with the cost of sales method. 
 

(27) Revenues  

Revenues amounted to €7,592 k in financial year 2013 (2012: €6,284 k). This revenues originate from product sales 
and licence fees in connection with the share in revenues from net sales of the drug Veregen of €3,911 k (2012: 
€2,774 k) and also includes milestone payments totalling €298 k (2012: €610 k) for Veregen from partner compa-
nies.  
 
Other operating income amounted to €3,383 k in the financial year ended (2012: €2,900 k). It essentially comprised 
monthly non-cash income of €208 k from the assignment of the rights to Medigene’s former drug Eligard agreed with 
Cowen in 2012 ≥ note (4). In addition, Medigene is reimbursed for costs incurred as part of a global partnership 
agreement for EndoTAG-1 signed in May 2013 with SynCore Biotechnology Co., Ltd., a member of the Sinphar Phar-
maceutical Group (hereinafter referred to as »SynCore«) and milestone payments for the development of this drug 
candidate. Within the scope of this cooperation, Medigene received income from R&D funding of €833 k in the report-
ing period and realised deferred milestones totalling €13 k.  
 
In the previous financial year, other operating income essentially comprised from Eligard revenues of €613 k for the 
first quarter of 2012, and since April 2012, the non-cash income of €208 k per month from the agreement with Cowen. 
Moreover, Medigene received a compensation payment from a service provider for costs incurred amounting to  
€390 k.  
 
REVENUES 
IN € K 2013 2012 CHANGE 

Revenues and royalities  3,911 2,774 41% 
thereof royalties 2,585 1,878 38% 

thereof revenues from supply chain 1,326 896 48% 

Milestones from revenues 298 610 -51% 
Product sales 4,209 3,384 24% 

Income from R&D funding 833 0 ‒  
R&D milestones 13 0 ‒  
Other revenues 2,537 2,900 -13% 
Other operating income 3,383 2,900 17% 

Total  7,592 6,284 21% 

 

(28) Cost of sales 

The cost of sales amounting to €1,735 k (2012: €1,250 k) includes procurement costs for the product Veregen and a 
share in revenues in the form of royalty payments to partner companies.  
 
COST OF SALES 
IN € K 2013 2012 CHANGE 

Cost of sales 979 709 38% 
Royalities  756 541 40% 
Total  1,735 1,250 39% 
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(29) Selling expenses 

Expenses for business development and marketing are reported under selling expenses. These include personnel 
expenses, marketing and regulatory costs (incl. FDA fees), consultancy fees, market studies and other services. Sell-
ing expenses increased to €3,121 k in the reporting period (2012: €2,271 k) due to higher expenses for marketing 
Veregen. These expenses included the one-time payment of €740 k for the termination of the contract with Abbott 
Arzneimittel GmbH for the distribution of Veregen in Germany. In return, Medigene will receive a one-time payment 
of €650 k in early 2014 from Taurus Pharma GmbH, its new marketing partner for Veregen in Germany, which will be 
reported in 2014. No further selling activities relating to products were conducted in the reporting period.  
 
SELLING EXPENSES 
IN € K 2013 2012 CHANGE 

Personnel expenses 1,186 1,135 4% 
One-time payment for the termination of the Abbott contract 740 0 ‒ 
Marketing/regulatory fees 636 612 4% 
Consultancy fees/market surveys 223 112 99% 
Office rent and utilities 164 164 0% 
Depreciation 2 1 100% 
Other 170 247 -31% 
Total  3,121 2,271 37% 

 

(30) General and administrative expenses 

In the reporting period, administrative expenses were down compared with the previous year to €5,152 k (2012: 
€5,638 k). This was mainly due to the higher one-time expenses incurred in the previous year in connection with the 
Eligard transaction.  
 
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
IN € K 2013 2012 CHANGE 

Personnel expenses 2,386 2,497 -4% 
Consultancy fees 1,687 1,946 -13% 
Office rent and utilities 316 351 -10% 
Depreciation 137 115 19% 
Other 626 729 -14% 
Total 5,152 5,638 -9% 

 

(31) Research and development expenses 

Expenses for research and development decreased to €6,605 k in the reporting period (2012: €7,399 k) following the 
planned lower expenses for preclinical studies and clinical trials. The major share of R&D expenses was attributable 
to services for preclinical and clinical development, production, personnel expenses and consultancy fees. The R&D 
costs incurred for EndoTAG-1 will be reimbursed by partner SynCore and stated under other operating income as 
income from R&D funding received from partners. 
 
The cost of services totalling €1,906 k (2012: €2,473 k) comprises the following items: Implementation of clinical 
trials amounting to €168 k (2012: €1,041 k), production services of €678 k (2012: €511 k), preclinical development 
services of €880 k (2012: €679 k) and approval costs of €180 k (2012: €242 k). 
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES 
IN € K 2013 2012 CHANGE 

Personnel expenses 1,921 2,174 -12% 
Third party expenses 1,906 2,473 -23% 
Consultancy fees 772 420 84% 
Depreciation 612 731 -16% 
Office rent and utilities 516 509 1% 
Patent and licence fees 382 492 -22% 
Laboratory material costs 128 154 -17% 
Other 368 446 -17% 
Total 6,605 7,399 -11% 

 

(32) Other expenses  

In the previous year, other expenses of €6,166 k were incurred in connection with the deconsolidation of Medigene 
Ltd. As part of this, other reserves for currency translation included under shareholders’ equity were largely reversed 
and recognised in the income statement.  
 

(33) Financial result 

The financial result includes non-cash net interest payable and similar expenses amounting to €1,566 k (2012: €1,244 
k) relating to the financial liability to Cowen as part of the Eligard transaction ≥ note (4). 
 

(34) Basic and diluted earnings per share 

The following table shows the calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share: 
 
BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 
IN NO. 2013 20121) CHANGE 

Weighted average number of shares 9.631.559 9,270,690 4% 

Effect of dilution: number of stock options ‒ 72,473 ‒ 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
adjusted for the effect of dilution 9.631.559 9,343,163 3% 
Basic and diluted earnings per share in € -1.07 -1.06 0% 
Basic and diluted earnings per share 
from continued operations  in € -1.07 -1.60 -33% 
Basic and diluted earnings per share 
from discontinued operations in € ‒ 0,54 ‒ 
1) Following the capital reduction in 2013, the previous year’s comparative figures were adjusted retroactively: the number of shares was reduced in a ratio of 4:1 and earnings   

per share were multiplied by 4. 
 
For financial years 2013 and 2012, the diluted earnings per share from continued operations were the same as the 
basic earnings per share, since taking into account the weighted average number of shares to be issued upon the exer-
cise of stock options would produce an offsetting dilution effect. Of the total 455,363 stock options, 422,716 had no 
dilutive effect in 2013, since the exercise price of most of the stock options was above the average share price of 
€3.77 for the year (German Stock Exchange; XETRA closing price).  
 

In view of the low number of options which may potentially be exercised, there is no difference between diluted and 
basic earnings per share from discontinued operations in 2012.   
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(35) Personnel expenses 

The expense items in the income statement include the following personnel expenses:  
 
PERSONNEL EXPENSES 
IN € K 2013 2012 CHANGE 

Salaries and wages 4,692 4,960 -5% 
Social security 591 613 -4% 
Pension expenses    

defined contribution plans 35 64 -45% 
defined benefit plans ≥ note (46) 55 45 22% 

Stock options issued to executives and employees 60 90 -33% 
Other 60 46 30% 
Total 5,493 5,818 -6% 

 
EMPLOYEE BY FUNCTION 
 31 DEC 2013 31 DEC 2012 CHANGE 

General administration 16 16 0% 
Business development 9 12 -25% 
Research and development 26 25 4% 
Total 51 53 -4% 

 
The number of full-time equivalent employees (FTEs) was down to 48 at the end of 2013 (2012: 49).  
 

(36) Income from revaluation of investment 

As a consequence of the reduction of the share in Immunocore Ltd. to below 20% at the beginning of 2012, this in-
vestment was reclassified in the balance sheet according to IAS 28.22 and, accordingly, there was a revaluation pur-
suant to IAS 39 at fair value. The increased valuation associated with it resulted in a non-cash income of €2,220 k in 
2012 ≥ see note (40). 
 

(37) Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets not yet available for use 

The carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible assets not yet available for use are allocated to CGU RhuDex and 
comprised the following as at 31 December 2013: 
 
CARRYING AMOUNTS OF GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
IN € K 2013 2012 

Carrying amount of goodwill 2,212 2,212 
Carrying amount of intangible assets not yet available for use 23,750 23,750 

 

Annual impairment test as at 31 December 2013 

At the reporting date of the consolidated financial statements, the company’s Company’s market capitalization was 
below the book value of the equity capital. In the management’s opinion a market capitalisation below the equity capi-
tal is no indication of possible impairment of goodwill or intangible assets not yet ready to use, since the market may 
have taken into consideration factors other than the return on the Company’s assets, such as the drug development 
stage or the operating loss in the preceding years. 
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Methodology for determining the recoverable amount: 

The recoverable amount for each CGU is estimated on the basis of value-in-use calculations using discounted cash 
flow models. A value-in-use can be determined for each of the projects at research stage and allocated to the CGU 
since the clinical development and subsequent marketing of the drug candidates for a specific indication have been 
firmly established. 
 
Basic assumptions for calculating the value-in-use for the CGU 

Starting in 2022, the cash flow models are based on the assumption that the RhuDex® drugs are approved and mar-
keted in the three largest pharmaceutical markets worldwide: the USA, Europe and Japan. The cash flow forecasts 
used include assumptions regarding the probability of market entry, future competition, project progress, the product 
profile and its lifecycle, as well as the market share of the future drug candidate. The impairment model includes the 
out-licensing of the drug candidate RhuDex® in the areas of hepatology and gastroenterology. Remaining indications 
such as rheumatoid arthritis or Crohn’s disease are also included in this impairment model.  
 
The forecast period usually spans the expected term of the patents, i.e. the period between 2014 and 2034. Cash flow 
after tax was discounted based on a discount rate after tax which reflects current market assessments of the interest 
rate level and the risks specific to indications, to which the estimated future cash flows were not adjusted. The Execu-
tive Board used discount rates and cash flows after tax, since it is their opinion that discounting the cash flows after 
tax at a discount rate after tax will not yield results that differ significantly from discounting cash flows before tax at 
a discount rate before tax. 
 
There are valuation uncertainties regarding the following assumptions that form the basis of the calculation of the 
value in use of the CGU: 
 
→ Probability of market entry 
→ Development periods and project progress 
→ Anticipated market share and number of patients treated in the relevant sub-market 
 
Probability of market entry 
Medigene has made assumptions on the probability of market entry for the drug candidates. The necessity for those 
assumptions arises from the typical drug development risks. These risks vary depending on the class of substance and 
class of drugs, as well as the medical indication. Accordingly, the management has applied the customary probability 
of success within the industry for its valuation models. In addition, project-specific assumptions supplement these 
valuations. The development risks are taken into consideration in determining the project-specific interest rate. 
 
Development periods and project progress 
According to pharmaceuticals industry statistics, the development of a drug generally takes 10 to 15 years. This peri-
od of time is divided into successive phases. Significant factors which influence the length of the development period 
are the results for efficacy and side effects of a drug candidate, which are obtained during the individual phases. The 
assumptions made by Medigene’s management for each indication are based on the current development status, the 
results obtained so far and the empirical data regarding the medical indication and class of drugs. 
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Anticipated market share 
The management compares the data available for the development project, the target profile and the development 
data, if accessible, and on this basis makes an assessment of the anticipated market share. In order to estimate the 
number of patients who will be treated in the future, Medigene also relies on estimates of external consulting and 
assessment specialists. 
 
PROJECT-SPECIFIC ASSUMPTIONS 

Planning period in years   21 
Project-specific cumulative probability of market entry in %   11-23 
Discount rate after taxes in %   9.8 

 
On the basis of these assumptions, no impairment requirement was identified for the CGU. The actual value in use of 
the CGU as at 31 December 2013 exceeds its book value. 
 
Sensitivity of the assumptions made  

In the basic assumptions made to determine the values-in-use of the CGU which are based on the management’s best 
possible estimate and descretionary decision, reasonable judgment shows that changes may occur which would cause 
the carrying amount of the CGU to exceed the value-in-use. This would trigger an amortisation requirement. 
 
In order to analyze the effects of basic and/or project-specific assumptions on the value-in-use, Medigene made the 
following sensitivity calculations at CGU level for the research and development projects assessed: 
 
The first approach examines the influence of greater risks with regard to the safety and effectiveness profile during 
clinical development. The increased development risks are reflected in a risk factor that takes the probability of mar-
ket approval into account. If the probability of market approval is reduced by 3%, the value-in-use would approach the 
carrying amount of the CGU. 
 
The second approach examines how postponing the planned market entry by 21 months would affect the value. In this 
scenario, the value-in-use approaches the carrying amount of the CGU. 

 
The third approach assumes that, in contrast to the current benchmark analysis of comparable partnership agree-
ments, the anticipated income from milestone and advance payments under a partnership agreement are only half as 
high (50% discount). In this case, the value-in-use will fall 5% below the carrying amount of the CGU. 
 
In addition, the impact of a higher discount rate is analyzed: if the discount rate is increased by 160 basis points, the 
value in use approximates the book value of the CGU. 
 
In the worst case, if no development and marketing partnership agreement can be concluded, or in case several unfa-
vourable changes are considered in the basic assumptions, the value in use may drop to zero, and the book values of 
goodwill and intangible assets not yet ready for use would have to be fully written off. 
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E) NOTES ON THE BALANCE SHEET 

 

ASSETS 

 

(38) Property, plant and equipment  

The detailed composition and development of property, plant and equipment is provided in the statement of fixed 
assets ≥ page 124 et seq. 
 

(39) Intangible assets  

The detailed composition and development of intangible assets is provided in the consolidated statement of changes 
in fixed assets ≥ page 124 et seq. The decrease in intangible assets from €27,369 k to €26,958 k is accounted for by 
scheduled amortisation. The patents and licences for RhuDex and EndoTAG-1 as well as software are stated as 
intangible assets.  
 
As at the reporting dates of 31 December 2013 and 2012, there were no indications of a reduction in the values state 
for the EndoTAG-1 patents and licences. At Medigene, these assets are subject to scheduled amortisation over the 
life of the underlying patents. With regard to the impairment analysis for the intangible assets not yet ready to use 
allocated to RhuDex ≥ note (37).  
  

Medigene has not capitalised any internally generated intangible assets.  
 

(40) Financial assets  

Financial assets ≥ note (12) comprise the following items: 
 
FINANCIAL ASSETS 
IN € K 31 DEC 2013 31 DEC 2012 CHANGE 

Listed pension benefit plans (available-for-sale financial assets)  154 146 5% 
Loan to Catherex, Inc. (loans and receivables) 242 216 12% 
Investment in Immunocore Ltd. (available-for-sale financial assets) 3,533 3,533 0% 
Total 3,929 3,895 1% 

 
The loan to associate Catherex, Inc. is a fixed-interest loan. It was increased to €242 k (2012: €216 k) in the reporting 
year ended and has a loan term up to 31 December 2014. The management of Medigene currently assumes that this 
loan will be extended beyond the agreed loan term. 
 
The investment in Immunocore Ltd. totalled €3,533 k as at closing date and comprise 3,373,318 A ordinary shares. In 
defined cases, these A ordinary shares are equivalent to a voting right of 17.45% of all shares. They were valued at 
fair value ≥ note (53). As announced, the value of these shares may amount to a maximum of approximately £2.8 m in 
case of future divestment, according to the Articles of Incorporation.    
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(41) Investment in an associate 

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group helds 40.40% of the shares in Catherex, Inc.  
 
As at 31 December 2013, the carrying amount of the shares in the associate decreased to €2,513 k (2012: €2,727 k). 
This reduction in the carrying amount was attributable to the loss relating to the Catherex shareholding of €102 k 
(2012: €59 k) and foreign exchange losses of €112 k (2012: €53 k).   
 
INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 
IN € K  31 DEC 2013 31 DEC 2012 

Share of the associates’ balance sheet:   
Current assets  1 20 
Non-current assets  1,220 1,274 
Current liabilities  -87 -77 
Non-current liabilities  -310 -255 

Pro rata net assets  824 962 

Share of the associates’ revenues and result:    
Revenues  13 0 
Result  -102 -59 

 

(42) Inventories  

Inventories in respect of Veregen amounted to €3,046 k as at the reporting date (2012: €2,205 k). There was no 
impairment to the lower net sales price.  
 

(43) Other assets and trade accounts receivable  

 
OTHER ASSETS AND TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
IN € K 31 DEC 2013 31 DEC 2012 CHANGE 

Accrued royalties 878 0 ‒ 
Prepaid expenses with a term < 1 year 574 592 -3% 
Rent deposit > 1 year 375 375 0% 
VAT receivables 223 0 ‒ 
Other 13 24 -46% 
Total other assets 2,063 991 108% 

Trade accounts receivable 1,363 1,139 20% 
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The due dates of trade accounts receivable and other assets are as follows: 
 
AGING ANALYSIS OF TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER ASSETS

 

 

IN € K MATURITY 

 UP TO 
30 DAYS 

30-180 
DAYS 

180-360 
DAYS 

1-5 YEARS >5 YEARS TOTAL 

Balance at 31 Dec 2013       
Other assets  1,464 223 1 375 0 2,063 

Trade accounts receivable 1,363 0 0 0 0 1,363 

Total 2,827 223 1 375 0 3,426 

Balance at 31 Dec 2012       
Other assets 615 0 1 375 0 991 

Trade accounts receivable 1,139 0 0 0 0 1,139 

Total 1,754 0 1 375 0 2,130 

 

(44) Cash and cash equivalents 

 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
IN € K 31 DEC 2013 31 DEC 2012 CHANGE 

Cash and cash equivalents < 3 months 10,166 20,113 -49% 
Total 10,166 20,113 -49% 

 
The effective interest rate for short-term bank deposits is variable and ranged from 0% to 0.20% in the reporting 
period. The change in cash and cash equivalents compared with the previous year is shown in the statement of cash 
flows.  
 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

 

(45) Shareholders’ equity 

a) Subscribed capital 

 
At the 2013 Annual General Meeting, the shareholders of Medigene AG voted in favour of reducing the share capital 
of €39,488,556.00 by €29,616,417.00 to €9,872,139.00 by consolidating the no-par shares issued in a ratio of 4:1 
from 39,488,556 to 9,872,139 shares. Registration in the commercial register was at the end of August 2013 with the 
value date of 3 September 2013. As an on-balance sheet transaction, the reduction resulted in a reclassification with-
in the shareholders’ equity of Medigene AG from subscribed capital to the capital reserve. The totals of shareholders’ 
equity and the balance sheet remained unchanged. 
 
As at 31 December 2013, the subscribed capital amounted to €9,872 k. It is divided into 9,872,139 no-par registered 
shares, 100% of which had been issued and were tradable as at the balance sheet date.  
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b) Stock options 

Equity instruments such as stock options are valued and reported in accordance with IFRS 2.   
 
Stock options are issued to Executive Board members and employees. They are initially issued within one year follow-
ing their joining the Company. The exercise price per option on the issue date equals the average closing price in the 
last 30 trading days on the XETRA trading system of the German Stock Exchange plus a premium of 20%. Holders of 
subscription rights may exercise their option rights at the earliest after expiry of a waiting period of four years, start-
ing from the allotment date of the respective subscription right. The options have a contractual term of ten years. The 
Group has no legal or de facto obligation to repurchase options or offer a cash settlement. 
 
In December 2013, a total of 16,250 stock options were issued to Executive Board members as per the shareholders’ 
resolution dated 10 July 2012 (conditional capital XXIII), (2012: 17,188 stock options2)). These stock options do not 
lapse in the event that the holder of subscription rights leaves the Company. 
 
In December 2013, a further 16,397 stock options were issued to employees from conditional capital XXIII as per the 
shareholders’ resolution dated 10 July 2012 (2012: 22,206 stock options2)). If an employee’s contract of employment 
is terminated on grounds of personal capability or conduct, or if the option holder hands in his/her notice of resigna-
tion before the end of the relevant waiting period, all stock options expire without entitlement to replacement or 
compensation if the waiting period for exercising such stock options has not yet expired when the contract of em-
ployment is terminated. The corresponding option expense is recognised over four years. 
 
The average exercise price of stock options issued to Executive Board members and employees in December 2013 
was €3.64. 
 
TOTAL CHANGE IN STOCK OPTIONS OUTSTANDING   

IN € K 2013 2012 

 AVERAGE 
EXERCISE 

PRICE 
IN € 

NUMBER AVERAGE 
EXERCISE 

PRICE 
IN €1) 

NUMBER2) 

Stock options outstanding, balance at 1 Jan 19.11 467,181 20.38 430,892 
Issued 3.64 32,647 4.20 39,398 
Exercised 0 0 0 0 
Forfeited 4.17 -13,167 5.08 -3,109 
Lapsed 19.50 -31,298 0 0 
Stock options outstanding, balance at 31 Dec  455,363  467,181 
Weighted average exercise price in € per option 18.41  19.11 
1) Following capital reduction in 2013, the average exercise price of stock options in the previous year was retroactively multiplied by 4.  
2) Following capital reduction in 2013, the number of stock options in the previous year was retroactively reduced in the ratio of 4:1. 
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The instruments are valued using a binomial model. The following parameters are taken into consideration: 
 
VALUATION PARAMETERS FOR STOCK OPTION PLAN 
 2013 2012 

Vesting period 4 years 2/4 years 
Option term 10 years 10 years 
Exercise hurdle rate 120% 120% 
Expected volatility 48% 48% 
Risk-free interest rate 1.98% 1.49% 

 
The expected volatility was determined on a historical basis and is based on the floating 250-day average prevailing 
at the time when options are issued. The risk-free interest rate corresponds to the yield of a hypothetical zero coupon 
bond excluding any credit default risk. On the issue date of the stock options it was 1.98% (source: German central 
bank). The fair value of the stock options issued in December 2013 amounted to €1.89 per stock option (2012: 
€1.961)). For 2013, an expense for share-based compensation totalling €60 k (2012: €90 k) was reported in accord-
ance with IFRS. The breakdown of these payments is as follows: 
 
EXPENSES FOR STOCK OPTIONS 
IN € K 2013 2012 

Expenses for stock options   
2010 0 31 
2011 19 25 
2012 13 34 
2013 28 0 
Total 60 90 

 
As at 31 December 2013, the stock options outstanding were classified by exercise price, number of options issued, 
time remaining until expiry and options that are still convertible as follows:  
 
EXERCISE PRICE AND TERM OF STOCK OPTIONS OUTSTANDING 

EXERCISE PRICE 
IN €1) 

NUMBER OF STOCK OPTIONS 
OUTSTANDING2) 

RESIDUAL TERM 
IN YEARS 

NUMBER OF EXERCISABLE 
STOCK OPTIONS2) 

30.76 15,075 1 15,075 
32.40 10,000 1 10,000 
49.48 32,794 2 32,794 
40.88 27,864 3 27,864 
23.52 58,530 4 58,530 
17.36 74,498 5 74,498 
15.56 57,897 5 57,897 
14.76 42,669 6 42,669 

7.48 34,233 7 34,233 
4.12 38,508 8 38,508 
4.20 30,648 9 ‒3) 
3.64 32,647 10 ‒3) 

 455,363  392,068 
1) Following capital reduction in 2013, the fair value and the exercise price of stock options in the previous years were retroactively multiplied by 4.  
2) Following capital reduction in 2013, the number of stock options in the previous years was retroactively reduced in the ratio of 4:1. 
3) Stock options issued in 2012 and 2013 could not be exercised as at 31 December 2013. 

 
The weighted average remaining term of stock options in circulation is 5.44 years. 
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c) Authorised capital 

The Executive Board was authorised by a shareholders’ resolution dated 10 July 2012 to increase the share capital, 
with the approval of the Supervisory Board, by a total of up to €18,541,379.00 (approx. 50% of the share capital on 
the date of the shareholders’ resolution) until 9 July 2017 by issuing a total of up to 18,541,379 new registered ordi-
nary shares (no-par shares) on one or more occasions against contributions in cash or in kind (authorised capital 
2012/I). This authorisation may be used in partial amounts. The Executive Board is authorised, with the approval of 
the Supervisory Board, to stipulate the further content of share rights and the conditions of issuing shares. As at  
31 December 2013, authorised capital I amounted to €16,135,579.00 after partial utilisation. However, the Executive 
Board of Medigene undertook in the Annual General Meeting on 16 July 2013 only to utilise the authorised capital in 
accordance with the restrictions indicated in item 8 (3) on the agenda of the notice convening shareholders to that 
Annual General Meeting. Against this backdrop, authorised capital I amounting to €4,033,894.00 remained available 
as at 31 December 2013. After the acquisition of Trianta Immunotherapies GmbH in January 2014, Medigene partly 
used its authorised capital (authorised capital 2012/I) to issue 1,017,811 new shares. Considering the above-
mentioned shareholders‘ resolution dated 16 July 2013, authorised capital (authorised capital 2012/I) totalling 
€3,016,083.00 is available ≥ note (55).   
 
d) Conditional capital and classification of conditional capital 

As at 31 December 2013, the Company’s share capital had been increased conditionally through a number of condi-
tional capital items by up to €16,318,510.00, divided into a total of up to 16,318,510 ordinary shares (approx. 44% of 
the share capital), divided in each case into the same number of ordinary shares (no-par shares). 
 
CLASSIFICATION OF CONDITIONAL CAPITAL BY STOCK OPTIONS AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS 
(NO.) AMOUNT AS AT  

31 DEC 2013 
IN €  

 USAGE: 
TO PROVIDE FOR 

I 136,897 Options 
II 106,429 Options 
III  125 TBG1) loan 
IV  13,770 Convertible bonds 
V 652,329 Convertible bonds 
VI 3,000 Convertible bonds 
VIII 3,000 Convertible bonds 
X 3,000 Convertible bonds 
XI 1,400 Convertible bonds 
XII 498,560 Options 
XVI  300,000 Options 
XVIII2) 1,200,000 Options 
XXI2) 0 Convertible bonds and options 
XXII3) 11,000,000 Convertible bonds and options 
XXIII3) 2,400,000 Options 
 16,318,510  
1) Technologie-Beteiligungs-GmbH 
2) Cancelled by a shareholders’ resolution of 10 July 2012 
3) Newly created by a shareholders’ resolution of 10 July 2012 
 
In accordance with the resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 16 July 2013 (item 8 (3) on the agenda), the Execu-
tive Board will take into account percentage limits in place up to registration of the resolutions adopted by the Annual 
General Meeting on 16 July 2013 in relation to the existing share capital, partly in view of the reduced share capital, 
when making future use of any authorisations to increase the share capital (authorised capital/conditional capital 
items). These limits regarding utilisation will only be removed if the Annual General Meeting votes in favour of this.  
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(46) Pension obligations  

Explanation of the effect of IAS 19 (revised 2011) starting from 1 January 2013 

In accordance with the revised IAS 19 standards, first-time application occurred with retroactive effect from 1 Janu-
ary 2012. On the balance sheet, the unrecognised actuarial losses of €48 k were adjusted in shareholders’ equity un-
der net loss for the year without effect on income. At the same time, the item of pension obligations increased by €48 
k from €255 k to €303 k. 
 
The amount of the pension obligations is determined as follows: 
 
PENSION OBLIGATIONS 
IN € K 31 DEC 2013 31 DEC 2012 

Present value of benefit obligations 2,250 2,115 
Fair value of plan assets -1,946 -1,812 
Obligations in the balance sheet 304 303 

 
The plan assets comprise reinsurance policies. These assets are not stock exchange listed and no prices are quoted in 
an active market for these assets. Employer’s contribution expected in 2014 totals €41 k. 
 
The following amounts were recognised under personnel expenses in the income statement: 
 
EXPENSES RECOGNISED IN THE INCOME STATEMENT 
IN € K 2013 2012 

Current service cost 55 45 
Interest payable and similar expenses 10 10 
Total expenses recognised in the income statement 65 55 

 
ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS 
IN % 2013 2012 

Discount rate 3.7 4.9 
Future pension increases 1.0/2.0 1.0/2.0 
Future salary increases 0.0 0.0 
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The change in the present value of the defined benefit obligations is as follows: 
 
IN € K   

Benefit obligations at 1 Jan 2012 1,918 

Interest payable and similar expenses 90 
Current service cost 45 
Plan members contributions 9 
Assumption of contract 64 
Actuarial gains -11 
Benefit obligations at 31 Dec 2012 2,115 

Interest payable and similar expenses 76 
Current service cost 55 
Plan members contributions 8 
Actuarial gains  -4 
Benefit obligations at 31 Dec 2013 2,250 

of which  
funded by plan assets 1,946 
not funded by plan assets 304 

 
The change in the present value of plan assets is as follows: 
 
IN € K   

Fair value of plan assets at 1 Jan 2012 1,601 

Other interest and similar income 80 
Employer contributions 69 
Plan member contributions 9 
Assumption of contract 64 
Actuarial losses -11 
Fair value of plan assets at 31 Dec 2012 1,812 

Other interest and similar income 66 
Employer contributions 65 
Plan member contributions 8 
Actuarial losses -5 
Fair value of plan assets at 31 Dec 2013 1,946 

 

(47) Taxes 

The major components of the income tax expenses for the 2013 and 2012 financial  years are as follows:  
 
INCOME TAXES 
IN € K 2013 2012 

Current income taxes   
Current income tax expenses (withholding tax on licence fees and milestones) -18 -69 
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous year 0 -13 

Deferred taxes 0 0 
Income tax expense reported in income statement -18 -82 
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Deferrred taxes as at 31 December 2013 related to the following items:  
 
DEFERRED TAXES   

IN € K  CONSOLIDATED  
BALANCE SHEET 

CONSOLIDATED  
INCOME STATEMENT 

 31 DEC 2013 31 DEC 2012 2013 2012 

Deferred tax assets     
Deferred taxes on tax loss carryforwards 
 
Germany 49,905 47,233 2,672 1,821 
USA 16,964 17,664 -700 -340 
United Kingdom 0 0 0 -1,911 
 66,869 64,897 1,972 -430 

non deductible -63,886 -61,985 -1,901 862 
Net 2,983 2,912 71 432 
Tangible fixed assets 13 13 0 -7 
Other taxes from grants 1,757 1,834 -77 -36 

Share of result of an associate 170 134 36 22 
Other assets 16 4 12 4 
Other liabilities 72 13 59 1 
Prepaid expenses 0 0 0 -20 
Liability pension insurance 350 321 29 28 
 2,378 2,319 59 -8 
Non deductible -1,944 -1,975 31 15 
Net 434 344 90 7 

     
Deferred tax liabilities     
Intangible assets 3,166 2,899 267 265 
Tangible fixed assets 1 0 1 0 
Pension accruals 218 210 8 27 
Other liabilities 32 0 32 0 
Other accruals 0 147 -147 147 
 3,417 3,256 161 439 
Deferred tax income/expenses   0 0 

Deferred tax asset/liabilities (balance) 0 0   

 
In 2013 and 2012, neither tax income nor a tax expense from deferred taxes was posted in shareholders’ equity. 
 
The calculation of deferred tax in Germany starting from 1 January 2008 has been based on a combined tax rate of 
26.33%. This is composed as follows: 15% corporate income tax, 5.5% solidarity surcharge on the corporate income 
tax and 10.5% trade tax.  
 
Country-specific tax rates were applied for the deferred taxes of foreign business segments. 
 
As the subsidiaries have no retained earnings, no deferred tax liabilities were recognised in this respect. 
 
The recognised tax expenses differ from the expected tax expenses which would have resulted from the application 
of the nominal tax rate for the earnings under IFRS. A reconciliation of the differential effects can be seen in the fol-
lowing table, in which the tax rate applicable in the respective period was used. The increase in unrecognised deferred 
tax assets shown below does not correspond to the above mentioned amount of unrecognised deferred tax assets on 
tax loss carryforwards, due to the different exchange rates (transaction exchange rate at the date of business trans-
action, or the average rate for the conversion of the result before tax as against the corresponding closing rate for 
unrecognised deferred tax assets). 
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INCOME TAXES 
IN € K 2013 2012 

Result before income tax from continued operations -10.264 -14,795 
Result before income tax from discontinued operations 0 5,018 
Result before income tax -10.264 -9,777 

Expected tax income 2.702 2,574 
Increase in unrecognised deferred tax assets -2.734 -1,508 
Effect from deconsolidation (investment UK) 0 -1,623 
Non-deductible expenses -42 -66 
International tax rate differences  32 -12 
Tax-free revenues 0 622 
Other 24 -69 
Income tax expense -18 -82 

thereof from continued operations -18 -82 
thereof from discontinued operations 0 0 

Effective tax rate in % 0 1 

 
The breakdown of tax loss carryforwards is as follows:  
 
TAX LOSS CARRYFORWARDS 
IN € K 2013 2012 

Corporate income tax Germany 190,595 180,293 
Trade tax Germany 188,030 178,110 
State tax USA 40,575 42,326 
Federal tax  USA 39,344 40,947 

 
In Germany, tax losses may generally be carried forward for an unlimited period of time. The deduction of existing loss 
carryforwards is ruled out in the event of detrimental changes in the shareholder structure.  
 
The loss carryforwards of Medigene, Inc. will expire between 2014 and 2033. In the USA, tax loss carryforwards based 
on federal tax may be utilised for 20 years, whereas those based on state tax expire between 10 and 20 years, unless 
an extension is granted.  
 

(48) Trade accounts payable and other current liabilities 

The trade accounts payable of €1,419 k (2012: €719 k) as at the end of the reporting period consisted in unpaid in-
voices issued primarily for services utilised by Medigene. For the maturity analysis of the financial liabilities, please 
refer to ≥ note (53).  
 
Other current liabilities amounting to €3,651 k (2012: €2,888 k) include the short-term share of the liability relating 
to the assignment of the future cash flows from the 2% share in Eligard revenues to Cowen totalling €1,044 k (2012: 
€927 k) ≥ note (4), bonus payments due of €621 k (2012: €626 k), liabilities relating to withholding tax and VAT 
amounting to €463 k (2012: €94 k) and liabilities not yet invoiced for production and preclinical studies amounting to 
€331 k (2012: €58 k).  
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(49) Deferred income 

Deferred income totaled €358 k (2012: €372 k) in the reporting period. It mainly resulted from short-term deferred 
income of €22 k (2012: €68 k) and long-term deferred income of €336 k (2012: €304 k). Medigene received the long-
term deferred income as an upfront payment upon signing the contract relating to the development and marketing 
partnership for EndoTAG-1 with SynCore in July 2012. 
 

(50) Contingent liabilities 

No accruals were recognised in liabilities for the contingent liabilities listed below, as the risk of their being utilised is 
deemed unlikely.  
 
In 2004, Medigene concluded an agreement with the insolvency administrator of MBT, under which payments by Me-
digene to the insolvency administrator were agreed in the event of certain milestones being achieved, including a 
milestone payment upon commencement of a clinical phase III trial for EndoTAG-1. In connection with signing the 
SynCore agreement in July 2012, the Company has come to an agreement with the insolvency administrator, which 
provides for Medigene not making any further milestone payments, but only having to transfer a low percentage 
amount of the income achieved with EndoTAG-1. According to the agreement, the amount is gradually payable up to 
a total amount of €11 m. The management does not believe that accruals need to be formed for this, since the rele-
vant payments will not become due until specific events occur. At reporting date the occurrence of these events was 
not probable. 
 
Expenses of €1,079 k (2012: €1,100 k) were incurred for operating leases in the reporting period.  
 
The future annual rent and lease payments for operating leases are as follows: 
 
IN € K RENT AND LEASE PAYMENTS 

2014 985 
2015 884 
2016 515 
2017 0 
Later 0 
Minimum lease obligations 2,384 

 
The Company leases office and laboratory facilities, office furnishings, laboratory equipment and vehicles. These 
constitute operating leases, as the contractual agreement does not transfer any risks or rewards to the Group. The 
conditions, rental increase clauses and extension options of lease agreements vary.  
 
The Group has a notice period of one month to three years for these lease agreements, depending on the contract.  
 

(51) Total amount of unused/open credit lines 

In addition to the cash and cash equivalents reported under ≥ note (44), no open credit lines were available as at  
31 December 2013. 
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(52) Related parties 

The parties deemed to be related are entities and individuals who can be significantly influenced by the Company or 
can exert significant influence on the Company. Related parties are the Company’s Executive Board and Supervisory 
Board as well as the associate Catherex, Inc. and partner company SynCore. 
 
Dr. Frank Mathias, Chief Executive Officer of Medigene AG, and Peter Llewellyn-Davies, Chief Financial Officer of 
Medigene AG, were appointed to the Board of Directors of Catherex, Inc. Medigene, Inc. granted a fixed-rate loan to 
Catherex, Inc., which was increased to €242 k (2012: €216 k) in the reporting period ≥ see note (40). 
 
Medigene AG realised R&D payments of €833 k for EndoTAG-1 from its partnership with SynCore as well as def-
fered milestones totalling €13 k. For Veregen, Medigene AG received milestone payments amounting to €100 k as 
well as revenues from supply chain of €94 k. Dr. Yita Lee, Research and Development Director at the Sinphar Group in 
Taiwan, was appointed as member of the Supervisory Board of Medigene AG at the 2013 Annual General Meeting. As 
at 31 December 2013, SynCore held 6.09% of the shares in Medigene AG.  
 
The remuneration and shareholdings of the Company’s Executive Board and Supervisory Board members are itemised 
for each member of these boards under ≥ I) »Executive Board and Supervisory Board« notes (59) and (60). In the fi-
nancial  year ended, there were no further transactions between the Group and related parties.  
 

(53) Objectives and methods of financial risk management 

The main financial liabilities are trade accounts payable, other financial liabilities and borrowings. The main purpose 
of these liabilities is to finance the Group’s business activities. The Group possesses various financial assets, ac-
counts receivable and cash. 
 
The Group’s business activities expose it to various financing risks: market risks (including interest rate risks and 
foreign exchange risks), credit risks, liquidity risks and cash flow interest rate risks.  
 
Below is a description of the financial risk factors and the associated financial risk management of the Group. The 
management does not see the following, currently existing items resulting from financing risks, as significant. 
 

Market risks 

Interest rate risk  

Fluctuations in market interest rates impact the cash flows relating to variable interest-bearing assets and addition-
ally the fair value of pension obligations. Medigene’s management has deliberately decided to avoid carrying out 
transactions aimed at hedging interest-based cash flows because short-term availability for financing operating ac-
tivities is a priority when investing cash and cash equivalents.  
 
 

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS OF INTEREST RATE RISK (CASH FLOWS) 
 INTEREST RATE CHANGE  

IN BASIS POINTS 
EFFECTS ON RESULT BEFORE INCOME 

TAXES IN € K 

2013 50 71 

2012 50 91 
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Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risks arise when future business transactions and assets and liabilities reported in the balance 
sheet are denominated in a currency other than the Company’s functional currency. The Group operates international-
ly and is therefore exposed to foreign exchange risks based on exchange rate fluctuations between the US dollar, yen 
and euro. The subsidiary Medigene Inc. uses the US dollar as its functional currency.  
 
The foreign exchange risk mainly relates to revenues generated in US dollars from Veregen sales, as well as mile-
stone payments received for Veregen from partner companies. In addition, the cost of purchasing the active ingredi-
ent in Veregen as well as the licence payments to licensors associated with sales of this product depend on the ex-
change rates of foreign currencies. Of the revenues earned by the Group, 43% is generated in US dollars. In total, 84% 
of procurements costs were incurred in US dollars.  
 
The Medigene Group reduces the foreign exchange risks resulting from its subsidiary’s operating activities by utilising 
the proceeds in US dollars generated from products marketed to finance the purchase of goods and other activities 
by the US subsidiary. The table below shows the sensitivity of the Group’s result before tax and of shareholders’ equi-
ty to exchange rate fluctuations of the euro against the US dollar. All other variables in this statement remain 
constant.  
 
SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE ($)1)

  EXCHANGE RATE  
DEVELOPMENT OF $ 

EFFECTS ON RESULTS 
BEFORE INCOME TAXES 

 IN € K 

EFFECTS ON  
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

IN € K 
       
2013 +5 % -84 -84 

 -5 % 71 71 

2012 +5 % -74 -74 
 -5 % 63 63 
1) Referring to the exchange rate as per closing date 31 December. 
 

Securities-related share price risk   

The Group is exposed to the usual market fluctuations relating to listed pension benefit plans ≥ see note (40).  
 
Credit risk 

The Group has no significant concentration in terms of potential credit risks. Two business relationships exist with 
major customers, Fougera Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Melville, New York, USA and SynCore. The creditworthiness of the 
customer is monitored on the basis of publicly available management reports and consolidated financial statements.  
 
With regard to the Group’s other financial assets, such as cash and cash equivalents, the maximum credit risk in the 
event of default by the counterparty is the equivalent of the carrying amount of these instruments. 
 
Liquidity risk 

Medigene’s liquidity management is aimed at having sufficient cash, cash equivalents and tradable securities available 
for the Company and securing the option of issuing Company shares on the market, in order to overcome any liquidity 
bottlenecks. On the basis of current liquidity planning, the Executive Board assumes that it will be fully financed at 
least until the second quarter of 2015. Financing beyond 18 months after the reporting date will require further ex-
ternal financial resources. At this time the Executive Board considers it to be most likely that these funds will be 
raised early enough ≥ see also »Financing risks« in note A) »Description of Business Activity, Information about the 
Company«. 
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As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s financial liabilities were due as shown below. The amounts disclosed are based 
on contractual payments.  
 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES     

IN € K MATURITY 

 UP TO  30 
DAYS 

30-90 
DAYS 

3-12 
MONTHS 

1-5 YEARS >5 YEARS TOTAL 

Balance at 31 Dec 2013       
Trade accounts payable 1,419 0 0 0 0 1,419 

Financial liabilities to Cowen ≥ note (4) 0 0 1,044 5,681 4,675 11,400 

Other current liabilities 554 1,870 162 312 0 2,898 

Total 1,973 1,870 1,206 5,993 4,675 15,717 

Balance at 31 Dec 2012       

Trade accounts payable 719 0 0 0 0 719 
Financial liabilities to Cowen ≥ note (4) 0 0 927 5,042 6,864 12,833 

Other current liabilities 798 875 288 258 0 2,219 
Total 1,517 875 1,215 5,300 6,864 15,771 

 
Capital control 

The primary goal of Medigene’s management is to secure sufficient liquidity to finance ongoing research and devel-
opment programs. The most important control variable aside from the absolute amount of cash and cash equivalents 
is the liquidity cover ratio, i.e. the share of cash and cash equivalents and securities in the balance sheet total. A suffi-
ciently high equity ratio is needed to make flexible use of the equity and debt financing opportunities arising on the 
market. 
 
KEY FIGURES FOR CAPITAL CONTROL 
IN %  2013 

 
2012 

Liquidity cover ratio 
Cash x 100 19 

 
33 

 Balance sheet total 

Equitiy ratio 
Equity x 100 69 

 
72 

 Balance sheet total 

 
In view of the cash outflow from operating activities which was not covered by the cash inflow from financing activi-
ties, and the net loss for 2013, the liquidity cover ratio decreased to 19% (2012: 33%) and the equity ratio to 69% 
(2012: 72%). The Executive Board expects to raise additional funds from external sources, e.g. further partnership 
agreements with pharmaceutical companies or capital measures in time ≥ see also »Financing risks« in note  
A) »Description of Business Activity, Information about the Company«.   
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(54) Other financial assets and liabilities including hierarchy of fair values 

The table below indicates the carrying amounts and fair values of all financial instruments recognised in the consoli-
dated financial statements as at 31 December 2013: 
 
OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES   

IN € K  CARRYING AMOUNT FAIR VALUE 

 2013 2012 2013 2012 

Available-for-sale financial assets  at fair value     
Listed pension benefit plans 154 146 154 146 
Investment in Immunocore Ltd. 3,533 3,533 3,533 3,533 
Financial assets and liabilities recognised at fair value     
Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 10,166 20,113 10,166 20,113 
Trade accounts receivable 1,363 1,139 1,363 1,139 
Loans and receivables 242 216 242 216 
Financial liabilities     
Financial liabilities to Cowen ≥ note (4) 11,400 12,833 11,400 12,833 
Trade accounts payable 1,419 719 1,419 719 
Other financial liabilities (without Cowen) 2,898 2,219 2,898 2,219 

 
Hierarchy of fair values 

The Group uses the following hierarchy to determine and report the fair values of financial instruments for each valua-
tion procedure: 
 
Stage 1: Listed (unadjusted) prices on active markets for similar assets or liabilities;  
 
Stage 2: Procedures in which all the input parameters that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value can be 
observed either directly or indirectly; 
 
Stage 3: Procedures that use input parameters which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value and are not 
based on observable market data. 
 
The fair values of cash and cash equivalents as well as trade receivables and trade payables are very similar to their 
carrying amounts, mainly because of their short-term nature. 
 
Category one includes the listed pension benefit plans reported under available-for-sale financial assets, which are 
valued at the stock exchange price on the reporting date. Shares in Immunocore Ltd., which are also allocated to avail-
able-for-sale financial assets, are classified in the third category. The fair value of these shares was established with 
the help of an external expert. According to the best possible estimates of the Executive Board, this corresponds to 
the current fair value. 
 
Loans and receivables are allocated to the second category. The debt owed to Cowen ≥ note (4) and other current and 
non-current financial liabilities are classified in category three. The fair value of the debt owed to Cowen is deter-
mined on the basis of the estimated future income from licence fees. 
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(55) Major events since the end of the reporting period 

The following major events in corporate development occurred since closing date:  
 
Acquisition of Trianta Immunotherapies GmbH and appointment of new Chief Scientific Officer 

Medigene announced the acquisition of the Munich-based company Trianta Immunotherapies GmbH on 27 January 
2014. Trianta, which was spun off from the Helmholtz Centre in Munich, has three highly innovative, complementary 
immunotherapy platforms with programmes in clinical development for the treatment of various types of cancer. 
Trianta's proprietary platforms will strengthen Medigene's advanced drug pipeline through cutting-edge therapy 
approaches. Professor Dolores J. Schendel, Managing Director of Trianta and Head of the Institute for Molecular Im-
munology at the Helmholtz Centre in Munich, will join the Executive Board of Medigene as Chief Scientific Officer on  
1 May 2014, and will be accompanied by her team of 15 immunotherapy specialists from the Helmholtz Centre in 
Munich.  
 
As part of the acquisition, Medigene acquired 100% of Trianta's shares. Trianta's previous shareholders received 
1,017,811 new Medigene shares worth around €4 m and will receive potential incremental payments in Medigene 
shares or in cash up to a maximum total of €5,875 m upon achievement of future milestones. Through the partial use 
of its authorised capital, Medigene has issued 1,017,811 new shares with a lock-up period of 12 months. This capital 
measure of €9,872,139.00 has led to an increase in Medigene's share capital of €1,017,811.00 to €10,889,950.00 m.  
 
Licence agreement with Dr. Falk Pharma GmbH for RhuDex in hepatology and gastroenterology 

On 18 March 2014, Medigene has signed an exclusive global licence agreement with pharmaceutical company, Dr. Dr. 
Falk Pharma GmbH GmbH for the development and commercialisation of its drug candidate RhuDex for indications in 
hepatology and gastroenterology. Dr. Falk Pharma GmbH will assume responsibility and all costs relating to the clini-
cal development and marketing of RhuDex in these therapeutic areas. Medigene will receive an upfront payment and 
future milestone payments from Dr. Falk Pharma GmbH, plus double-digit royalties on sales of RhuDex. Dr. Falk 
Pharma GmbH will initially concentrate on development in primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC). Medigene retains the rights 
for RhuDex in rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis and other autoimmune diseases. 

F) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

The consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity for the 2013 and 2012 financial  years forms a sepa-
rate part of the consolidated financial statements.  

G) NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

The statement of cash flows shows the origins and application of the cash flows in the 2013 and 2012 financial  years. 
It is therefore of crucial significance for assessing the Company’s financial position.  
 
The cash flows from investing and financing activities are each determined on a cash basis. The cash flow from operat-
ing activities, on the other hand, is derived indirectly on the basis of the net result for the year.  
 
Within the scope of non-cash financing activities, no new lease obligations for laboratory and office equipment were 
entered into in 2013.  
 
  

http://www.medigene.de/
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Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period consisted solely of cash and cash equivalents in accordance with 
IAS 7.7. The cash and cash equivalents illustrated in the cash flow statement correspond to the »Cash and cash 
equivalents« item in the consolidated balance sheet.  

H) SEGMENT REPORTING 

Business Units 

The Group was made up of two main business units as at 31 December 2013. The business units »Marketed Products« 
and »Drug Candidates« identified within the Group in accordance with IFRS 8 consist of the following: 
 
Marketed products: 

→ Eligard  for the treatment of prostate cancer (in 2012 discontinued operations) 
→ Veregen for the treatment of genital warts  
 
Drug candidates & Technologies:  

→ EndoTAG-1 for the treatment of solid tumours  
→ RhuDex for the treatment of autoimmune diseases  
→ AAVLP technology 
 
Revenues earned by the individual segments is generated by external business relationships.  
 
Transfer prices between the business units and regions are determined on the basis of the usual market terms among 
third parties.  
 
Investment in an associate amounting to €2,513 k (2012: €2,727 k) is shown in segment reporting under »Reconcilia-
tion«. 
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SEGMENT REPORTING BY BUSINESS UNITS
 IN € K MARKETED 

PRODUCTS 
DRUG 

CANDIDATES 
TOTAL 

SEGMENTS 
RECON-

CILIATION1) 
ADUSTMENTS 

DISCONTINUED 
OPERATION 

TOTAL 

2013       
Revenues with external customers 4,209 0 4,209 0 0 4,209 

Other income 2,525 851 3,376 7 0 3,383 

Inter-segment sales2) 307 0 307 -307 0 0 
Revenues  7,041 851 7,892 -300 0 7,592 

       
Segment operating result3) -260 -8,461 -8,721 -300 0 -9,021 

Depreciation and amortisation -1 -571 -572 -179  -751 

Share of result of an associate 0 0 0 -102  -102 

       
Assets       
Investment in an associate 0 0 0 2,513  2,513 
Segment investments4) 0 0 0 142  142 
Segment assets5) 4,409 29,170 33,579 19,076  52,655 
Segment liabilities6) 0 358 358 16,021  16,379 
       
2012       
Revenues with external customers 8,384 0 8,384 0 -5,000 3,384 

Other income 2,518 5 2,523 409 -32 2,900 

Inter-segment sales2) 336 0 336 -336 0 0 
Revenues 11,238 5 11,243 73 -5,032 6,284 

       

Segment operating result3) 5,718 -17,156 -11,438 16 -5,018 -16,440 

Depreciation and amortisation 0 -693 -693 -154  -847 

Share of result of an associate 0 0 0 -59  -59 

       

Assets       

Investment in an associate 0 0 0 2,727  2,727 

Segment investments4) 6 55 61 209  270 

Segment assets5) 3,344 29,581 32,925 28,330  61,255 

Segment liabilities6) 68 304 372 16,716  17,088 
1) Segment »Reconciliation«  includes information that can be allocated to neither the »Marketed Products« segment nor the »Drug Candidates« segment, as it does not depict 

any activity of its own. 
2) Inter-segment sales are eliminated for consolidation purposes. 
3) Segment operating result does not include any other interest and similar income (2013: €24 k; 2012: €55 k), any interest payable and similar expenses (2013: €1,577 k; 2012: 

€1,260 k), foreign exchange gains (2013: €412 k; 2012: €689 k), or any share of loss of an associate (2013: €102 k; 2012: €59 k). Segment operating result includes gains from 
inter-segment sales (2013: €307 k; 2012: €336 k). 

4) Segment investments relate to additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. 
5) Segment assets under »Reconciliation« include in part non-current assets (2013: €7,222 k; 2012: €7,601 k), cash and cash equivalents (2013: €10,166 k; 2012: €20,113 k), and 

other current assets (2013: €1,688 k; 2012: €616 k).  
6) Segment liabilities under »Reconciliation« include non-current liabilities (2013: €10,951 k; 2012: €12467 k), trade accounts payable and other liabilities (2013: €5,070 k; 2012: 

€3,607 k) and tax liabilities (2013: €0; 2012: €642 k). 
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Geographic or regional segments 

The Group operates in Europe, Asia and the USA.  
 
REVENUES WITH EXTERNAL CUSTOMERS 
IN € K 2013 2012 

UK 0 5,000 

USA 3,246 2,115 

Other 963 1,269 

Total 4,209 8,384 

 
Information about segment revenues is arranged according to the relevant customer’s location.  
 
The major portion of non-current assets is held in Germany. In addition, a shareholding is held in an associate in the 
USA (Catherex, Inc.). 
 

 

(56) Legal disputes and appeals 

In June 2010, a third party opposed the granting of European Patent No. EP 1530465 to Medigene AG. The patent 
relates to the manufacturing process for EndoTAG-1 and to compositions that can be manufactured using this pro-
cess. In December 2011, the European Patent Office decided in a first-instance ruling that the patent is upheld to an 
extent which continues to protect the product EndoTAG-1. In the course of opposition proceedings, Medigene AG 
had restricted its patent claims to the features that are relevant to EndoTAG-1. The opponent filed a notice of ap-
peal against the decision of the European Patent Office. A decision in this appeal procedure is not expected until 
2015. Medigene continues to assume that the patent will be upheld with a scope that remains to protect the En-
doTAG-1 product. 
 
The European Patent EP2108362 was granted in May 2013 from a divisional application of the above-mentioned 
patent. The patent refers to specific liposomal compositions comprising taxanes with a specific stability. In February 
2014, an opposition against this patent was filed as well. The first decision in this opposition proceedings is not ex-
pected until mid-2015. The risk situation for the in intellectual property rights position for EndoTAG-1 remains basi-
cally unchanged compared to the preceding year, by the opposition to the newly issued patent EP2108362 filed. 
 
In the past twelve months, no judicial disputes that could have a major influence on the Company’s or its subsidiaries 
financial situation have been pending, nor is there currently a threat of any such dispute. 
 
Further judicial disputes cannot be ruled out in the future. 
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(57) German Corporate Governance Code 

Medigene AG’s Executive Board and Supervisory Board confirmed in their declaration of compliance of 16 December 
2013 that Medigene AG complies with the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code in the ver-
sions dated 15 May 2012 and 13 May 2013, with the exceptions mentioned in the declaration of compliance. The 
recommendations of the Code which Medigene AG does not implement are explained in detail and justified in the dec-
laration of compliance pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). This statement is per-
manently made available in English and German on the Medigene AG website at http://www.medigene.com/media-
investors/corporate-governance. 
 

(58) Auditing fees 

The auditors and Group auditors received the following fees for the financial  year ended: 
 
AUDITING FEES 
IN € K 2013 2012 

Audit services 128 143 

Audit related services (review of quarterly reports) 7 ‒ 

Tax services 6 ‒ 

Other services (transaction support services) 145 28 

Total 286 171 

I) EXECUTIVE BOARD AND SUPERVISORY BOARD 

(59) Executive Board 

Remuneration of the Executive Board 

Remuneration of the members of the Executive Board totaled €1,030 k in the financial  year ended (2012: €1,035 k), 
including pension expenses of €48 k (2012: €52 k) and vehicle leasing costs for company cars of €29 k (2012: €31 k). 
In addition, stock options with a fair value of €31 k (2012: €34 k) were issued to the Executive Board.  
 
In financial  year 2013, Medigene made a payment of €6 k (2012: €6 k) to the benevolent fund in connection with a 
pension commitment to a former member of the Executive Board. 
 
Pursuant to point 2.2.1 (II) of the German Corporate Governance Code, the Annual General Meeting may pass a resolu-
tion to approve the remuneration system for Executive Board members. The resolution approving the current remu-
neration system was passed at the Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2010. A majority of 96% of the share capital 
represented adopted the remuneration system for Executive Board members. 
 
Report on the remuneration system for members of the Executive Board of Medigene AG 

The full Supervisory Board is responsible for setting the remuneration of Medigene AG’s Executive Board members. It 
is regularly reviewed, taking into account the provisions relating to the Supervisory Board as per section 87 (I) and (II) 
of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code. 
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The Supervisory Board resolved adjustments in light of the German act on appropriate Executive Board remuneration 
(Gesetz zur Angemessenheit der Vorstandsvergütung, VorstAG), which came into force on 5 August 2009. At the An-
nual General Meeting 2010, the Executive and Supervisory Boards presented the current remuneration system for 
Executive Board members. It was adopted by a majority of 96% of the share capital represented. The remuneration 
system has been implemented in all current employment contracts for Executive Board members. It is described as 
follows: 
 
The amount and structure of the remuneration of Executive Board members depend on the respective responsibilities 
of each Executive Board member, the Company’s economic and financial position and the sustained growth of the 
Company as well as common practice regarding remuneration, taking into account the amount and structure of the 
remuneration which is paid to others by the Company and that is paid in similar companies. 
 
In addition, remuneration is based on the individual performance of Executive Board members as well as the achieve-
ments of the Executive Board as a whole. Remuneration is designed as an incentive for achieving sustainable corpo-
rate growth and a sustained increase in the Company value. 
Total remuneration comprises fixed and variable components as well as other benefits, as described below: 
 
a) Fixed remuneration 
Each member of the Executive Board receives fixed remuneration, which is not performance-related and is paid in 
monthly installments. The amount of the fixed remuneration is determined on the basis of the principles described 
above. 
 
b) Variable remuneration 
1) Annual performance-related remuneration  
In addition to fixed remuneration, Executive Board members are entitled to variable remuneration, which is dependent 
on the achievement of several targets specified by the Supervisory Board in advance. The annual performance-related 
remuneration amounts to 50% of fixed remuneration if 100% of the targets are met and may be a maximum of 75% 
of fixed remuneration. 
 
(1) Setting of objectives 
The Supervisory Board sets annual objectives, both comprehensively for all Executive Board members and, in addi-
tion, separately for each member of the Executive Board. The objectives are weighted by the Supervisory Board. 
 
(2) Establishing the amount of annual performance-related remuneration 
The individual objectives set by the Supervisory Board are allocated to one of three possible objectives achievement 
scenarios: low case, base case und best case.  
→ The low case scenario corresponds to a 50% achievement of objectives, the base case to 100% and the best case 

to 150%. 
→ In the event that achievement of objectives is below the low case threshold, no variable remuneration is paid. If 

the achievement of objectives is in the range between the low case and base case, variable remuneration increas-
es on a straight-line basis according to the objective percentage achieved. If the target achievement is in the 
range between base case and best case, there is no straight-line increase and only the fulfillment of the best case 
scenario corresponds to an objective achievement of 150%. Objective achievement which surpasses the best 
case is not reflected in terms of higher remuneration. To this extent, variable remuneration is capped. 

→ The amount of the annual performance-related remuneration is calculated on the basis of the objective achieve-
ment percentage in relation to the specific targets, taking into account the weighting of the relevant objective. 
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(3) Short-term and long-term components of annual performance-related remuneration 
→ 65% of the annual performance-related payment granted is paid after the Company’s financial statements for 

the relevant financial  year have been adopted. Payment of the remaining 35% of the annual performance-related 
remuneration granted in a specific financial  year is deferred for a period of three years.  

→ At the end of this three-year period, the Supervisory Board decides whether and to what extent sustained corpo-
rate growth can be affirmed. Based on this decision, the Supervisory Board resolves whether and to what extent 
the remaining 35% of the relevant annual performance-based remuneration will be paid to the respective Execu-
tive Board member with appropriate interest. 

→ The Supervisory Board’s decision regarding sustained corporate growth is primarily based on the long-term trend 
in the Company value and, therefore, also the share price of the Company’s shares. The members of the Executive 
Board thus participate in the Company’s long-term growth on the basis of this remuneration component, and they 
also share in any negative developments. 

 
2) Stock options 
→ In addition, Executive Board members are granted stock options on the basis of the Company’s stock option pro-

gram. Stock options represent another long-term remuneration component. They are aimed at providing a per-
formance incentive which is geared to sustainable long-term corporate growth. 

→ Stock options are initially granted to each Executive Board member within the first year of their joining the Com-
pany. Subsequently, Executive Board members receive further stock options every year. The exercise price cor-
responds to the average closing price of the last 30 trading days prior to the issue of the stock option plus a 20% 
premium. 

→ Executive Board members may exercise their stock options at the earliest after a waiting period of four years, 
starting from the date of allotment of the relevant subscription right. The stock options have a contractual term 
of ten years. 

→ Based on the principles stated in this paragraph relating to the remuneration system, each Executive Board mem-
ber receives a specific number of stock options, which is separately set for each member every year. 

 
c) Other benefits 
In addition to the above-mentioned remuneration components, members of the Executive Board are granted addition-
al benefits, in particular 
→ a company car, 
→ reimbursement of business travel expenses, 
→ accident insurance coverage and payment of the relevant insurance premiums, 
→ D&O insurance with a deductible according to the statutory minimum amount and 
→ payment of an amount of €2 k per month as a pension contribution. 
 
The proportional structure of annual performance-related remuneration with a three-year sustainability component 
and the terms of stock options with a four-year waiting period prior to exercising the stock options create a signifi-
cant incentive to achieve sustained corporate growth, ensuring a balanced mix of short-term and long-term remunera-
tion components. 
 
d) Special termination rights in the event of a change in control 
The contracts of employment for Executive Board members Dr. Frank Mathias and Peter Llewellyn-Davies include 
special termination rights for both the Company and the Executive Board members in the event of a change in control.  
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A change in control within the meaning of the contractual agreement valid for Dr. Frank Mathias exists in the event of 
direct or indirect purchase of Company shares by a third party, which results in the third party directly or indirectly 
holding at least 30% of the Company’s voting rights within the meaning of Section 30 of the German Securities Acqui-
sition and Takeover Act (WpÜG), or more than 50 % of the voting rights present on average at the Company’s Annual 
General Meetings during the past three calendar years. 
 
A change in control within the meaning of the contractual agreement valid for Peter Llewellyn-Davies exists in the 
event of direct or indirect purchase of Company shares by a third party, which results in the third party directly or 
indirectly holding at least 30% of the Company’s voting rights within the meaning of Section 30 of the German Securi-
ties Acquisition and Takeover Act (WpÜG). 
 
In the event of a change in control, the Company has a special termination right for a period of one year following the 
date of the change in control in each case. 
 
The above-mentioned Executive Board members each have a special termination right for a period of one year after 
the date of the change in control if this change results in an unacceptable shift in the previous duties and responsibili-
ties of the relevant Executive Board member (budget, number of employees supervised and his role on the Board), or if 
the Company informs him that his appointment as Executive Board member will not be renewed and denial of such 
extension is not based on significant cause justifying extraordinary termination of the relevant Executive Board 
member’s contract for which he bears responsibility. 
 
If the term of office of Executive Board member Dr. Frank Mathias comes to an end as a result of the Company exer-
cising its special termination right referred to above, he will be entitled to a receive severance payment in the amount 
of the gross remuneration up to the regular end of his contract, a pro rata temporis gross bonus (without stock op-
tions) up to the regular end of the term of the Executive Board member’s contract on the basis of the average annual 
bonus of the past three full years prior to termination of that contract and a severance payment amounting to 2.5 
times the annual remuneration owed to him (without stock options). This severance payment may exceed neither the 
sum of three times the total annual remuneration plus the average annual bonus agreed at the time of the termination 
of employment, nor 1.5 times the remuneration anticipated for the remaining term of the employment contract, nor 
the sum of €750 k (caps). However, the Company’s Supervisory Board may at its discretion waive the last mentioned 
cap in recognition of Dr. Mathias’ outstanding achievements and extraordinary commitment in the situation leading to 
this special termination. 
 
In the event that Executive Board member Dr. Frank Mathias resigns under the special termination conditions listed 
above, he will be entitled to receive a severance payment in the amount of three times the gross monthly sum for 
every completed year of his membership of the Company’s Executive Board. The gross monthly amount is comprised 
of one twelfth of the actual gross remuneration at the time of resignation and one twelfth of the average annual bo-
nus. The severance payment may exceed neither the total of 36 gross monthly salary payments, nor 1.5 times the 
remuneration anticipated for the remaining term of the employment contract, nor the sum of €750 k (caps). However, 
the Company’s Supervisory Board may at its discretion waive the last mentioned cap in recognition of Dr. Mathias’ 
outstanding achievements and extraordinary commitment in the situation leading to this special termination. The 
minimum severance payment amounts to six gross monthly salary payments (lower limit). 
 
If the term of office of Executive Board member Peter Llewellyn-Davies comes to an end as a result of the Company 
exercising its special termination right referred to above, he will be entitled to receive a severance payment in the 
amount of the gross remuneration up to the regular end of his contract, a pro rata temporis gross bonus (without 
stock options) up to the regular end of the term of the Executive Board member’s contract on the basis of the average 
annual bonus of the past three full years prior to termination of that contract and a severance payment amounting to 
2.5 times the annual remuneration owed to him (without stock options). This severance payment may exceed neither 
the sum of three times the total annual remuneration plus the average annual bonus agreed at the time of the termina-
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tion of employment, nor 1.5 times the remuneration anticipated for the remaining term of the employment contract, 
nor the sum of €390 k (caps). 
 
In the event that Executive Board member Peter Llewellyn-Davies resigns under the special termination conditions 
listed above, he will be entitled to receive a severance payment in the amount of three times the gross monthly sum 
for every completed year of his membership of the Company’s Executive Board. The gross monthly amount is com-
prised of one twelfth of the actual gross remuneration at the time of resignation and one twelfth of the average annu-
al bonus. The severance payment may exceed neither the total of 36 gross monthly salary payments, nor 1.5 times the 
remuneration anticipated for the remaining term of the employment contract (caps). The minimum severance payment 
amounts to six gross monthly salary payments (lower limit). 
 
EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPENSATION 2013

 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER  FIXED 
COMPENSATION 

VARIABLE AND PER-
FORMANCE BASED 

COMPONENTS1) 

FRINGE  
BENEFIT2) 

 

VARIABLE COMPONENTS IN THE FORM OF 
STOCK OPTIONS 

   
 

IN € K 

 
 

IN € K 

 
 

IN € K 

NUMBER OF STOCK 
OPTONS 

 

FAIR VALUE OF 
OPTIONS  

IN € K 
Dr. Frank Mathias 
Chief Executive Officer 

 
375 188 40 8,750 17 

Peter Llewellyn-Davies 
Chief Financial Officer  260 130 37 7,500 14 
Total  635 318 77 16,250 31 
1) On the basis of the accruals for 2013 (without discounting) in the event of 100 % payment. 
2) Fringe benefits include pension expenses amounting to €48 k, and vehicle leasing amounting to €29 k for the members of the Executive Board. 

 
The members of the Executive Board additionally hold positions on the following supervisory boards and/or similar 
bodies: 

 
Dr. Frank Mathias 
 
External positions 
German supervisory board positions: 
→ Faller KG, Waldkirchen 
→ Mediatum AG, Heidelberg 
→ Rentschler Biotechnologie GmbH, Laupheim 
 
Positions outside Germany: 
→ Catherex, Inc., USA 
 
 
Peter Llewellyn-Davies  
 
External positions 
Positions outside Germany: 
→ Immunocore Ltd., UK  
→ Catherex, Inc., USA 
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(60) Supervisory Board 

Supervisory Board remuneration 

Supervisory Board remuneration amounted to €224 k in 2013 (2012: €255 k). The total remuneration paid to the 
members of the Supervisory Board comprises a fixed portion as well as meeting attendance fees. In addition, expens-
es are reimbursed. The greater scope of activities of the Supervisory Board Chairman and his Deputy are taken into 
account and reflected accordingly by higher remuneration. Details regarding the subscription rights of members of 
the Supervisory Board and Executive Board are provided in ≥ note (61). No advances were paid to members of the 
Supervisory Board and Executive Board.  
 
SUPERVISORY BOARD REMUNERATION 2013 
SUPERVISORY BOARD MEMBER FIXED  

COMPENSATION  
IN € K 

 FEES FOR ATTEN-
DING MEETINGS 

IN € K 
 

Prof. Dr. Ernst-Ludwig Winnacker 
Chairman  (until 20 August 2013)  27 22 
Prof. Dr. Norbert Riedel 
Deputy Chairman (until 16 July 2013) 20 15 
Dr. Pol Bamelis 
Member (until 16 July 2013) 13 8 
Dr. Mathias Albert Boehringer 
Member (until 16 July 2013) 13 8 
Dr. Thomas Werner 
Member (until 20 August 2013) 14 13 
Klaus Kühn 
Member (until 20 August 2013) 14 10 
Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey 
Chairman (since 16 July 2013) 12 7 
Dave Lemus 
Deputy Chairman (since 16 July 2013) 9 7 
Dr. Yita Lee 
Member (since 16 July 2013) 6 6 
Total 128 96 

 
Supervisory Board members of Medigene AG in 2013: 
 
Prof. Dr. Ernst-Ludwig Winnacker (until 20 August 2013) 
since 26 November 1996 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
Secretary General of Human Frontier Science Program (HFSP), Strasbourg, France 
 
External positions 
German supervisory board positions: 
→ Bayer AG, Leverkusen, Germany 
→ Wacker Chemie AG, Munich, Germany 
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Prof. Dr. Norbert Riedel (until 16 July 2013) 
since 27 October 2003  
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
President and Chief Executive Officer, Naurex, Inc., Illinois, USA 
 
External positions 
Positions outside Germany: 
→ ARIAD Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Cambridge, MA, USA  
 
 
Dr. Pol Bamelis (until 16 July 2013) 
since 23 May 2001 
Independent Director, Knokke, Belgium 
 
External positions 
German supervisory board positions: 
→ Hemacon GmbH, Düsseldorf 
 
Positions outside Germany: 
→ Actogenix N.V., Belgium 
→ PolyTechnos Ltd., Guernsey, United Kingdom 
 
 
Dr. Mathias Albert Boehringer (until 16 July 2013) 
since 16 July 2008 
Businessman, Ingelheim, Germany 
 
External positions 
German supervisory board positions: 
→ Boehringer Ingelheim Gesellschafterausschuss, Ingelheim 
→ Phenex Pharmaceutical AG, Ludwigshafen 
→ Phorms Management AG, Berlin 
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Dr. Thomas Werner (until 20 August 2013) 
since 2 February 2010 
Management Consultant, Utting am Ammersee, Germany 
 
External positions 
German supervisory board positions: 
→ 4SC AG, Planegg/Martinsried 
→ SuppreMol GmbH, Planegg/Martinsried 
→ BSN Medical GmbH, Hamburg 
→ Blackfield AG, Cologne  
 
Positions outside Germany: 
→ SkyePharma plc., London, United Kingdom 
→ Basilea Pharmaceutical Ltd., Basel, Switzerland 
 
 
Klaus Kühn (until 20 August 2013) 
Since 4 August 2011 
Independent Director, Cologne, Germany 
 
External positions 
German supervisory board positions: 
→ Flossbach von Storch AG, Cologne 
→ Hella KGaA Hueck & Co., Lippstadt 
→ 4SC AG, Planegg/Martinsried  
 
 
Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey  
since 16 July 2013 
Managing Director of BioM Biotech Cluster Management GmbH and Member of the Executive Board of BioM AG  
Munich Biotech Development, Munich 
 
External positions 
Positions outside Germany: 
→ Oasmia Pharmaceutical AB, Uppsala, Sweden 
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Dave Lemus 
since 16 July 2013 
Chief Executive Officer, Sigma-Tau Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Gaithersburg, USA  
 
External positions 
German supervisory board positions 
→ Proteros BioStructures GmbH, Planegg/Martinsried 
 
Positions outside Germany: 
→ Axela Inc., Toronto, Canada 
→ PhRMA (Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association of America), Washington, D.C., USA 
 
 
Dr. Yita Lee 
since 16 July 2013 
Chief Scientific Officer of Sinphar Group, Taiwan 
 
External positions 
Positions outside Germany: 
→ Sinphar Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Taiwan 
→ SynCore Biotechnology Co., Ltd, Taiwan 
→ ZuniMed Biotech Co., Ltd., Yilan, Taiwan 
→ CanCap Pharmaceutical Ltd., Richmond, Canada 
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(61)  Directors‘ holdings and notes on subscription rights 

DIRECTORS‘ HOLDINGS AND NOTES ON SUBSCRIPTION RIGHTS
 

  

IN NO. SHARES OPTIONS 

  31 DEC 2013 31 DEC 20121) 31 DEC 2013 31 DEC 20121) 

Prof. Dr. Ernst-Ludwig Winnacker 
Chairman  (until 20 August 2013)  68,619 

 
68,619 0 

 
0 

Prof. Dr. Norbert Riedel 
Deputy Chairman (until 16 July 2013) 825 

 
825 0 

 
0 

Dr. Pol Bamelis 
Member (until 16 July 2013) 100 

 
100 0 

 
0 

Dr. Mathias Albert Boehringer 
Member (until 16 July 2013) 0 

 
0 0 

 
0 

Dr. Thomas Werner 
Member (until 20 August 2013) 0 

 
0 0 

 
0 

Klaus Kühn 
Member (until 20 August 2013) 0 

 
0 0 

 
0 

Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey 
Chairman (since 16 July 2013) 39,125 ‒ 0 ‒ 
Dave Lemus 
Deputy Chairman (since 16 July 2013) 0 ‒ 0 ‒ 
Dr. Yita Lee 
Member (since 16 July 2013) 0 ‒ 0 ‒ 
Total Supervisory Board 108,669 69,544 0 0 
Dr. Frank Mathias 
Chief Executive Officer 1,499 1,500 49,375 40,625 
Peter Llewellyn-Davies 
Chief Financial Officer 3,000 1,500 9,375 1,875 
Total Executive Board  4,499 3,000 58,750 42,500 
1) Following the capital reduction in 2013, the previous year’s figures relating to the number of shares and options were reduced in a ratio of 4:1. 

 

(62) Notification in accordance with Section 21 of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG) and 
publication in accordance with Section 25 and 26 of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG)  

The following notifications pursuant to Sections 20 (I) and (IV) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and in 
accordance with Sections 21 (I) and (Ia) of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG) were received in respect of 
financial year 2013:  
 
SynCore Biotechnology Co. Ltd., Taiwan, notified Medigene on 4 June 2013 that SynCore Biotechnology Co. Ltd. had 
been entitled to the voting rights relating to 2,405,800 shares, representing 6.09% of the shares in Medigene AG, 
since 29 May 2013 and that the Company therefore exceeded the thresholds of 3% and 5% of the voting rights in 
Medigene AG on that date and that the 6.09% (2,405,800 voting rights) are directly attributable to SynCore Biotech-
nology Co. Ltd. 
 
Sinphar Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd., Taiwan, notified Medigene on 4 June 2013 that Sinphar Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd. had 
been entitled to the voting rights relating to 2,405,800 shares, representing 6.09% of the shares in Medigene AG, 
since 29 May 2013 and that the Company therefore exceeded the thresholds of 3% and 5% of the voting rights in 
Medigene AG on that date and that the 6.09% (2,405,800 voting rights) were attributable to Sinphar Pharmaceutical 
Co. Ltd. pursuant to Section 22 (I) (1) no. 3 of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG). Furthermore, Sinphar Phar-
maceutical Co. Ltd. notified that the voting rights attributed to it were held via the following Company in which 
Sinphar Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd. has a majority shareholding and whose share of the voting rights in Medigene AG 
exceeds 3%: SynCore Biotechnology Co. Ltd. 
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THE EXECUTIVE BOARD 

Planegg/Martinsried, Germany, 18 March 2014 
Medigene AG 
 
 
Dr. Frank Mathias 
Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
Peter Llewellyn-Davies 
Chief Financial Officer 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIXED 
ASSETS 
OF MEDIGENE AG FOR THE PERIOD FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2013 AND 2012 

 
IN € K INITIAL COST 

 1 JAN 2013 CURRENCY 
TRANSLATION 
ADUSTMENTS 

 

ADDITION DISPOSAL 31 DEC 2013 

Property, plant and equipment 6,730 -3 69 -69 6,727 

      

Intangible assets 31,096 0 74 0 31,170 

thereof RhuDex 23,750 0 0 0 23,750 

thereof EndoTAG-1 7,131 0 0 0 7,131 

thereof other 215 0 74 0 289 

      

Goodwill 3,141 0 0 0 3,141 

      

Total 40,967 -3 143 -69 41,038 

 
 
 
IN € K INITIAL COST 

 1 JAN 2012 CURRENCY 
TRANSLATION 

ADJUSTMENTS 
 

ADDITION DISPOSAL 31 DEC 2012 

Property, plant and equipment 6,727 -2 166 -161 6,730 

      

Intangible assets 30,993 -1 104 0 31,096 

thereof RhuDex 23,750 0 0 0 23,750 

thereof EndoTAG-1 7,131 0 0 0 7,131 

thereof other 112 -1 104 0 215 

      

Goodwill 3,141 0 0 0 3,141 

      

Total 40,861 -3 270 -161 40,967 
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ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION CARRYING AMOUNT 

1 JAN 2013 CURRENCY 
TRANSLATION 

ADJUSTMENTS 
 

ADDITION DISPOSAL 31 DEC 2013 31 DEC 2013 31 DEC 2012 

6,126 -3 266 -67 6,322 405 604 
       

3,727 0 485 0 4,212 26,958 27,369 
0 0 0 0 0 23,750 23,750 

3,714 0 446 0 4,160 2,971 3,417 

13 0 39 0 52 237 202 

       
929 0 0 0 929 2,212 2,212 

       
10,782 -3 751 -67 11,463 29,575 30,185 

 
 
 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION CARRYING AMOUNT 
1 JAN 2012 CURRENCY 

TRANSLATION 
ADJUSTMENTS 

 

ADDITION DISPOSAL 31 DEC 2012 31 DEC 2012 31 DEC 2011 

5,898 -2 388 -158 6,126 604 829 
       

3,268 0 459 0 3,727 27,369 27,725 
0 0 0 0 0 23,750 23,750 

3,268 0 446 0 3,714 3,417 3,863 

0 0 13 0 13 202 112 

       
929 0 0 0 929 2,212 2,212 

       
10,095 -2 847 -158 10,782 30,185 30,766 
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AUDIT OPINION 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by Medigene AG, Planegg/Martinsried, for the fiscal 
year from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013, comprising the consolidated statement of operations, the consoli-
dated statement of comprehensive income and losses, the consolidated statement of financial position, the consoli-
dated statement of cash flows, the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity and the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, together with the group management report. The preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements and the group management report in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the addi-
tional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315a (I) HGB [»Handelsgesetzbuch«: German Com-
mercial Code] is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements and on the group management report based on our audit. 
 
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Sec. 317 HGB and German gener-
ally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Insti-
tute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit such that mis-
statements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial position and results of operations in the 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework and in the group 
management report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic 
and legal environment of the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the de-
termination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and the evi-
dence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the group management report are ex-
amined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial 
statements of those entities included in consolidation, the determination of entities to be included in consolidation, 
the accounting and consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluat-
ing the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report. We believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
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Our audit has not led to any reservations. 
 
In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with IFRSs as adopted 
by the EU as well as the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315a (I) HGB and give a 
true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group in accordance with these 
requirements. The group management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole 
provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future develop-
ment.  
 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to the disclosures in the group management report. As it is de-
scribed in the section »Financing risks«, the ability of the Parent and therefore of the Group to continue as a going 
concern is endangered, since based on the latest business plans and the scenarios developed therein, as well as based 
on the available financial resources as of 31 December 2013, the Company’s operations are only financed until the 
second quarter of 2015. The ability to raise additional funds from external sources depends on financial, economic 
and other factors, on which management has only a limited influence. These factors also include the results of the 
research and development activities. At this point of time, the Executive Board believes that it is predominantly prob-
able that additional funding from external sources, for example, from further partnerships with pharmaceutical com-
panies or by virtue of capital measures, can be obtained in a timely manner.  
 
 
Munich, 18 March 2014 
 
 
Ernst & Young GmbH  
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
 
 
 
Barth   Gallowsky 
Wirtschaftsprüfer  Wirtschaftsprüfer 
(German Public Auditor) (German Public Auditor) 

 



128 RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 

To the best of our knowledge and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Group, and the 
Group management report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the posi-
tion of the Group, together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected 
development of the Group. 
 
Planegg/Martinsried, 18 March 2014 
 
The Executive Board 
 
 

                

Dr. Frank Mathias  Peter Llewellyn-Davies 
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD 

In 2013, the number of seats on Medigene’s supervisory body was reduced and new members were appointed. New 
Supervisory Board Chairman Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey reports on the composition and tasks of this corporate body and 
provides information about the Supervisory Board’s activities in 2013. 
 
 
Dear Shareholders,  
 
I am delighted to be reporting for the first time in my capacity as Chairman on the Supervisory Board’s work in 
financial year 2013. 
 
The Supervisory Board of Medigene AG underwent a long-term reorganisation in 2013. It was reduced from six to 
three members by resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 16 July 2013. With the end of the Annual General 
Meeting on 16 July 2013, the term of office of all Supervisory Board members also ended. The Annual General 
Meeting therefore also had to elect new Supervisory Board members. I am pleased to have taken on my new role and 
embracing exciting and challenging duties together with my Supervisory Board colleagues Dave Lemus and Yita Lee. 
As a co-founder and shareholder of Medigene, I have had close ties with the Company from the beginning and was 
aware of the responsibilities and future tasks I face. The Supervisory Board members stepping down provided 
sustained and constructive support to us during the handover phase, which has enabled us to continue the work of our 
predecessors seamlessly. 
 
During the 2013 financial year, the Supervisory Board performed the duties it is charged with under the law and 
according to the Articles of Incorporation fully and with great care. On the basis of verbal and written reports by the 
Executive Board, the Supervisory Board continuously monitored the Company’s management and regularly advised 
the Executive Board on related issues. The Executive Board directly involved the Supervisory Board in all decisions 
that were of critical significance for the Company and in agreeing the strategic direction of the Company. The 
Supervisory Board voted on the resolutions proposed by the Executive Board after in-depth examination and 
discussion. 
 
In addition to the reporting which took place during regular Supervisory Board meetings, the Executive Board 
routinely and promptly issued comprehensive written and verbal reports on the current status of research and 
development projects, the Company’s financial position and business development, corporate planning, major 
business transactions and fundamental matters of corporate policy, including the Company’s strategic and 
organisational focus, cost and earnings trend, investment measures and financial planning. The Supervisory Board 
members and Supervisory Board Chairman were also in regular contact with the Executive Board outside the 
scheduled Supervisory Board meetings to obtain information about current business developments and discussed 
these internally, e.g. in conference calls.  
 
The Supervisory Board continuously and attentively observed, monitored and reviewed the Company’s risk situation 
and its risk management, and ensured that the Company was managed in conformity with the law. Any deviation of 
business activities from plans and objectives were explained in detail to the Supervisory Board, and the Executive 
Board discussed and agreed the Company’s strategic focus with the Supervisory Board. All business transactions of 
importance to the Company were explored in detail during the Supervisory Board plenary sessions. The Executive 
Board provides information on the risk management system implemented by the Company in the risk report of the 
Annual Report. 
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Supervisory Board meetings 
The Supervisory Board carried out its duties on the basis of the Executive Board’s detailed written and verbal reports, 
which provided topical and comprehensive information. During the 2013 financial year, eight meetings (29 January 
2013, 4 February 2013, 13 March 2013, 12 April 2013, 15 May 2013, 16 July 2013, 6 August 2013, 16 October 2013 
and 16 December 2013) were held, one of which was a conference call. None of the members of the Supervisory Board 
participated in less than half of the meetings. In 2014, prior to the Supervisory Board meeting that approved the 
financial statements on 18 March 2014, the Audit Committee held one conference call (14 March 2014) and the full 
Supervisory Board also held one conference call (27 January 2014). When required, the Supervisory Board 
documented resolutions in writing. Employees of the Company and external experts were brought in to consult on 
specific topics. The Supervisory Board was also available to discuss matters one-on-one with the Executive Board. 
The Chairman of the Supervisory Board regularly spoke with Dr. Frank Mathias, CEO, keeping himself and his 
Supervisory Board colleagues updated about major business transactions and offering advice and support to the 
Executive Board. 
 
All business transactions submitted to the Supervisory Board requiring either statutory approval or approval 
pursuant to the Articles of Incorporation by the Supervisory Board were discussed in depth with the Executive Board. 
In addition to the financial position and the trend in revenues, earnings and projects as well as the current business 
trend, in financial year 2013 the Supervisory Board directed its particular attention to obtaining comprehensive 
information about the EndoTAG®-1 and RhuDex® projects and activities relating to a partnership for EndoTAG®-1 with 
strategic partner Syncore Biotechnologies Ltd. Another focus was on discussing and deliberating on the strategic 
direction for the Company, especially taking into account the expansion of the development pipeline. In this 
connection, the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board together carefully weighed up and discussed the strategic 
elements of the acquisition of Trianta Immunotherapies GmbH. Finally, the approval and commercialisation activities 
relating to the product Veregen® were closely observed by the Supervisory Board and regularly discussed with the 
Executive Board. 
 
In its meetings on 29 January 2013 and 4 February 2013, the Supervisory Board had an intense discussion on the 
development options for drug candidate RhuDex®, taking into account Medigene’s general corporate strategy. An 
enhanced development plan for RhuDex® and the necessary adjustments to the budget were approved. 
 
In the meeting on 13 March 2013, the Supervisory Board examined the annual and consolidated financial statements 
as at 31 December 2012 in detail in the presence of the auditors. Furthermore, the Executive Board and Supervisory 
Board discussed the business plan for 2013. The Supervisory Board members discussed the targets for financial year 
2013 amongst themselves, and also with the Executive Board, and adopted them. 
 
On 12 April 2013, the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board discussed the future strategic options for 
strengthening the Company’s development pipeline and specified guidelines for new merger & acquisitions activities. 
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On 15 May 2013, the Supervisory Board dealt in detail with the development projects, in particular the further 
development strategy for EndoTAG®-1. The discussion centred on the ongoing contract negotiations with Syncore 
Biotechnology Co. Ltd., Taiwan, regarding the expansion of the existing development and marketing partnership 
agreement for EndoTAG®-1. The Supervisory Board studied the content of the envisaged transaction in depth and 
approved the contract for the expanded partnership-based development of EndoTAG®-1 as part of a separate written 
decision-making procedure on 27 May 2013. On 15 May 2013, the Supervisory Board prepared the 2013 Annual 
General Meeting and reviewed the efficiency of its own activities. 
 
By a resolution dated 27 May 2013, the Supervisory Board finally approved the partial utilisation of authorised 
capital 2012 for the purpose of implementing a cash capital increase excluding the statutory subscription rights of 
shareholders.  
 
In its meetings on 16 July 2013 and 6 August 2013, the Supervisory Board of the Company reformed. The Supervisory 
Board members appointed a new Audit Committee and a new Compensation and Nomination Committee and had an 
intense dialogue on Medigene AG’s strategic aims and development projects. 
 
During the meetings on 16 October and 16 December 2013, reports on the clinical development of RhuDex® and 
EndoTAG®-1 were on the agenda. The Supervisory Board also extensively discussed the status of strategic merger & 
acquisitions activities in these two meetings. In its meeting on 16 December 2013, the Supervisory Board deliberated 
on the amendments to the German Corporate Governance Code and approved the declaration pursuant to Section 161 
of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). Finally, it reviewed the remuneration system for the Executive Board.  
 
During its conference call on 27 January 2014, the Supervisory Board adopted the resolutions approving the 
acquisition of Trianta Immunotherapies GmbH and the increase in the share capital based on partial utilisation of 
authorised capital 2012 excluding the subscription rights of existing shareholders.   
 
Supervisory Board committees 
A Compensation Committee and an Audit Committee existed throughout the 2013 financial year up to the Annual 
General Meeting on 16 July 2013. Since the Annual General Meeting, a new Audit Committee and a new 
Compensation and Nomination Committee were set up.  
 
The Compensation Committee held two meetings in the course of 2013 and the Audit Committee held five 
meetings, four of which were conference calls. 
 
SUPERVISORY BOARD COMMITTEES 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS 

Compensation Committee  
(until the end of  the Annual General Meeting on 16 July 2013) 

Prof. Dr. Ernst-Ludwig Winnacker  
(Chairman) 
Dr. Pol Bamelis 
Prof. Dr. Norbert Riedel 

Audit Committee  
(until the end of the  Annual General Meeting on 16 July 2013) 

Klaus Kühn (Chairman) 
Dr. Mathias Boehringer 
Dr. Thomas Werner 

Compensation Committee  
(since  the Annual General Meeting on 16 July 2013) 

Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey (Chairman) 
Dave Lemus  
Yita Lee 

Audit Committee  
(since the Annual  General Meeting on 16 July 2013) 

Dave Lemus (Chairman) 
Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey 
Yita Lee 
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The duties of the Compensation Committee covered preparations related to employment matters of Executive 
Board members. Its main tasks were the conclusion and amendment of the Executive Board members’ employment 
contracts as well as stipulating their remuneration. Key topics for consultation included the setting of bonuses and 
stock options relating to the remuneration system for the Executive Board. 
 
The members of the Audit Committee deal with issues relating to accounting and risk management, the required 
independence of the auditor, issuing the audit assignment to the auditor, determining audit priorities and agreeing 
the audit fee with the auditors. The Audit Committee obtained the auditor’s declaration of impartiality pursuant to 
point 7.2.1 of the German Corporate Governance Code and monitored the auditor’s impartiality. In the presence of 
the auditor and the Chief Financial Officer, the Audit Committee discussed the audit of the individual and 
consolidated financial statements of Medigene AG. Furthermore, the Audit Committee regularly discussed the 
half-yearly and quarterly reports with the Executive Board prior to their publication. Moreover, it provided the 
Supervisory Board with a recommendation with regard to proposing an auditor for election by the Annual General 
Meeting. The Audit Committee also monitored the accounting process, the efficacy of the internal control system, 
the risk management system and the internal auditing system.  
 
The committees informed the Supervisory Board about their work at regular intervals in the subsequent plenary 
sessions. 
 
Corporate governance 
As outlined above, the Supervisory Board addressed the subject of Medigene AG’s compliance with the 
recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code in 2013. The Executive and Supervisory Boards 
discussed intensively the implementation of the Code at Medigene AG in the Supervisory Board meeting on 16 
December 2013 and issued the annual declaration of compliance pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG). The declaration is available at all times to shareholders on the Company’s website at 
http://www.medigene.com/media-investors/corporate-governance. 
 
In its corporate governance report, the Executive Board reported on corporate governance at Medigene, also on 
behalf of the Supervisory Board, pursuant to point 3.10 of the German Corporate Governance Code. 
 
In the 2013 financial year, no conflicts of interest arose on the part of the members of the Executive Board. As a 
matter of form, I should like to point out that I am Chairman of the Executive Board of BioM AG, 
Planegg/Martinsried, Germany, which in turn was a minority shareholder of Trianta Immunotherapies GmbH, 
Planegg/Martinsried, Germany. Medigene AG acquired the shares BioM AG held in Trianta Immunotherapies GmbH 
based on the contribution agreement dated 27 January 2014. I was present at the Supervisory Board meetings of 
Medigene AG which dealt with the acquisition of Trianta Immunotherapies GmbH, however, did not actively 
participate in the deliberations and abstained in any votes on this matter. I declined to voteon the BioM AG side 
regarding the selling of the shares in Trianta Immunotherapies GmbH held by BioM AG. This ensured that any 
temporary conflict of interest relating to this topic for discussion and decision-making was avoided. 
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Supervisory Board members 
At this point, I would like to provide further details regarding the changes which occurred in terms of the 
composition of the Supervisory Board in 2013. The Annual General Meeting of Medigene AG resolved on 16 July 
2013 that the Supervisory Board would be reduced from six to three members and, at the Supervisory Board’s 
suggestion, elected the persons listed under a) to f) below as new Supervisory Board members at the scheduled 
election interval. 
 
The persons indicated below under a) to c) were appointed for the time until the end of the Annual General Meeting 
which resolves on granting discharge to the Supervisory Board for the 3rd financial year after the start of the 
members’ term of office, so until the Annual General Meeting for 2016. 
 
The appointment of the persons listed under d) to f) below was for the time until registration of the resolved 
amendment of the Articles of Incorporation regarding the reduction in size of the Supervisory Board from six to 
three people. The amendment to the Articles of Incorporation was entered in the commercial register on 20 August 
2013, so that the term of office of these people ended at the end of the day on 20 August 2013. 
 
The following persons were elected as Supervisory Board members: 
 

a) Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey 
Managing Director of BioM Biotech Cluster Development GmbH, resident in Neuried, Germany 

 
b) Dave Lemus 

Chief Executive Officer, Sigma-Tau Pharmaceuticals Inc., resident in Potomac, Maryland (MD), USA 
 

c) Dr. Yita Lee 
Chief Scientific Officer of the Sinphar Group, resident in Yilan, Taiwan 

 
d) Prof. Dr. Ernst-Ludwig Winnacker (until 20 August 2013) 

Secretary-General of the Human Frontier Science Program (HFSP), resident in Munich, Germany 
 

e) Dr. Thomas Werner (until 20 August 2013) 
Self-employed business consultant, resident in Utting am Ammersee, Germany 
 

f) Klaus Kühn (until 20 August 2013) 
of independent means, resident in Cologne, Germany 
 

In its constituent meeting on 16 July 2013, the members of the Supervisory Board elected Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey 
as Chairman of the Supervisory Board and of the Compensation Committee and Dave Lemus as Chairman of the 
Audit Committee.  
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Individual and consolidated financial statements 
The auditor elected by the Annual General Meeting and commissioned by the Supervisory Board, Ernst & Young 
GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich, Germany, audited the financial statements of Medigene AG as at 
31 December 2013 and the management’s discussion and analysis of Medigene AG for the 2013 financial year. The 
financial statements were prepared by the Executive Board in accordance with the regulations of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB). The auditor issued an unqualified audit opinion. The Audit Committee had commissioned 
the audit in accordance with the shareholders’ resolution dated 16 July 2013. The consolidated financial 
statements of Medigene AG were prepared on the basis of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as applicable throughout the EU, and the additional requirements pursuant to Section 315a (I) of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB). The auditor also issued an unqualified audit opinion for the consolidated financial 
statements and the Group management’s discussion and analysis.  
 
The Audit Committee established the priorities of the audit for the reporting year together with the auditor.  
 
All Supervisory Board members received the financial statements as well as the auditor’s reports in a timely 
manner. They were reviewed in detail by the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board on 18 March 2014 and 
discussed in the presence of the Executive Board and the auditor. The auditor attended the deliberations and 
discussions about  the annual financial statements and the auditor’s report and reported in detail on the most 
important results of his audit, especially the results of his examination of the in-house control and risk 
management system and those relating to the accounting process. 
 
The Supervisory Board endorsed the auditor’s findings after examination of the individual and consolidated annual 
financial statements, the management’s discussion and analysis and the Group management’s discussion and 
analysis. In the meeting on 18 March 2014, the Supervisory Board approved the individual and consolidated 
financial statements as at 31 December 2013 in accordance with the recommendation of the Audit Committee. The 
financial statements have therefore been adopted. 
 
 
The Supervisory Board wishes to thank the Executive Board and all Medigene employees for their successful 
efforts on behalf of the Company in the 2013 financial year. Their collective commitment meant that they achieved 
excellent results in a difficult sector environment in the past financial year. 
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On behalf of the Supervisory Board, I also would like to thank you, the shareholders of Medigene AG, for your 
continued trust. 
 
For the Supervisory Board 
 
 

 

Prof. Dr. Horst Domdey 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
 
 
Planegg/Martinsried, Germany, March 2014 
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GLOSSARY 

A 

AAVLP 
Adeno-associated virus-like particle, AAV-like particle 
 
Adoptive T-cell therapy 
Means the transfer of defined T-cells to the patient 
 
AktG 
Aktiengesetz 
German Stock Corporation Act 
 
Antibody 
Protein substance produced by the immune system as a reaction to antigens for reasons of a body’s own defence 
mechanisms.  
 
Antigen 
Substance recognised as being foreign by the immune system 
 
Autologous 
Stemming from the own body 
 
Authorised capital 
Value or number of shares authorised in advance by the company’s General Meeting for the purpose of a possible 
capital increase against cash or non-cash contribution 
 
Autoimmune diseases 
Diseases caused by an overreaction to one’s own body tissue 

B 

B-cell epitope 
Part of the antigen that is recognised by the antibody or B-cell receptor 
 
Biopharmaceutical 
Research into and development of drugs and therapies (pharmaceutics), based on biotechnology and molecular  
biology 
 
Biotechnology 
Research into and development of drugs and therapies (pharmaceutics), based on biotechnology and molecular 
biology 
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C 

CD28 protein, CD80 protein 
Proteins on the surface of immune cells, involved in the onset of inflammatory processes 
(See also T-cell activation) 
 
CD80 antagonist 
Prevents the interaction of the surface protein 
CD80 with specific receptors 
 
CGU 
Cash-generating unit 
 
Combination therapy 
The simultaneous treatment of a patient with several therapeutic methods for the same disease 
 
Compassionate use 
Use of drugs which have yet to be approved and are prescribed by physicians to patients whose disease has pro-
gressed particularly rapidly and where no alternative treatment options exist 
 
Conditional capital 
Capital authorised by shareholders’ resolution for the issue of stock options or convertible bonds 
 
Controlled trial 
Trial with a control group of test persons who do not receive the active ingredient tested but a placebo 

D 

D&O insurance 
Directors and officers insurance 
A managers’ liability insurance effected by a company for its board members and executives 
 
DBO 
Defined benefit obligation 
Value of an obligation arising from company pension scheme 
 
Dendritic cell 
Cell of the immune system which presents antigens on its surface 
and is particularly capable of T-cell activation 
 
Dermatology 
Branch of medicine dealing with the treatment of skin conditions and benign and malignant skin tumours 
 
Drug candidate 
Drug which is still at the development stage 
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E 

EBITDA 
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortisation 
EBITDA is used to describe the result for the year excluding taxes, financial result, depreciation, amortisation, im-
pairment and other expenses 
 
Endothelial cells 
Line the interior surface of lymphatic and blood vessels 
 
Exploratory trials 
Intended for initial clarification and classification of problem areas. They are often conducted in order to get an over-
view, and thus serve as preparation for further studies. 

F 

FDA 
Food and Drug Administration 
Government agency of the United States Department of Health and Human Services 
 
Formulation 
The way in which an active ingredient is combined with suitable carrier substances and excipients and the form in 
which it is administered  

G 

Gemcitabine 
Agent used in chemotherapy, e.g. for pancreatic cancer 
 
Generic drug 
Copy of a drug already available on the market, containing 
the same active ingredient 
 
Genital warts 
Benign, but painful and disfiguring skin tumours in the 
genital and anal areas 
 
GMP 
Good Manufacturing Practice 
Quality assurance guidelines for production processes and environments in the manufacture of drugs 

H 
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HER2 receptor 
Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2, a protein found on the surface of many human organs 
(See also “triple negative breast cancer”) 
 
HGB 
Handelsgesetzbuch 
German Commercial Code 
 
Human papillomaviruses (HPV) 
Viruses that infect the epithelium of the skin and may cause uncontrolled tumour-like growth 

I 

IAS 
International Accounting Standards 
Part of the International Financial Reporting Standards 
 
IFRIC 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
 
IFRS 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
 
IIT (Investigator Initiated Trial) 
Clinical trial of a drug candidate that is instigated, organised and financed by the medical profession. Such trials focus 
on enhancing a specific therapy for patients. 
 
Immunotherapy 
Treatment methods which influence the immune system 
 
Indication 
Disease; reason for the execution of a medical examination or 
treatment 

L 

Leukapheresis 
Process for isolating white blood cells (leucocytes) from the patient’s blood 
 
Leucocytes 
White blood cells 
 
Licensing 
Sale or acquisition of development and/or marketing 
rights to a product 
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Liposomes 
Minute, hollow globules, composed of fat molecules 

 

M 

Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) 
Group of genes and proteins which are relevant in immune recognition 
 
Minimal residual disease 
The stage of a tumour in which only very few isolated tumour cells are present in the patient’s body following surgical 
removal of the primary tumour or chemotherapy or radiotherapy. 
 
Monoclonal antibody 
Antibodies which are produced from a single cell line and can be traced back to an individual B lymphocyte. 
 
Monocyte 
Belongs to the class of white blood cells and has an important function in the human immune system 

N 

NK (natural killer) cell 
Cells of the immune system which identify and destroy cancer cells and virally infected cells 

O 

Oncology 
Science of tumours and tumour-related diseases 
 
Orphan drug 
Pharmaceutical drugs that are developed specifically to treat a rare medical condition 
 
Orphan drug designation 
Drugs developed for the treatment of rare diseases may obtain orphan drug designation from the European Commis-
sion or the FDA, allowing benefits in development, approval procedures, and possibly even the commercialisation of 
the product. 

P 

Paclitaxel 
Drug in the treatment of e.g. breast cancer. Paclitaxel prevents cancer cells from dividing 
 
Primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC) 
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Chronic liver disease that initially affects the bile ducts. The bile ducts are progressively destroyed by inflammatory 
processes, causing biliary stasis and build-up of bile in the liver. Liver tissue is destroyed and replaced by connective 
tissue, liver cirrhosis develops. 
 
Pancreatic cancer 
Malignant tumour of the pancreas 
 
 
PCT 
Patent Cooperation Treaty 
International agreement under which a patent application may be filed for currently 146 countries worldwide. For the 
issue of a patent, this application has to be transferred to a national application at a later date. 
 
Peptide 
A peptide (short protein) consists of amino acids linked together 
  
Pharmaceutics 
Science that deals with the composition, effect, development, testing, production, and dispensing of drugs 
 
Pipeline 
All of the drug candidates that are under development 
 
Preclinical 
Stages of development of an active substance prior to testing in humans 
 
Proof of concept 
Evidence of the fundamental feasibility of a plan 
 
Proof of priniciple 
Evidence on the feasibility at an early stage of drug development 
 
Prophylactic vaccine 
Administered to prevent a disease, prepares the immune system for the defence against infection  

R 

R & D 
Research and development 

 
Receptor 
Protein molecule which causes binding of different particles that are transported into a cell 
 
Resistance 
Ability of an organism to withstand external influences 
 
Rheumatoid arthritis 
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Inflammatory disease affecting the joints 

T 

T-cells 
T-cells or T lymphocytes belong to a group of white blood cells known as lymphocytes, and play a central role in cell-
mediated immunity 
 
 
T-cell activation 
Pivotal step in the onset of inflammatory processes 
 
T-cell receptor (TCR) 
Receptor by which T-cells recognise antigens bound to other cells of the body 
 
 
TecDAX 
Index of the German Stock Exchange listing the thirty major technology equities with respect to market capitalisation 
and order book turnover 
 
Technology platform 
Technology which is the basis for the development of different drug candidates 
 
Therapeutic vaccine 
Stimulates the immune system against acute infection or an existing tumour 
 
Triple negative breast cancer 
Malignant breast tumours that display neither oestrogen/gestagen nor HER2 receptors on the cell surface are termed 
“triple negative” 

V 

Vaccines 
Inoculants 
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR 

27 March 2014 
Annual Report 2014 
Press and Analyst conference call 
 
15 May 2014 
3-Month Report 2014 
Press and Analyst conference call 
 
07 August 2014 
6-Month Report 2014 
Press and Analyst conference call 
 
13 November 2014 
9-Month Report 2014 
Press and Analyst conference call 
 
 
 

TRADEMARKS 
 
 
Eligard® 
is a trademark of Tolmar Therapeutics, Inc. 
 
EndoTAG® 
is a trademark of Medigene AG 
 
Medigene® 
is a trademark of Medigene AG 
 
Polyphenon E® 
is a trademark of Mitsui Norin Co. Ltd. 
 
RhuDex® 
is a trademark of Medigene AG 
 
Veregen® 
is a trademark of Medigene AG 
 
These trademarks may be held or licensed for specific countries. 
  



144 FINANCIAL CALENDAR/ TRADEMARKS/ IMPRINT 

IMPRESSUM 

Published by 

Medigene AG 
Lochhamer Str. 11 
82152 Planegg/Martinsried 
T +49-89-200033-0 
F +49-89-200033-2920 
 
Contact 
Public & Investor Relations 
Julia Hofmann, Claudia Burmester 
T +49-89-200033-3301 
investor@medigene.com 
 
Concept and text 
Medigene AG, Planegg/Martinsried 
 
Concept, design and realization 
Kirchhoff Consult AG, Hamburg 
 
Photographs 
Matthias Tunger, Munich 
iStockphoto, Gettyimages,  Pixeden 
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Viaprinto, CEWE Stiftung & Co. KGaA 
 
Disclaimer 
This annual report contains forward-looking statements that are based on certain 
assumptions and expectations made by the management of Medigene AG at the time of 
its publication. These forward-looking statements are therefore subject to unpredictable 
risks and uncertainties, so there is no guarantee that these assumptions and expectations 
will turn out to be accurate. Many of those risks and uncertainties are determined 
by factors that are beyond the control of Medigene AG and cannot be gauged with 
any certainty at this point in time. This includes future market conditions and economic 
developments, the behavior of other market participants, the achievement of targeted 
synergy effects as well as legal and political decisions. Medigene AG cannot preclude 
that actual results may differ substantially from those expectations expressed in or 
implied by the forward-looking statements. Medigene AG does not intend or assume any 
obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances 
after the date of this annual report.  
The English version of the annual report is a translation of the original German version; 
in the event of variances, the German version shall take precedence over the English 
translation. 
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